Commissioned by Ministry of Justice

Victims of crime in the adult criminal justice system:

A stocktake of the literature

by Dr Elaine Mossman

October 2012

Contents

Exec	utive	summa	ry	i				
	Struct	ure of the	e report	. vi				
Part	one: I	ntroduc	tion	. 1				
1	Background							
	1.1	Historical context						
	1.2		n of a crime victim					
		1.2.1	New Zealand's definition					
2	Appr	oach to	reviewing the literature					
_	2.1							
	2.2		ins of evidence base					
	2.2	221	Inherent difficulties of researching effectiveness					
	2.3		of information					
	2.4		f the literature review					
Part			xt to crime victimisation					
3			me on victims					
	3.1		nce of victimisation in New Zealand					
	3.2		uences of crime					
		3.2.1	Health impacts					
		3.2.2	Impacts on quality of life					
		3.2.3	Financial impact					
	3.3	Consequences of criminal justice system involvement						
	3.4	Stocktake summary						
4	Factors influencing nature and extent of victimisation							
	4.1	Type of	crime	21				
		4.1.1	Homicide	22				
		4.1.2	Sexual violence	25				
		4.1.3	Family violence	27				
	4.2	Individual characteristics affecting victimisation		29				
		4.2.1	Groups experiencing higher rates of victimisation	29				
		4.2.2	Groups experiencing more severe impacts	30				
	4.3	Vulnerable groups with specialist support needs						
	4.4	Cultural	considerations	32				
		4.4.1	Māori victims of crime	33				
		4.4.2	Pacific peoples	34				
		4.4.3	Asian New Zealanders	35				
	4.5	Stocktak	ke summary	37				

5	State responses – victims' rights and standards of care			38			
	5.1	Victims' rights		38			
		5.1.1	Moral or legal rights?	40			
		5.1.2	Amendments to the UN Declaration	40			
		5.1.3	Approaches to victims' rights in different jurisdictions	41			
	5.2	Implementing victims' rights reform					
	5.3	Dedicated Crime Victims Centres4					
	5.4	ke summary	45				
Part	three	: Good _I	practice service and support responses	46			
6	Introduction to good practice responses						
	6.1	Understanding what constitutes 'good practice'					
		6.1.1	What are the outcomes against which good practice is evaluated?	47			
		6.1.2	Who assumes the authority to define good practice?	48			
		6.1.3	What criteria should be used to judge good practice?	48			
	6.2	Types a	nd timing of support and services	49			
		6.2.1	Accessibility of services	51			
		6.2.2	Screening and assessment – identifying those most in need of				
		interven	tion	52			
	6.3	Stocktake summary					
7	Supp	Support from community-based victim service providers					
	7.1	Good practice responses from victim service providers					
	7.2	Effectiveness studies – clinical outcomes					
	7.3	Evaluations assessing other types of outcomes5					
	7.4	Research on victim satisfaction					
	7.5	Selection of appropriate outcome measures					
	7.6	Stocktake summary6					
8	Mental health professionals						
	8.1	Immedia	ate or crisis treatment (within hours)	63			
	8.2	Short-term interventions (within days, weeks)					
	8.3	Longer-term interventions					
	8.4	Stocktake summary6					
9	Criminal justice system responses						
	9.1	Effective	e police responses	69			
		9.1.1	Victims' perceptions of good police responses	70			
		9.1.2	Impact of police responses on future engagement	72			
		9.1.3	Improving police responses	73			
	9.2	Supporting victims through the court process		75			
		9.2.1	Providing court support for victims/witnesses	77			
		9.2.2	Communication with prosecutors	79			

		9.2.3	Court facilities	80					
	9.3	Support	ing victims with participation in decision making	80					
		9.3.1	Sentencing	81					
		9.3.2	Post sentence – parole decisions	83					
	9.4	Stocktal	ke summary	85					
10	Integ	grated responses							
		10.1	Specialist integrated responses to family violence risk assessment	88					
		10.2	Independent advisors (IDVAs and ISVAs)	89					
		10.3	Specialised integrated responses to sexual violence	89					
		10.4	One-stop shops	90					
		10.5	Multiservice centres	90					
		10.6	Dedicated victim centres	91					
		10.7	Stocktake summary	91					
Part	four:	Key find	dings	. 92					
11	Summary and implications								
	11.1	Guiding principles for providing effective service and support to victims of crime.							
	11.2	Gaps in	knowledge	97					
Refe	rence	s		100					
Арр	Appendices114								
	Appendix A: Examples of approaches to victims' rights in different jurisdictions11								
	Appendix B: Examples of dedicated victim centres								
	Appendix C: Summary of victims' services provided by government agencies1								

Executive summary

The Ministry of Justice has been engaged in a work programme aimed at improving government agencies' responses to victims of crime, and enhancing victims' rights and roles in the adult criminal and youth justice systems. This has seen the establishment of a centralised Victims Centre, and plans to develop a 'Victims Code' aimed at improved services to victims of crime, and increased accountability of government agencies to victims.

This report responds to a request by the Ministry for a literature review that collates, describes and evaluates the evidence base relating to appropriate responses to victims of crime in the adult criminal justice system. The aim of this literature review is to summarise available evidence that can be used to:

- inform the development of the Victims Code and the Victims Centre's thinking on strategies to further improve victim services
- assist agencies dealing with victims of crime to provide the best support possible
- inform the Ministry's future work and planning, such as by identifying information gaps about optimal responses to victims of certain crimes and certain subgroups of victims.

Challenges in attempting to fully capture and represent the breadth of potentially relevant research are discussed at the outset of this review. Whilst an exhaustive review of all aspects was not possible, this report has brought together key research findings, particularly from the New Zealand context. Due to the breadth, some areas of interest have been excluded. This review has not included a review of the restorative justice literature, as this has been covered by the Ministry of Justice in a number of publications.¹ The experience of victims of crimes committed by children and young people was also excluded. The youth justice system operates differently from the adult criminal justice system and has a significant body of evidence in its own right.

It is hoped that this review will be a useful resource for those requiring an overview of key issues or those looking for a starting point to further explore issues.

Key findings are listed below.

Impacts of crime, and criminal justice involvement, on victims

- The consequences of crime victimisation are well documented and can be severe; they include physical injuries, psychological trauma and negative mental health outcomes, adverse effects on quality of life, and financial losses.
- Subsequent involvement in the criminal justice system can result in both positive effects (eg, restitution, reparation, cathartic effects from the public

¹ See: http://www.justice.govt.nz/policy/criminal-justice/restorative-justice/restorative-justice-research

acknowledgement and validation of a victim's experience, and seeing the offender held to account) and negative impacts (eg, secondary victimisation).

 Crime is experienced differently, influenced by the type of crime, and personal characteristics of the victim. However, victims of the same type of crime can also exhibit very different reactions to that crime, while victims of different crimes can have similar reactions. This points to the importance of conducting accurate and sensitive needs assessments, to ensure specific needs are identified, and appropriate responses coordinated.

Factors influencing victimisation

Victimisation is not evenly distributed, with specific groups being at increased risk
of experiencing crime. Inherent disadvantage, rather than individual risk factors
(such as being Māori or a sole parent), underlies heightened risk, and it is this
that should be the focus of crime prevention and victim initiatives.

State responses - victims' rights and standards of care

- Victims' rights instruments have been developed and implemented in some jurisdictions around the world. They are variously referred to as Victims' Rights Acts, Charters, Codes of Practice, Protocols or Guidelines. These constitute the main state response aimed at protecting victims' rights and achieving adequate standards of care.
- Victims' rights provisions accommodated in New Zealand's legislation are consistent with international best practice, with further reforms being proposed. However, such rights tend not to be legally enforceable; currently there is little or no means of evaluating how well provisions are being implemented, and the systems for complaint tend to be inadequate. The new Victims Code, currently under development, may go some way towards addressing this issue.
- Codes of practice can be overly detailed and thus inaccessible to victims something that appears evident in the England and Wales code. Countries such as South Africa, however, have succeeded in producing simple and accessible codes, backed by comprehensive guidelines and mechanisms for demonstrating compliance and accountability.
- Dedicated victims centres can have an important role in coordinating the frequently overlapping roles and responsibilities of diverse agencies and services.
- A challenge is in ensuring victims have sufficient choice so they can select the services and support most appropriate to their needs, whilst also limiting the duplication of services and resources, thus ensuring victims don't 'fall through the cracks'.

Good practice responses for formal services

 Accessibility is a critical issue: victims must be aware of what services are available, and the services offered must be acceptable to victims (eg, culturally appropriate). Automatic referral systems such as employed by New Zealand Police increase support service uptake. • Effective screening and assessment ensures the right services get to the right people, which is of particular importance for mental health services, and criminal justice support.

Victim service providers

- Community-based providers can usefully offer a range of support services to victims, including 24 hour helplines, crisis support, practical assistance, support accessing financial resources, information provision, referral to other services, emotional support, and court support.
- An association exists between contact with victim service providers and increased participation in, and satisfaction with, the criminal justice system. Contact with providers also promotes use of safe behaviours, and engagement with other community resources.
- Victim satisfaction with support services is often high. However, the effectiveness of these services is yet to be demonstrated, especially in relation to promoting positive mental health outcomes (this excludes the impact of counselling interventions which is reviewed separately).
- More research is needed to understand if programmes are indeed ineffective or whether in fact research is not focusing on the right outcomes.

Mental health services

- Emotional trauma following criminal victimisation can manifest itself in diverse mental health conditions (eg, Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, depression, anxiety disorders, substance abuse, suicidal ideation and attempts, complicated or traumatic grief). Current research knowledge is largely limited to prevention and treatment of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD).
- There is empirical evidence of the effectiveness of certain treatment approaches to reducing PTSD symptoms in the short and longer term. However, other approaches perhaps more commonly used in community settings have not been researched. Also lacking is an understanding of what is an effective crisis response.

Criminal justice system responses

Police

- Currently a third of victims choose to report their crime to police and, of these cases, around only a third again result in an arrest, prosecution and/or conviction. The integrity of the criminal justice system is reliant on victims reporting crime, providing evidence, and acting as witnesses. Promoting victim and witness satisfaction with their experience is important to ensuring that victims and the wider public have confidence to participate in the criminal justice system.
- Police provide the main entry point into the criminal justice system, and their response tends to be the most salient post-crime experience of victims.
- Timely and accurate information, and appropriate interest and respect, are important to victims' satisfaction with police responses.
- Research suggests that police responses to victims are improved through victimorientated training programmes, specialist training in victim needs relating to

certain types of crime (eg, victims of sexual violence), also important are dedicated victim units and/or liaison officers, and efficient referral mechanisms to community-based victim services.

 New Zealand Police are currently trialling a promising and innovative approach to identifying high-risk repeat victims.

Prosecution

 Meeting with a prosecutor prior to a trial can ensure that victims feel more involved in the criminal justice process, and better prepared. Witness preparation programmes can reduce stress and anxiety, and give witnesses more confidence to present their evidence.

Courts

- One of the challenges to supporting victims during the court process is managing their expectations of the adversarial system of justice and providing an understanding of their role within this system. Providing a single point of contact for victims/witnesses attending court can assist them in navigating the court and the range of services and support available. There is some debate around how this support is best delivered and by whom.
- The experience of attending court is potentially stressful, but stress can be reduced by altering the physical environment to better manage encounters with the accused and their supporters.
- Victims can participate through having their views heard prior to bail decisions, presenting a victim impact statement at sentencing, and submissions to the Parole Board when an offender is being considered for release. These are important means of victims participating in the criminal justice system and having their views heard. However, while the intention of these options is to empower victims, if not managed carefully such experiences have potential to create feelings of disempowerment.

Integrated responses

- Victims of crime can find it confusing and frustrating having to deal with multiple agencies to obtain information about the criminal justice system, their rights, and how to access services. This experience can be reduced by integrated provision of services. There are a number of models of effective integration.
- Promising results have been found for victims of domestic violence when an integrated, multiagency response is provided (eg, New Zealand's Family Violence Interagency Response System and the United Kingdom (UK) Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences).
- Specialised integrated support centres are also considered good practice for victims of sexual violence (eg, sexual assault referral centres). The end-to-end specialist support provided by UK independent advisers also appears promising. 'One-stop-shop' or multiservice centres offer advantages for victim support; these are currently being trialled in New Zealand.

Guiding principles for providing effective service and support to victims of crime

A key aim of this report was to provide information on how best to arrange services and support for victims of crime. In reviewing the extensive range of research, a number of guiding principles emerge as important in delivering effective formal support and services to victims. These principles are applicable to all agencies – government and non-government – that work to support victims of crime. Principles include:

- respectful and confidential treatment
- individualised response and flexible services
- providing services and justice that is accessible
- provision of 'right information at the right time', and in the right format
- experienced, knowledgeable, well-trained and empathetic service delivery staff
- consistency in quality of services and support
- integrated service provision
- end-to-end individualised support
- accountable services.

Gaps in knowledge

A final goal of this review was, through a stocktake of research on crime victimisation, to identify information gaps, and thereby guide future work and planning of the Ministry of Justice. Areas listed below are those that may warrant further consideration and attention:

- empirically based research on the effectiveness of support programmes for victims
- assessment of service provision for victims of crime, evaluating gaps and overlaps in service provision
- understanding how to identify and respond to 'hard-to-reach' victims in socially and economically deprived areas
- understanding support and justice needs of different groups of victims (eg, Māori, Pacific peoples, Asian, young victims, older victims and those with disabilities)
- increasing knowledge on the support needs of groups that are excluded from current research (eg, New Zealand Crime and Safety Survey (NZCASS) not capturing the experiences of those under 15 years old, those bereaved by homicide, the homeless, those living in boarding houses) and those not included within current definitions of 'crime victim' (eg, businesses and organisations)
- the needs of property offence victims: little attention has been given to this group despite the high prevalence of this type of crime and relatively high levels of selfreported impact
- dedicated analysis of victim experiences and needs from the 2009 NZCASS sample
- crime victims' awareness of their rights, their ability to exercise these rights, and service providers' awareness of victims' rights

- more detailed analysis of the experience of victims who participate in wider criminal justice system processes and, in particular, the experiences of victims who participate in the parole process
- more detailed investigation of effectiveness in relation to crisis responses, screening and needs assessments, training programmes, and complaints systems.

Conclusion

In comparison with other countries, it is evident that New Zealand has made positive progress towards recognising, respecting, and responding to the rights and needs of victims. Existing provisions are consistent with international best practice, with further reforms and improvements currently underway. It appears that the greatest gains now will derive from ensuring these provisions are fully implemented as designed and intended. Monitoring compliance of those responsible for delivering support and services is a crucial next step. The new dedicated Victims Centre is well placed to assist in this undertaking.

Equally important will be increasing public awareness and ensuring victims are aware of, and take advantage of, their rights to support and justice. A pressing need is in determining how best to get support services to those most in need; some of the more vulnerable victims are also those most 'hard-to-reach'. In the current climate, where resources are scarce, introduction of routine screening and needs assessments may help get the right services to the right people.

NZCASS has provided critical and essential information on the nature and extent of victimisation; future surveys will be essential to build on what is currently known.

The type of research that emerged as most sorely lacking was well designed studies of the *effectiveness* of victim support services. While it is acknowledged that outcomes research in this field is fraught with difficulty, perhaps lessons can be learned from other fields, such as health, in which this type of research has successfully been carried out (eg, on the effectiveness of trauma counselling in accident and emergency departments). Also useful may be the approach adopted in South Australia and elsewhere, of defining and evaluating 'quality aspects' of services, as well as outcomes achieved. Cross-sectional longitudinal research has also proved valuable in isolating factors associated with positive life outcomes and could be explored as a useful way forward. Addressing this gap and others listed above will ensure New Zealand retains its reputation for leading the way in responding to the needs of victims of crime.

Structure of the report

Part one: Introduction

The **first chapter** of this report introduces the aims of the review before presenting a historical context to victims' rights and interests. This provides a useful timeline that leads us up to this current project, whilst also giving an insight into the nature of research in this area.

The **second chapter** lays out the approach to reviewing the literature, highlighting two key challenges: (i) the sheer breadth of potentially relevant published material; and (ii) the dearth of sound empirical research on effectiveness of different approaches to supporting victims of crime.

This chapter ends with clarification of the parameters of the review.

Part two: A context to crime victimisation

Chapter three reviews the impact of crime on victims including the overall prevalence of crime victimisation, the physical, mental, financial and social impacts, and consequences from involvement in the criminal justice system. Information on the *prevalence* of victimisation gives an indication of the required scale and targeting of resources and services, whilst research on the *impact* of victimisation highlights victims' needs to which support services must respond.

Chapter four reviews factors that can influence an individual's risk of exposure to victimisation, and the severity of their reactions to it. It also considers particular characteristics and needs of different cultural groups.

Chapter five examines state responses in New Zealand and in other jurisdictions, aimed at protecting victims' rights and personal welfare, and supporting them in their healing and recovery. This includes the development of legislation and other codes, charters, guidelines and protocols, as well as the use of centralised and dedicated centres.

Part three: Good practice service and support responses

Chapter six begins with a review of what constitutes good practice in service or type of support. It then gives a brief sketch of the types and timing of support services available in New Zealand. Two issues critical to the effectiveness of service delivery are: (i) the accessibility of services, and (ii) the use of screening and assessments to identify needs, and to appropriately target services.

Chapter seven reviews the available research on the effectiveness of responses delivered by community-based victims' service providers (research on counselling interventions is dealt with in chapter eight).

Chapter eight presents literature on approaches to responding to the emotional trauma that can result following a crime. It notes that research has tended to focus on treatment and prevention of PTSD, but that much less is known about the range of other mental health impacts known to be common to crime victims.

Chapter nine reviews research on good practice in police responses, support to victims during court appearances, and their participation in decision making. It traverses what is known about how victims (including those who are witnesses) should be supported through their criminal justice experiences, and strategies to mitigate the most stressful aspects.² It notes the lack of research on how best to promote victim healing and recovery.

²

The bracketing of these two terms acknowledges that some victims are required to take the stand as a witness during the prosecution of an offender, while others are not. Support needs for both can be similar, but there are often special support needs for those who give evidence.

Chapter ten briefly reviews promising approaches to delivering specialist integrated responses to victims of crime.

Part four: Key findings

Chapter eleven summarises some of the key findings and implications that have emerged from the review. It concludes with a summary of overriding principles of good service delivery, and identified gaps in knowledge.

Part one: Introduction

1 Background

Key points

- A growing commitment to the rights and needs of victims of crime has been slowly building over the last few decades, both here in New Zealand and overseas.
- The most significant milestone internationally has been the United Nations Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power, 1985. Many governments around the world have since adopted its principles into national legislation frameworks.
- The feminist movement of the 1970s achieved important gains in promoting support and funding for services, in response to violence against women and children. This area has been a major focus of research.
- Definitions of who is a crime victim can vary. Importantly, such definitions can determine who has rights and eligibility for services.

This report responds to a request by the Ministry of Justice to conduct a literature review that collates, evaluates and describes the evidence base relating to appropriate responses to victims of adult crime.

The Ministry has been engaged in a work programme aimed at improving government agencies' responses to victims of crime and enhancing victims' rights and involvement in the criminal justice system. This has included extensive consultation and review around the rights of victims of crime (*A Focus on Victims of Crime: A Review of Victims' Rights, Ministry of Justice, 2009)* and, subsequently, the development of a series of proposals to address issues identified (New Zealand Government Cabinet paper, *Enhancing Victims' Rights Review,* [CBC (11) 4/1]). One of the proposals was to establish a centralised Victims Centre within the Ministry of Justice, to provide oversight of victims' rights, information and services across government agencies. The Victims Centre came into existence in July 2011.

The culmination of the consultation and review work was the introduction of the *Victims of Crime Reform Bill* (the Bill) in August 2011. The Bill will amend the *Victims' Rights Act 2002* and related legislation. Amendments will expand victims' rights, and require new processes to be established by agencies.³ The Bill requires the Ministry of Justice to prepare a 'Victims Code', with a key aim to improve services and information available to victims of crime, and increase accountability of government

³

The commencement of the Bill will be delayed until six months after Royal Assent so that agencies can establish the new processes.

agencies to victims. The initial focus of the Victims Centre is the development of this code.

The aim of this literature review is to summarise available evidence that can be used to:

- inform the development of the Victims Code and the Victims Centre's thinking on what is needed to support improvements in victim services
- assist agencies dealing with victims of adult crime to provide the best support possible
- inform future work and planning of the Ministry of Justice (eg, by identifying information gaps about the best response to victims of certain crimes, or certain subgroups of victims that need to be addressed).⁴

1.1 Historical context

A review of the historical context to victims' rights and interests provides a useful timeline that leads us up to this current project, as well as providing insights into the nature of research in this area.

Historically, crime victims' perspectives have not been well represented in criminal justice policy and research, which has largely focused on the perpetrators of crime (Justice and Electoral Committee, 2007). However, the recent work by the Ministry of Justice reflects a growing commitment to the rights and needs of victims of crime, a trend that has been slowly building over the last few decades both here in New Zealand and overseas (Booth and Carrington, 2007; Law Commission, 2008; Mawby, 2007). Whilst the development of victimology as a discipline can be traced back to 1948 (Williams, 2009), perhaps the first significant milestone for victims' rights occurred in 1963, when New Zealand pioneered the first state-funded scheme to compensate crime victims for personal injury (*Criminal Compensation Act 1963*).

Important gains for victims were also made from within the social movements of the 1970s (Booth and Carrington, 2007; Waller, 2003). The feminist movements fought for the establishment of rape crisis centres and women's refuges.⁵ In New Zealand the first women's refuge was set up in Christchurch in 1973, and in the same year the first rape crisis helpline was established.⁶ A rape crisis centre was later established, in Auckland, in 1978. This early work overseas and in New Zealand has resulted in a particular attention to the needs of victims of sexual and family violence, which in turn has become the main focus of researchers also.

⁴ The focus of this review is on responses to victims in the adult criminal justice system.

⁵ In New Zealand specialist sexual violence support services are delivered by a variety of community groups including rape crisis centres, HELP Foundation Sexual Abuse Centres, and other independent rape and/or sexual assault centres. In this report they are generically referred to as Specialist Sexual Violence Support Services (SSVSS).

⁶ There is now a National Collective of Independent Women's Refuges that acts as an umbrella organisation for around 50 refuges across New Zealand. There are also refuges, not affiliated with National Collective funded by government, church and community groups.

A major contribution from the feminist movement was creating the environment within which women could more freely discuss the realities of their private lives, bringing an increased awareness of the high prevalence of physical and sexual abuse perpetrated within the home (Gavey, 2005).

According to Waller (2003) the 1970s was also the era in which criminologists and criminal justice professionals first began to examine criminal justice responses to violence, and in particular to explore alternatives to perpetrators' incarceration. This led to the promotion of restitution as a way both to hold offenders accountable but also to meet victim needs. Victim–offender mediation, also known as restorative justice, came to be regarded as an appropriate way to address interests of both victims and offenders. The 1970s also saw improved support for victims in the criminal justice system, as a means to promote the willingness of victims to appear in court as witnesses. Finally, that decade also saw the first criminal victimisation surveys being held, which provided a significant step forward accurately quantifying the extent of victimisation nationally (the first New Zealand victim survey was carried out in 1996). Victimisation surveys are now a critical source of data for policy makers.

Internationally, the 1980s was perhaps the most significant period of advancement for victims. In 1982, the recently founded World Society of Victimology began discussions with the United Nations which subsequently led to the United Nations General Assembly resolving to adopt and implement the Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power (1985). This document has been described as the "Magna Carta of victim rights" (Groenhuijsen, 2009). The declaration fully recognised the harm done to victims of crime, and urged the development of victims' rights legislation, laying out the appropriate treatment and assistance victims of crime should expect. It also proposed minimum standards for assisting victims to access justice, be treated fairly, obtain restitution or compensation, and assistance in healing and recovery. New Zealand was a co-sponsor of the declaration, and many governments around the world have since adopted these principles into their national legislation frameworks.

In the years since adoption of the declaration, victim advocates here have continued to push for action from the New Zealand government on victims' rights. Achievements since include court-ordered reparation for victims, introduced as a sentence as part of the *Criminal Justice Act 1985*. The following year the first independent Victim Support Group was set up in Gisborne.⁷ In 1987 the first victims' rights legislation was created, the *Victims of Offences Act 1987*. This gave victims, for the first time, rights to health, welfare services and legal advice. It formalised a participatory role of victims in the justice system, with provision for judges to receive victim impact statements at sentencing. Victims were also allowed to have input into bail decisions for certain offences, and to be notified if an imprisoned offender had escaped or been released (Law Commission, 2008). *The Domestic Violence Act 1995* also constituted a significant milestone in providing greater protection for victims of domestic violence.

7

There is now a New Zealand Council of Victim Support Groups Inc, that co-ordinates over 1000 volunteer staff and 130 paid staff in offices in over 70 locations around New Zealand. For the purposes of this report the organisation is referred to as Victim Support NZ.

Victims' rights were substantially strengthened with the enactment of the current *Victims' Rights Act 2002.* This was accompanied by a series of other legislative changes aimed at improving the rights and treatment of victims and ensuring victims' views are heard throughout the trial process. The Act also gives formal recognition to restorative justice processes (eg, *Sentencing Act 2002, Parole Act 2002, Corrections Act 2004, Prisoners' and Victims' Claims Act 2005* and amendments to the *Bail Act 2000* and the *Summary Proceedings Act 1957*) (Law Commission, 2008). In 2007, the non-statutory Victims' Charter was developed that set out guidelines on standards of service victims should expect from government agencies. More recently, in 2009 a \$50 levy was introduced, imposed on all offenders as a contribution towards costs of support services to victims of crime.

Finally, with the introduction of the *Victims' of Crime Reform Bill 2011* victims' rights will be expanded through amendments to the *Victims' Rights Act 2002* and also expressed in the Victims Code. The Code will build on the 2007 Charter, and formally legislate for the types of services, treatment, and information that government agencies will be required to deliver to victims.⁸

1.2 Definition of a crime victim

Defining who is a crime victim is more difficult than one might expect. Such definitions are important because they directly influence who should be accorded rights as a victim, including eligibility for services (Trulson, 2005).

The first consideration is whether the definition should relate only to the *primary victim* (those who suffered directly as a result of a crime) or whether it extends to *secondary victims* also (those who are witnesses to a crime, family members, friends, neighbours, even whole communities, who may also suffer trauma). In some cases, organisations and businesses have been included under the definition of a victim of crime (as in the UK Code of Practice for Victims of Crime).

The *type of crime* can also impact on a victims' eligibility for specific rights or services. While some rights and services are available to all offences recognised in a country's criminal code, many jurisdictions chose to extend rights and entitlements only to those who suffer certain types of crimes (Trulson, 2005; Williams and Goodman, 2007). For example here in New Zealand only victims of violent and sexual crimes, and where there are ongoing fears for the victim's safety, can give their views on releasing an offender on bail or participate in the process for an offender's release from prison.

The United Nations Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power, 1985, promotes a broad definition of victims, referring to persons who:

... individually or collectively, have suffered harm, including physical or mental injury, emotional suffering, economic loss or substantial impairment of their

8

It is important to note that, while the existence and expansion of victims' rights legislation carries symbolic significance, the principles outlined are not legally binding on agencies, and are subject to inconsistent implementation.

fundamental rights, through acts or omissions that are in violation of criminal laws operative within member states, including those laws proscribing criminal abuse of power.

This definition applies regardless of whether there has been a criminal conviction, and extends also to secondary victims. It encompasses victims of international crimes such as war, and broader human rights violations.

1.2.1 New Zealand's definition

The New Zealand *Victims' Rights Act 2002* uses a similar definition to the United Nations encompassing both primary and secondary victims. Those defined as victims include:

- a person who has suffered harm (ie, physical injury, mental trauma, or loss of, or damage to, property) from an offence committed or alleged to have been committed by another person. Also (i) the parents or legal guardians of child victims (0–17 years) and (ii) close family and whānau members of a person who died or was made incapable from an offence (this provision does not apply in cases where the parent, guardian or close family member is charged with the commission of the offence)
- sections 7 and 8 (relating to treatment and access to services) specify a victim as any person who has suffered emotional harm as a result of an offence, and can include witnesses or those reporting an offence who have suffered such harm.

Special recognition is given to victims of certain offences, who are provided with additional rights within the criminal justice syste[m in sections 30 to 48. These additional rights relate to victims where the offence was sexual violation or serious assault; resulted in serious injury or death or incapacitation of someone in the immediate family; or where the offence led to ongoing and reasonable fears for safety or security for the victim or anyone in their immediate family.

2 Approach to reviewing the literature

Key points

- The breadth of potentially relevant published material is extensive, consisting of a number of discrete areas of literature.
- Despite the vast accumulation of research publications, there is very little
 rigorous empirical evidence on effectiveness in practice with victims; research
 has focused more on topics such as those most at risk of victimisation, whether
 risk is increasing or decreasing over time, barriers to engaging in the criminal
 justice system and the experiences of those victims who do.
- The lack of research on outcomes for different victim services and interventions reflects extensive ethical and logistical difficulties inherent to research in this area.

In the planning stages of this literature review, two challenges became evident: (i) the substantial breadth of potentially relevant published material, and conversely (ii) the dearth of sound empirical research on effectiveness of different approaches to supporting victims of crime.

2.1 Challenges to capturing the breadth of research

Academics have previously noted the "very large and diverse literatures and disciplinary perspectives" in research on victimisation and its consequences (Lauritsen and Archakova, 2008, p.92). A review of journals by these authors found in the United States alone no less than 135 journals that regularly published articles on victimisation. These mostly fell within the disciplines of criminology, sociology and psychology, but also social work, medical and public health, specialist violence publications, and journals centred on population groups such as children, youth, the elderly, women, and sexual orientation subpopulations. The above authors noted that the range of sources make it challenging, if not impossible, to keep up to date with new findings and insights. This issue is exacerbated by the fact that, despite the interconnectedness of the research, disciplines seldom explore issues outside their own particular areas of focus (Lauritsen and Archakova, 2008).

While much of the literature has potential relevance for the development of the Victims Code and work of the Victims Centre, it was beyond the scope of the current review (given a limited timeframe) to comprehensively review all relevant areas of published literature. Instead, a 'stocktake' of relevant research is presented, summarising high-level findings and describing the current focus and level of evidence available across the different areas.

2.2 Limitations of evidence base

As noted, despite the vast accumulation of research publications, there is very little rigorous empirical evidence on effective practice with victims. A scan of websites dedicated to identifying criminal justice practices of proven effectiveness, and using rigorous methods such as randomised control trials, revealed only a single *proposal* to "complete a systematic review of victim assistance programmes" – a project that appears never to have been completed (Marandos and Perry, 2002).⁹

This unsatisfactory state of affairs was recently noted in a review by the Victorian Auditor General's Office, which concluded that:

...there is neither sufficient nor reliable information on whether victims' services are helping victims recover from, or more effectively manage, the effects of crime. (Victoria Auditor General, 2009, p. ix)

It is interesting that this situation stands in stark contrast to offender assessment and rehabilitation, which is supported by a well-developed evidential base (Lauritsen and Archakova, 2008; Payne, 2009; Victoria Auditor General, 2009).

Instead, research attention has been directed mainly to understanding who is most at risk of victimisation, whether risk is increasing or decreasing over time, barriers to engaging in the criminal justice system, and the experiences of those who do (Lauritsen and Archakova, 2008).

2.2.1 Inherent difficulties of researching effectiveness

The problems in building a solid empirical base on what works in responding to victims of crime have been explained by reference to inherent difficulties in carrying out research with this population (See Dunn, 2007; Howard et al, 2010; Lauritsen and Archakova, 2008; Sullivan, 2011; Victoria Auditor General, 2009). These include:

- difficulties in *defining* the desired outcomes for a victim (eg, successful prosecution of an offender, no further victimisations, adequate compensation, recovery from emotional trauma)
- difficulties in *measuring* victim outcomes (particularly with respect to 'recovery' from the effects of crime); evaluations relying on victim self-report measures can be confounded by respondents' varying abilities to accurately articulate current coping and progress towards recovery; victims may underestimate the extent they have been affected – which may itself be a coping mechanism – while others may have delayed reactions)
- the great range of *individual experiences of and reactions* to crime, which can vary according to type of crime, pre-existing personality characteristics, relationship to offenders and general circumstances

⁹

Websites included the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (OJJDP) evidence-based programme library <u>http://www.crimesolutions.gov/about_otherlibraries.aspx</u> and the Campbell Collaboration Crime and Justice Coordinating Group (CJCG).

- practical and ethical difficulties in carrying out effectiveness research with victims of crime:
 - ethical concerns in assigning traumatised individuals to a no-treatment condition for research using an experimental design
 - recruiting sufficient number of victims to achieve a statistically valid sample size is not always possible
 - victims may resist becoming involved in research at such a difficult point in their lives
 - risks that participation in research activities does in fact retraumatise victims.

All of these issues mean that the research included in the current review is mainly descriptive, rather than empirical evidence of service effectiveness. While priority has been given to methodologically sound research, other published material is also reviewed, with due acknowledgement of limitations. <u>Section 6.1</u> provides further discussion on evidence quality and how this relates to designations of 'good practice' responses.

Innovative practice

Throughout the report examples of 'innovative practice' are highlighted in boxes. These are practices that have not been proven to be effective, but appear promising solutions to meeting victims' needs.

2.3 Sources of information

Material covered by this review comes from several different types of source. The list below briefly outlines available sources of both quantitative and qualitative information on New Zealand victims of crime.¹⁰

- National crime victimisation surveys a key source of information on the scale and nature of crime victimisation.¹¹ There have been four such surveys carried out in New Zealand: in 1996, 2001, 2006, and most recently in 2010 (Morrison et al., 2010). These surveys provide data on:
 - the prevalence of victimisation for New Zealand residents aged 15 years or more
 - characteristics of victims who are most at risk
 - reporting practices
 - perceptions of personal safety

¹⁰ Statistics New Zealand has recently reviewed the quality and availability of New Zealand criminal justice statistics, including those related to victims of crime (see Statistics New Zealand, 2009).

¹¹ The British Crime Survey in England and Wales (see Flatley et al, 2010) and the International Crime Victims Survey (Van Dijk et al, 2008) have been internationally significant in shaping policy around the world. For others see Ministry of Justice, 2010a.

- satisfaction with the criminal justice system
- victims' perceived needs arising from their victimisation.¹²

Limited additional data on crime victimisation is available from the General Social Survey (see <u>http://www.stats.govt.nz/nzgss/</u>), which allows analysis of the inter-relationship between victimisation and other social and economic variables.

It should be noted that the available surveys do not include vulnerable groups such as those bereaved by homicide, the homeless, those living in boarding houses, and people under the age of 15.¹³ Surveys do not capture information on longer-term impacts of victimisation (Statistics New Zealand, 2009), and have particular limitations with respect to quantifying repetitive offence types such as family violence (Dunn, 2008). Also missing is victim-related research where crimes occur against businesses, and corporate crime.

Surveys of public confidence and satisfaction with the criminal justice system enable agencies to assess 'consumer' satisfaction, providing important information on confidence and likely future use of services. The Ministry of Justice completes regular surveys of court users (eg, Colmar Brunton, 2010)¹⁴ and New Zealand Police collects information on citizen satisfaction (Gravitas Research and Strategy Ltd, 2011). The State Services Commission also ran the "Kiwis Count" survey in 2009. This is a national survey of New Zealanders' perceptions and experiences of public services as a whole, and includes information on trust and satisfaction with the police, the justice system, and the parole board (State Services Commission, 2010).

These wider surveys may include victims within their samples, but victims' views are not separated out from other types of users to provide information specifically related to victims' satisfaction, trust and confidence in these services.

- Surveys of victim and witness experiences of the criminal justice system this form of survey has not yet been carried out in New Zealand but has been regularly conducted in the UK (eg, Franklyn, 2012) and recently extended to include the views of young people (Criminal Justice Joint Inspection, 2012). These surveys provide detailed information on the levels of satisfaction with different aspects of the criminal justice system, the type of contact they experienced, as well as the provision of information, services and support. Examples elsewhere include The Netherlands (Van Mierlo et al., 2009), and Australia (Victims of Crime Coordinator Victim Support ACT (2008)).
- Evaluations of victim service providers community agencies sometimes carry out their own evaluations, although these are not always published and can

Previously a dedicated analysis has been carried out on victims' experiences and needs (see Mayhew & Reilly, 2008), this has not yet been repeated with the 2009 survey data. The 1996 survey was accompanied by an in-depth and detailed Women's Safety Survey which has not been repeated.

¹³ The Home Office has recently completed a crime survey of 10 to 15 year olds. Information on New Zealand youth is limited to violence victimisation of those attending school, collected through the Youth 2000 project (http://www.youth2000.ac.nz/).

¹⁴ In the 2010 Court Users Survey only 1% of participants were identified as victims.

be difficult to obtain. Dunn (2007) cited findings from an evaluation of the UK's Victim Support Agency. Victim Support NZ has recently completed an evaluation to help them understand the experience and outcomes of those they work with (Gordon, 2011).¹⁵

• Targeted research on victims' experiences – qualitative research with victims of crime seeks to understand their needs and experiences, and provides valuable insights that cannot be obtained from survey type research (Dunn, 2008). Recent local examples include research with families of victims of homicide (Kingi, 2011), victims participating in restorative justice (Ministry of Justice, 2011a), victims of sexual violence (Kingi and Jordan, 2009; Jordan, 1998; 2008), and Pacific peoples who have been victims (Koloto, 2003; Koloto and Sharma, 2005). Earlier research on Māori victims of crime (Cram et al, 1999) has not been repeated more recently.

This brief summary shows there is a range of good information on prevalence and risk of crime victimisation in New Zealand, and qualitative insights into experiences of specific groups of crime victims. However, currently missing is robust information on the experiences of victims whose crimes result in criminal justice system involvement. Finally, as has been noted above, local empirical research on the effectiveness of services to victims is entirely absent.

2.4 Scope of the literature review

The parameters for the current review are as follows:

- where possible, focus on empirical research evidence on effective approaches to responding to victims of crime, in particular what works in supporting victims of crime in their healing and recovery
- pay particular attention to responses to victims of serious offences¹⁶
- · focus is limited to victims involved in the adult criminal justice system
- provide a 'stocktake' of research, describing the current focus and state of research across different subareas, and summarising key findings
- prioritise New Zealand-based research
- emphasise secondary reviews of primary data sources published in peerreviewed journals
- utilise reports and literature produced by government agencies in other countries (particularly UK, USA, Canada and Australia), as well as material produced by agencies endorsed or funded by governments.

Material deemed out of scope includes:

¹⁵ Victim Support NZ commissioned Victoria University's Crime and Justice Research Centre to assist them in the design and analysis of this evaluation. The findings are based on a telephone survey of 246 victims of serious crime or trauma (systematic probability sample).

¹⁶ Also of interest are guiding principles of relevance when supporting Māori, Pacific and Asian victims of crime.

- reports and other material produced by organisations not officially endorsed by government
- resources published in languages other than English
- material published more than 15 years ago.

Areas of literature outside the scope of the current project:

- crime prevention initiatives designed to reduce revictimisation
- · research relating to the youth justice system
- literature on crimes against humanity, war crimes, etc
- addressing financial needs of crime victims (adequately covered in Law Commission review, 2008)
- alternative systems of justice such as inquisitorial system of justice¹⁷ (for a review see Ministry of Women's Affairs, 2009)
- restorative justice processes.¹⁸

Two final limitations are noted:

- by definition, a literature review can cover only written material. There is a question about who determines the types of practices that are evaluated and/or written about in the published literature. There may be other responses (eg, therapeutic approaches) that are endorsed by practitioners and victims of crime, but have not been described or evaluated by knowledge makers
- the majority of published research is written from a Western cultural perspective, much of it carried out with non-New Zealand populations; limitations apply to how well the findings generalise to wider New Zealand culture, and particularly in relation to Māori victims of crime.

¹⁷ The Treaty of Waitangi affirms the right of Māori to culturally identify and live as Māori. The over representation of Māori as victims and perpetrators of crime raises question over the applicability of the current New Zealand justice system to Māori. Recent initiatives to explore alternative approaches include the introduction of marae-based Rangatahi youth courts. Other countries have also adopted indigenous models of justice (eg, Circle sentencing in Canada, and Aboriginal courts in Australia, see Booth & Carrington, 2007 for a review). This is an important area for research consideration that may be more appropriately dealt with using kaupapa Māori research methodologies.

Well facilitated restorative justice is widely recognised as giving greater opportunities for victims to participate, express themselves and be heard with high levels of satisfaction reported (Ministry of Justice (2011a)). However, views are mixed over its applicability in the cases of sexual offending and family violence. There is extensive research on restorative research and coverage of this was beyond the scope of this review. This research can be found at http://www.justice.govt.nz/policy/criminal-justice/restorative-justi

Part two: A context to crime victimisation

Part two of this report reviews research on the impact of crime on victims, the factors that influence the extent and nature of victimisation, and state responses to victims' needs. This part of the report provides important context against which to review available evidence on how best to respond to victims of crime (part three).

3 Impact of crime on victims

Key points

- In New Zealand, around a third of all households experience some form of criminal victimisation in a year. A third of all experienced crimes are reported to police.
- Victimisation was unevenly distributed, with a small proportion of people experiencing the majority of all crime.
- The consequences of crime victimisation can be wide ranging, and variable. Some individuals are minimally affected, while others experience very severe impacts on their lives.
- Consequences range across physical injury, psychological trauma, negative mental health outcomes, adverse effects on quality of life, and financial losses.
- Subsequent involvement in the criminal justice system can produce positive effects (eg, restitution, reparation and cathartic effects from the public acknowledgement and validation of a victim's experience, and being able to hold the offender to account) but also has potential for negative impacts (eg, secondary victimisation).

This chapter reviews the impact of crime on victims, including the overall prevalence of crime victimisation, the physical, mental, financial and social impacts, and consequences from involvement in the criminal justice system. Information on the *prevalence* of victimisation gives us an indication of the required scale and targeting of resources and services, whilst research on the *impact* of victimisation highlights victims' needs that support services must respond to.

3.1 Prevalence of victimisation in New Zealand

As noted in the introduction, there is good evidence on the nature and extent of crime victimisation for New Zealand residents aged 15 or more, and who is most at risk, through administration of the New Zealand Crime and Safety Survey (NZCASS). This survey provides vital information for crime prevention efforts, but also for the planning and development of appropriate service responses to victims of crime.

Key findings from the 2009 survey (Morrison et al, 2010) include the following:

- In 2008, 910,000 household offences and 1,702,000 personal offences occurred, with 28% of households experiencing one or more crime and 16% of individuals experiencing one or more personal offences
- most common household crimes were burglary (37%) and vandalism (24%). Other household offences were vehicle vandalism (15%), thefts from motor vehicles (9%), thefts from dwellings (9%), other household thefts (4%), and thefts of vehicles (2%)
- most common personal crimes were assaults (40%) and threats (31%). Other personal offences were thefts of personal property (10%), sexual offences (8%), vandalism to personal property (8%), robbery (2%) and theft from the person (1%)
- one-third of these crimes were reported to police
- almost half (48%) of the victims reported being 'highly affected' by the incident
- crime victimisation was unevenly distributed with almost two-thirds of people not experiencing any crime, and 6% experiencing 54% of all crime, suggesting high rates of repeat victimisation. (<u>Section 4.3.1</u> looks at those groups at increased risk of victimisation.)

NZCASS excludes information on the prevalence of homicide. The best available data on homicide is from Police data on investigations of all suspicious deaths. In 2009, there were 92 homicide victims, up from 70 homicide victims in 2008 and 65 homicide victims in 2007. Children under the age of 5 years were more highly victimised than children between the ages of 5 and 14 years. Victims between the age of 18 and 29 years were more disproportionately represented.¹⁹

Many of the findings from NZCASS are consistent with international findings (Ministry of Justice, 2010a). A robust comparison of New Zealand's victimisation profile with other countries was made possible by New Zealand's participation in the International Crime Victims Survey (ICVS), although the last survey was in 2004 and so findings should be interpreted with caution. Results in 2004 suggested New Zealand had above average levels of crime, but that New Zealand victims were more likely to report crime, and to feel satisfied with the police response (Van Dijk et al, 2008).

3.2 Consequences of crime

The consequences of crime on individuals can be wide ranging and severe:

The social, monetary, and mental health impacts of crime are far reaching and potentially long lasting, and the trauma caused by crime victimisation is unique (O'Brien, 2010, p.180).

¹⁹ New Zealand Police (2012). *Police statistics on homicide victims in New Zealand for the period 2007–2009.* Cited at

http://www.police.govt.nz/sites/default/files/homicide_victims_report_2011.pdf

This section briefly reviews the range of adverse consequences that can result from crime victimisation. There is also consideration of the positive and negative impacts of involvement in the criminal justice system for those whose crime is reported and then proceed down this pathway. Identifying these consequences is an important first step in understanding the supports and services required to address victims' needs.

When reviewing the potential impacts it is important to be aware that individual victims react to, and are affected by, crime in different ways:

- reactions to victimisation occur on a continuum, from little or no effect, to severe traumatisation
- · personal characteristics can affect how an individual reacts to a crime
- type of crime can affect level and type of impact.

These considerations are reviewed in more detail in <u>chapter 4</u>, but should be borne in mind when considering the range of possible impacts presented below.

3.2.1 Health impacts

It is widely recognised that both mental and physical health consequences can result from crime victimisation (Wallace, 2007; United Nations, 1999; Cook et al, 1999).

Physical effects

The nature of violent crime is such that victimisation frequently results in bodily injury. This can range from bruises, contusions and cuts, broken bones, puncture wounds from stabbings or gunshots, and serious internal injuries, such as major damage to internal organs including the brain. In around 60 cases per year in New Zealand, death results from a violent assault or attack (Family Violence Death Review Committee, 2011). Sexual offences can result in internal injuries, being infected with a sexually transmitted disease, and pregnancy (see also Krug et al, 2002 for a review of health consequences of intimate partner violence).

Wallace (2007) suggested that injuries can also have flow-on effects, depending on:

- the speed of recovery or healing
- whether visible scars remain
- the extent to which injuries result in lasting disability.

The prevalence of physical health consequences amongst crime victims is not well documented. However, NZCASS 2009 findings indicate that, for offences that involved contact with an offender (assaults and sexual offences), 43% of victims reported a physical injury. The majority of injuries were not particularly serious, with 13% of these victims requiring medical assistance (Morrison et al., 2010). Another New Zealand study found a link between crime victimisation and increased risk of health consequences in a community-based sample of 1,500 adults (Flett et al., 2002). After adjusting for gender, ethnicity, and age differences, the researchers found that those experiencing crime-related trauma exhibited significantly deteriorated physical health, as measured by current physical symptoms, chronic medical conditions, and enduring deficits in daily functioning.

Mental health

Research attention has also been given to the mental health consequences of crime victimisation. Reliable data can be sourced from epidemiological studies. Reviews have included the mental health outcomes of violent crime (eg, Kilpatrick and Acierno, 2003), family violence (eg, Howard et al, 2010), sexual violence (see Koss et al, 2003; Campbell, 2008) and older victims of crime (Gray and Acierno, 2002).

Mental health outcomes resulting from crime victimisation and trauma exist along a continuum, ranging from short lived but intense distress, to severe and chronic mental disorders which have life altering and debilitating consequences (Verdun-Jones and Rossiter, 2010). Psychological consequences include post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression (often involving suicidal ideation and attempts), anxiety disorders, substance abuse, and complicated or traumatic grief (Jennings et al, 2011; Kilpatrick and Acierno, 2003; Kilpatrick et al, 1987; McDevitt-Murphy et al, 2011). Victims also frequently report a range of 'subclinical' effects including loss of confidence and self-esteem, loss of trust in relationships, sleeplessness, and fear of being alone (Strang, 2003, cited in Parsons and Bergin, 2010).

The prevalence of PTSD and other mental health problems among individuals who experienced violent crime has been found to be significantly greater than levels within the general population (Hembree, 2003). O'Brien (2010) cites United States national survey research that has found crime victimisation to be the leading cause of trauma-related acute stress disorder. Individual studies have found PTSD in 90% of victims within two weeks of a sexual assault, with 50% continuing to meet the diagnostic criteria three months later (Rothbaum et al, 1992 cited in Koss et al, 2003). Dunn (2007) cited findings from a small research study that found 37% of members of the immediate families of homicide victims commenced on psychotropic medication within a few months of the event.

Individuals who are close to, or are involved in supporting, victims are also at risk of experiencing secondary traumatic stress symptoms (Ga-Young, 2011; Salston and Figly, 2003; Tamarit et al, 2010; Verdun-Jones and Rossiter, 2010; Wallace, 2007). Such impacts have been observed even amongst professionals who provide counselling and psychotherapeutic services to victims.

NZCASS captures a broad range of crime victimisation types, and a majority of respondents report on relatively minor crimes. As such, findings have limitations with respect to understanding the impacts of serious crimes (Mayhew and Reilly, 2007). Having said this, a significant proportion of NZCASS respondents reporting victimisation also described continuing emotional effects. Around 77% of victims in the 2009 survey reported still experiencing anger/annoyance, 36% were more cautious, 28% reported still feeling 'shocked', and 19% reported experiencing ongoing fear and vulnerability. Mayhew and Reilly (2007) hypothesise that people's responses to crime are greater than occurs in relation to injury from accidents, because of the very personal nature of crime – a deliberate act of wrongdoing by another person against them.

Following a qualitative review of the consequences of crime, Wallace (2007) suggested that psychological responses to serious crime commonly followed three sequential stages:

- **Impact stage** the immediate aftermath of the crime, when victims feel a sense of shock. This phase can last from several hours to several days and is characterised by inability to sleep or eat, feelings of numbness, and abrupt mood swings
- **Recoil stage** at this point victims attempt to understand or rationalise the crime. Reactions include guilt, fear, anger, self-pity and sadness. Alternatively there may be denial and emotional detachment, as victims seek to 'seal off feelings' in order to cope
- **Reorganisation stage** in time the victim moves towards a more balanced state: feeling of fear and rage diminish in intensity, and there is sufficient energy to return to engaging in normal life activities.

However, this is just one hypothesised model. Those working with recently victimised clients have suggested there is no set pattern, that responses vary across individuals, and people may go through defined stages repeatedly and in various orders (Bonanno, 2004; Bonanno et al, 2005). On the other hand, some have sufficient resiliency to cope without significant distress.

3.2.2 Impacts on quality of life

The impact of crime on victims is not necessarily restricted to physical or mental health. Crime can affect an individual's quality of life in other, more subtle ways, some of which is harder to quantify. Researchers in the US have recently attempted to review and analyse findings on the impact of violent crime on quality of life (Hanson et al, 2010).²⁰ The first step was to define what 'quality of life' means. The authors included the following dimensions:

- life satisfaction and wellbeing
- role functioning (eg, social, occupational, and interpersonal functioning)
- other social-material conditions (eg, use of leisure time, general health).

After reviewing relevant research Hanson et al (2010) concluded that crime victimisation has measurable impacts across multiple domains. Evidence was found of adverse impacts particularly on intimate relationships, parent–child relationships, and occupational functioning (including high rates of unemployment).

Violence against women has been found to have particularly marked effects on quality of life (Koss et al, 1994). Women may suffer isolation, occupational disruption, diminished participation in regular activities, and reduced ability to care for themselves and their children. Children who have been exposed to intimate partner violence may also suffer a range of behavioural and emotional disturbances (World Health Organisation, 2011).

²⁰

Hanson and colleagues carried out a qualitative review of all studies that researched the impact of victimisation on quality of life (victims included those experiencing forcible rape, sexual assault, aggravated assault, intimate partner violence and survivors of homicide).

Other research indicates that crime arguably has effects that can permeate out to the wider public, particularly when media accounts of violent crime generate widespread anxiety throughout a community (Morrison et al, 2007).

3.2.3 Financial impact

Wallace (2007) reviews the financial consequences of crime to victims and notes that, in addition to quality of life effects, many victims also face monetary impacts arising from:

- loss or damage to property
- medical and mental health care costs
- loss of income due to inability to work, and having to attend trial.²¹

The New Zealand Treasury attempted to estimate total costs of crime in 2002/2003. They included costs to victims such as health care, loss of income, and property loss, as well as quantifying intangible 'quality of life' impacts. Total cost of crime for the country per year was estimated at \$9.1 billion, nearly 80% of which comprised costs to victims (Roper and Thompson, 2006).²²

3.3 Consequences of criminal justice system involvement

A critical juncture in the aftermath of a crime is whether the victim chooses to report the crime to Police and, subsequently, whether the case proceeds through the criminal justice processes that then ensue. This is an area where some outcome research has been conducted, although most focusing on victims of sexual violence, with aspects of the process being described as a re-victimisation (sometimes even described as 'secondary rape'; Campbell et al., 2001; Madigan & Gamble, 1991).

Findings however are mixed as to whether victims of crime who choose to pursue justice in this way gain personal benefit. Herman (2003) has critically reviewed research on the impact of criminal justice system involvement. She summarises the primary benefits of criminal justice system involvement as gaining safety and protection for the victim and related others through apprehension, punishment and (in some cases) incapacitation of the offender. Also potentially gained are opportunity for public acknowledgement of their suffering, validation of their victim status, and potential for receiving reparation for harms suffered.

²¹ A review of Victims' Rights by the Justice and Electoral Committee (2007) concluded that systems did not compensate victims effectively, and recommended that the government should develop a compensation regime that prioritises victims' losses and adequately compensates them. This resulted in a comprehensive report by the Law Commission (2008) that reviewed current provisions and how these might be improved. Therefore this report has not addressed effective responses to assisting victims in receiving financial support.

²² This Treasury report provides clear evidence of the overall cost of crime to New Zealand, but provides less insight into the individual costs of crime. NZCASS does ask those who had experienced offences which incurred potential financial loss from theft or property damage how much financial loss they had incurred. If and when analysed this may provide a more personalised insight.

Research studies, although typically involving interviews with small samples of victims, have found some positive effects from involvement with the criminal justice system. Benefits include the following:

- Foa and Kozak (1986, cited in Parsons and Bergin, 2010) found participation can be a cathartic experience for victims, with the process of recovery aided by confronting and "coming to terms with" the victimisation (see also Moriarty, 2005)
- participation resulted in reduced use of avoidant coping strategies linked to PTSD symptoms for victims of both family and sexual violence (Ehlers and Clark, 2000 cited in Parsons and Bergin, 2010)
- victims of family violence who pursued their case through court were found to have better psychological wellbeing than non-participants, including being happier, less fearful, and displaying higher levels of self-esteem (Dobash et al, 2000 cited in Herman, 2003)
- victims of sexual abuse who participated benefitted from having their allegations of abuse acknowledged and validated, and through receiving apology (Feldthusen et al, 2000).

Negative impacts of engagement with the criminal justice system can also occur. This is understood to be particularly prevalent when police and prosecutorial practices act in ways that serve to 'side-line' the victim. Also noted by researchers is the adversarial nature of trials, often involving direct confrontation with the perpetrator. Lack of information for victims on what is happening through the process is not uncommon. Courtroom processes can also exclude the victim from participation, and create unsatisfactory communication with prosecutors. Perhaps worst of all, unfavourable prosecution or trial outcomes (acquittal of the defendant) can be devastating (Orth, 2002; Herman, 2005; Parsons and Bergin, 2010).

Examples of research findings indicating adverse consequences include the following:

- reporting any crime to police can be distressing, recounting experiences in a public court traumatising and if police decide not to prosecute the offender, victims can be left feeling embittered and disappointed (Herman, 2003; Koss, 2000; Campbell and Raja, 1999 all cited in Parsons and Bergin, 2010)
- the reporting of sexual violence by victims is widely understood by mental health professionals to be a particularly distressing experience for victims (Campbell and Raja, 1999, cited in Parsons and Bergin, 2010). Secondary victimisation is particularly likely to occur during their cross examination; the experience is often reported to cause the victim to feel as if she herself is on trial (Campbell et al, 2001; Orth, 2002).
- the court process for families of victims of homicide is also highly distressing, particularly having to face the person who killed their loved one, or listen to a defence lawyer malign and blame the victim (Kingi, 2011).

Parsons and Bergin's (2010) paper, which reviews the issue of how victims are affected by engaging in the criminal justice process, notes that existing research has revealed mixed results, but that much of the research is now out of date, or suffers

from methodological flaws. They conclude by saying that "the jury is still out" on the impact of criminal justice system involvement on victim wellbeing and mental health.

3.4 Stocktake summary

- The prevalence of crime victimisation is well researched through the NZCASS; exceptions to this are prevalence rates for homicide, young victims, those who are homeless or not living in regular households.
- Mental health consequences are also well researched. The physical, financial and quality of life impacts appear well understood but their extent and prevalence is less well documented.
- Research on the impact of participation in the criminal justice system has focused mainly on victims of sexual violence, family violence, and other violent crime. The impacts on victims of household crime are less well known (despite being the most common in New Zealand).
- The potential negative consequences of participation in the criminal justice system, particularly impacts associated with giving evidence at trial, are well documented. There has been less attention given to understanding positive outcomes.

4 Factors influencing nature and extent of victimisation

Key points

- An individual's risk of exposure, and reaction, to victimisation is influenced by personal characteristics and the type of crime suffered. The interaction of these two factors makes it difficult to predict the intensity and duration of an individual's response.
- Findings from NZCASS show that sexual offences have the greatest impact on victims, followed by assaults and theft of vehicles (Note that NZCASS excludes the impact of homicide).
- While type of crime appears to impact on level of distress experienced, available research on the nature of distress suggests psychological symptoms tend to be similar.
- Groups most at risk of being victimised are younger persons, Māori and 'other' ethnic groups, sole parents, students, those living in households comprised of flatmates, and being unemployed or on a benefit. Many of these risk factors tend to be interrelated, suggesting it is inherent disadvantage that underlies heightened risk.
- Groups vulnerable to adverse responses include individuals who have experienced multiple or repeat victimisation, younger victims, victims with disabilities, and low socioeconomic status (including "hard-to-reach" people).
- Ethnicity has a complex relationship with victimisation but also help-seeking behaviour and the extent of victimisation experience. To be effective, victim support services need to be culturally responsive to different ethnic groups.

The preceding chapter has reviewed the prevalence and variable consequences of crime victimisation. This section briefly reviews factors that can influence an individual's risk of exposure to victimisation, and the severity of their reactions to it. It also considers particular characteristics and needs of different cultural groups. Material presented can inform appropriate targeting of resources and services.

As noted in the previous chapter, the impact of crime victimisation is variable. Clearly, different forms of crimes will have different levels and types of impact. A typical property offence (eg, theft of one's wallet) almost always will create emotional and other impacts considerably less severe than those arising from a violent sexual assault. In addition, pre-existing personal characteristics can affect the nature and extent of impact experienced. Critical variables include the person's capacity for coping with stress, the extent of supportive relationships, and the existence of concurrent pressures and problems. Also relevant is the extent to which the person has had prior exposure to victimisation. Interactions between these two factors (type of crime, personal characteristics) explain why predicting the intensity and duration of an individual's reaction to a crime, whether they will develop mental health disorders, or experience functional impairment, remains a challenge (O'Brien, 2010; Payne, 2009). Reliable evidence from national crime surveys and other sources has found victims of the same type of crime can exhibit very different reactions to that crime, while victims of different crimes can have similar reactions (Dunn, 2007; Morrison et al, 2010; Mayhew and Reilly, 2008, Payne, 2009; Wallace, 2007). Hence, one must be careful in generalising what the type of impact certain groups are likely to experience.

With this point of caution in mind, this section briefly reviews:

- how the nature and circumstance of different types of crime can impact on an individual's experience
- the ways in which *personal characteristics* can influence risk of, and reactions to, victimisation
- cultural considerations in relation to crime victimisation.

4.1 Type of crime

23

In keeping with many other such surveys, NZCASS findings reveal that certain types of crime are associated with greater levels of self-reported impact (Morrison et al, 2010; Mayhew and Reilly, 2008). In particular, sexual offences appear to have the greatest impact on victims, followed by physical assaults.²³ Interestingly, theft of a vehicle seems to affect victims more strongly than other types of property loss. Mayhew and Reilly (2008) suggested this may be because of the high value of the potential loss and the inconvenience that such thefts can cause. The significant impact of vehicle theft has been found consistently, yet has received little attention along with the more general needs of victims of other property crimes. Overall, victims of confrontational offences (eg, sexual offences, assaults and threats to the person, and robbery) were twice as likely, compared to other victims, to report feelings of distress and depression; feelings of shame or guilt are also associated with some of these offences.

At the other end of the scale, offences involving property damage were associated with the least self-reported impact.

Researchers have suggested the following characteristics of a crime appear to increase severity of impact (Dunn, 2007, 2008; Morrison et al., 2010; Parsons and Bergin, 2010; Verdun-Jones and Rossiter, 2010):

- use of violence (eg, aggravated sexual and physical assaults)
- the personal nature of the crime (eg, offence against the person rather than property offences)

Note: NZCASS does not evaluate impact on families of victims of homicide who commonly experience severe and long lasting effects.

- the duration of victimisation (eg, family violence involving extended periods of repeat victimisation)
- an existing relationship between victim and offender.

While the type of crime appears to impact on the *level* of distress experienced, reliable cross sectional research on the *type* of impact suggests the nature of distress or psychological symptoms tend to be similar (Lurigio, 1987, Kilpatrick et al, 1987; Markesteyn, 1992 cited in Sims et al, 2006). In other words it is the intensity rather than the nature of the distress that varies more.

Whilst the psychological symptoms may be similar across crime types, there are clearly differences in the practical needs following different crimes (eg, home security responses following a burglary, requirements to undergo a forensic medical examination in cases of sexual violence). Understanding these circumstances is important in assisting victims in their healing and recovery. For this reason it is generally accepted that specialist responses, particularly to certain crimes such as sexual violence, family violence and homicide, are good practice (Kelly, 2005; Kingi, 2011; Mossman et al, 2009a).

Innovative practices – Information provision based on crime type

The British Columbia's Ministry of Justice's 'Victim Services and Crime Prevention' are responsible for victims' issues. Their website provides links to resources for how different crimes or types of violence may affect people, where they can access more help. Resources are divided into the following eight categories of crime:

- Domestic Violence
- Sexual Assault
- Child Victims
- Dating Violence
- Stalking and Criminal Harassment
- Elder Abuse and Neglect
- Break and Enter
- Immediate Family Members of a Victim

See http://www.pssg.gov.bc.ca/victimservices/affect-you/index.htm

While it is beyond the scope of this review to consider victim needs specific to all crime types, certain types of crime clearly call for unique services for victims; in particular, close relatives of homicide victims, and victims of sexual and family violence. Victims of these three offence categories have special recognition in the New Zealand *Victims' Rights Act 2002* and are briefly discussed here.

4.1.1 Homicide

International research into the experience of losing a family member to homicide suggests the effects and grief tend to be more severe, more complex and longer lasting than most other forms of bereavement. The abrupt, unexpected and violent

nature of the event appears particularly to intensify the trauma (see Kingi, 2011 for a review of literature). This conclusion is supported by research commissioned by Victim Support NZ. This qualitative study explored the experiences of 36 family members associated with 22 separate homicide incidents and included a summary of the international literature (Kingi, 2011). Participants described a wide range of impacts affecting almost every aspect of their lives, and the lives of those close to them. These impacts had endured in some cases over many years and affected relationships, work, and emotional, physical and psychological health. Many participants described the effects of the homicide on themselves and their families as 'profound'. Emotions were described as "still as raw as the first day" they learned of their family member's death.

This devastation experienced by family members was also found in a UK study that interviewed 41 bereaved people (Victim Support UK, 2006).²⁴ It is also clearly reflected in a recent personal account of Lesley Elliott, the mother of Sophie Elliott, whose murder resulted in a very widely publicised trial of the killer (Elliott and O'Brien, 2011).

Key issues related to this particular group of victims include:

Nature of victimisation

- adverse impact on family relationships: members may be incapable of offering support to one another during this time (Asaro and Clements, 2005; Kingi, 2011; Victim Support UK, 2006)
- children and adolescents are often particularly affected and can be at increased risk of developing PTSD responses. Emotional and behavioural problems may arise which require specialist services (Salloum et al; 2001; Victim Support UK, 2006). When a child has lost a parent through homicide, there are often difficult child care and guardianship issues which require particularly careful management (Kingi, 2011; Victim Support UK, 2006)
- **intrafamilial homicide** cases will almost certainly compound all of the stresses and adverse experiences for victims. Dropout rates from support services amongst this group are often high (Horne, 2003 cited in Kingi, 2011)
- **financial impacts** of homicide can be significant: this includes cost of funerals, loss of income through time off work, etc. (Kingi, 2011)
- social stigma can become associated with murder, which can create barriers between victims and their friends and their wider community (Kingi, 2011).

Support needs

- the necessity for intensive, long-term support, often necessitating a range of agencies' involvement
- assistance with the multitude of **practical needs** arising in the weeks and months following the homicide and during the course of any trial (eg, arranging funerals,

²⁴ This research involved a review of literature, stocktake of services, interviews with 41 bereaved people and a focus group interview with support workers and criminal justice professionals.

needs for childcare and home help, added financial pressure); these tend to take precedence over emotional needs and may take precedence in the immediate period following the homicide; frequently, emotional support needs can increase after the trial (Victim Support UK, 2006)

- an acute felt need for information, to be kept informed; this particularly applies to understanding the circumstances surrounding the death, all aspects of criminal justice processes, victims' rights, and how they will be expected to participate. Information needs to be provided in a timely manner but also at the stage when it is most useful and relevant (many homicide victims complain that too much information at the wrong time can be just as unhelpful as not enough (Kingi, 2011))
- being informed before information is released to the media or given to other parties (Elliott and O'Brien, 2011; Kingi, 2011; Victim Support UK, 2006) is also of great concern to victims; this felt need is illustrated by a mother interviewed in the Kingi (2009) study:

The whole way through the 11 or 12 days I just didn't want to think she was dead. On day five or six I heard on the late news one night that the Detective said, "It's kind of looking like homicide". She hadn't said this to me and I got really angry at her. She was very lucky she didn't get a smack in the mouth. I went to Central Police Station and I just about lost the plot. I said "How dare you say that!" She apologised – I think the media had pushed her into it. (Kingi, 2011, pp 24–25)

- particular sensitivity is required around how the deceased person's body is managed: victims spoke of the distress arising from having to wait for crime scene investigations to be completed; viewing the deceased persons' injuries, and waiting for post-mortems to be completed, were particularly hard (Kingi, 2011; Victim Support UK, 2006)
- dealing with insensitivity on the part of support workers: frequently complained of was workers who were either over-emotional, asked too many questions, were aloof or patronising, or appeared not to listen (Kingi, 2011; Victim Support UK, 2006)²⁵
- support groups made up of fellow survivors are often highly valued by survivors (Kingi, 2011; Victim Support UK, 2006); however, research by Armour (2006, cited in Kingi, 2011) found these groups can be less effective in reducing symptoms of PTSD or mental stress. Victim Support UK (2006) report concerns that referring victims to such groups too early can make people feel more distressed through exposing them to others' intense grief.

Criminal justice system involvement

 involvement in the criminal justice system process is often the most prolonged for homicide victims, with the result that frustrations and feelings of powerlessness (resulting in high risks of **secondary victimisation**) are more prevalent (Elliott and O'Brien, 2011; Goodrum, 2007; Victim Support UK, 2006). Assistance

²⁵

Victim Support in New Zealand offer a specialist homicide support response.

navigating and explaining the process (Elliott and O'Brien, 2011) and more 'user friendly' court systems and environments, especially for those giving evidence, could alleviate some of the stress (Kingi, 2011).

Innovative practice – online peer support groups for families of victims of homicide

- Homicide Victims' Support Group (Aust) Inc (2011). "Welcome to the Homicide Victims' Support Group (Aust) Inc website." Retrieved 23 February, 2011, from <u>http://hvsgnsw.org.au/</u>.
- Angelhands (2011). "Organisation profile". Retrieved 26 December, 2011, from http://www.angelhands.org.au/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=5 6&Itemid=66.

4.1.2 Sexual violence

The support needs of victims of sexual violence have been one of the main focuses of research in New Zealand and overseas. While victim responses can vary, they are often severe, with significant impacts on multiple aspects of victims' lives (Kingi and Jordan, 2009).

In the wake of the Commission of Inquiry into Police Conduct, a taskforce was set up in 2007 to review and make recommendations on what needed to be done to better prevent and respond to sexual violence in New Zealand (Taskforce for Action on Sexual Violence, 2009). At the same time Ministry of Women's Affairs commissioned a large research project to explore effective interventions for adult victims of sexual violence, which included qualitative research with 75 victims.²⁶

Other significant research in this area includes that of Dr Jan Jordan of Victoria University of Wellington, who has been particularly active (Jordan, 1998, 2001, 2002, 2004, 2005, 2008, 2012) producing a number of internationally recognised research reports and publications. Most recently, research by Elisabeth McDonald and Yvette Tinsley of Victoria University Faculty of Law has resulted in a comprehensive review of the treatment of victims of sexual violence within the criminal justice system (McDonald and Tinsley, 2011).²⁷

This research, in conjunction with considerable concurrent international research activity, has identified a number of critical issues for this group of victims. These include:

²⁶ This research involved four interrelated projects that included a review of literature on good practice, an attrition study, qualitative research with 75 victims who had experienced sexual violence and a national survey of those who respond to adult survivors of sexual violence (see <u>http://www.mwa.govt.nz/our-work/svrproject</u>).

²⁷ This research project was funded through the New Zealand Law Foundation and included an extensive literature review, discussions with those who work with victims of sexual violence, court observations and meetings in five European countries and a consultation workshop with relevant experts in New Zealand.

Nature of sexual violence

- women are twice as likely as men to be sexually victimised (Mayhew and Reilly, 2007)
- youth (15 to 24 years) and Māori women also face higher risks of sexual violation (Mayhew and Reilly, 2007)
- **risks of repeat sexual victimisation are common:** this group of victims are uniquely vulnerable with high and complex needs (Kingi and Jordan, 2009)
- barriers to disclosure and seeking help: commonly reported are feelings of shame and guilt, as well as inability to accurately label what happened as rape²⁸ (Kingi and Jordan, 2009; Mossman et al, 2009b)

Support needs

- felt need for personally 'tailored' support as victims progress through the various stages of crisis intervention, forensic examination, criminal investigation, and criminal trial; having a support person or counsellor who was 'right' for them was of great importance, ideally this meant having someone with just the right mix of characteristics in terms of personality, gender, ethnicity, and therapeutic modality (Kingi and Jordan, 2009; Mossman et al, 2009a and b, Kingi, 2011; Victim Support UK, 2006)
- **importance of informal support systems:** non-specialist supports were valued if providing emotional support and practical assistance in a non-judgemental and empathetic ways (Kingi and Jordan, 2009)
- **relationship difficulties:** victims experience particular conflicts and struggles in relation to sex, trust and intimacy following sexual assault (Jordan, 2008; Kingi and Jordan, 2009).

Criminal justice system involvement

- **Iow expectations of the criminal justice system:** victims may be reluctant to report offences, or may report but later retract allegations because they lack confidence that they will be believed, or that the offender will be held to account (Jordan, 2004; McDonald and Tinsley, 2011; Kingi and Jordan, 2009; Mossman et al, 2009a and b). Research confirms low levels of reporting of sexual violence, and high levels of attrition in cases (Triggs et al, 2009)
- hypersensitivity to the quality of the police response (Jordan, 2004): multiple sources point to a strongly felt need for sensitive, respectful and validating behaviours on the part of investigative police staff. Many victims report encountering a "culture of scepticism" within the police (Bazley, 2007)
- particular emotional trauma associated with **forensic medical examinations** (Kingi and Jordan, 2009)

²⁸ Sexual violence within a marriage or intimate relationship is not always recognised as rape by victims or the public.

• victims facing cross-examination in court: the need for support for victims at this time is particularly acute (McDonald and Tinsley, 2011; Kingi and Jordan, 2009; Mossman et al, 2009a and b).²⁹

4.1.3 Family violence

It is widely recognised that family violence is a serious problem in New Zealand. The high prevalence and human costs associated with family violence have resulted in a number of legislative and policy responses aimed at preventing and responding effectively to family violence. Some key milestones include:

- The Domestic Violence Act 1995 enabled the issuing of protection orders, followed more recently by the Domestic Violence (Enhancing Safety) Act 2009 which empower police to take action and issue a Police Safety Order in cases where they fear for a person's safety but where insufficient grounds exist to justify arrest
- Te Rito Family Violence Prevention Strategy (Ministry of Social Development, 2002)
- The Taskforce for Action on Violence within Families (TAVF) was established in 2005 and provides recommendations and actions on how to improve the way family violence is addressed, and to work towards the elimination of family violence. The TAVF have been responsible for:
 - development of the New Zealand Family Violence Clearinghouse set up to coordinate and distribute research on family violence
 - the family violence public awareness campaign 'It's Not Okay.'

A huge body of research exists in New Zealand and overseas on the nature and extent of family violence. This includes discrete subsets of literature on victims of child abuse, intimate partner violence and elder abuse (see Fanslow, 2005; Howard, et al, 2010; Kalaga and Kingson, 2007; Lievore and Mayhew, 2007). Summarising such a large body of literature for purposes of this review was not realistic; however a few of the key overarching considerations are presented below.

Nature of family violence

- family violence covers a range of harmful behaviours: this includes physical, sexual and psychological abuse, typically involving the inculcation of fear, intimidation and emotional distress. Interpersonal power dynamics are typically involved, where one person seeks to dominate and control the other. There are high rates of co-occurrence among different forms of violence, and patterns of repeat victimisation are the norm (Howard et al, 2010; TAVF, 2006)
- **family violence is pervasive**: it occur in families of all cultures, classes, backgrounds and socioeconomic circumstances. It can arise within any family relationship: partner to partner, parent to child (and vice versa), sibling to sibling

²⁹ The importance of supporting victims of sexual violence who participate in the criminal justice system has resulted in the Ministry of Justice commissioning an evaluation of court services available for this group.

- **gendered nature:** the predominant pattern is male violence directed at a female partner; while females do aggress against male partners, male perpetrators are significantly more likely to seriously injure their female victims (TAVF, 2005). The impacts on women and children are disproportionately high. Women may be forced to leave their home, have reduced financial support and struggle to care for their children
- **children exposed to intimate partner violence** may suffer a range of behavioural and emotional disturbances (World Health Organisation, 2011)
- **Māori** are significantly over-represented as both victims and perpetrators of violence in families (TAVF, 2005; Māori Reference Group for the TAVF, 2009)
- many families where violence is endemic can be described as 'hard to reach': services must be tailored accordingly (TAVF, 2005)
- **barriers for victims leaving violent relationships are common**: shame, fear of retribution, fear of losing custody of children, and financial hardship.

Support needs

- the potentially serious consequences of family violence mean there is strong focus on prevention and early detection which can be achieved through screening and active arrest policies³⁰
- **responses** to incidents of family violence need to include development of safety plans for victims
- **support services need to be specialised and accessible:** 24-hour crisis coverage is necessary to ensure victims have a safe place to go to if violence is threatened; victims also have particular needs for legal advice, financial support, assistance in finding alternative accommodation and ongoing emotional support
- **needs and safety of children and adolescents** are particularly acute: children may have witnessed and/or experienced violence, may be fearful over the breakup of their family, or at the threat of further victimisation; children who are witnesses in family violence cases require specialist support services (Fanslow, 2005). Providing support to women who have experienced family violence can have a flow on effect to their children
- **interagency responses** are usually necessary to adequately address family violence issues (Fanslow, 2005; TAVF, 2005)
- **psychological interventions for offenders** are important: research indicates that, in the majority of cases, perpetrators return to the domestic situation (Johnson, 2005)
- importance of public awareness campaigns to address community tolerance of violence – family violence typically occurs within the privacy of the home and is

³⁰ In New Zealand there are screening programmes for family violence in health settings, for example, Family Planning Clinics; also New Zealand Police has adopted pro-arrest policies and can now take action through the issuing of Police Safety Orders without evidence for an arrest.

hard to detect, often changing attitudes and behaviour – can reduce society's tolerance of violence and change people's damaging behaviour within families.

4.2 Individual characteristics affecting victimisation

As noted in the introduction to this chapter, personal characteristics can influence both the nature and extent of victimisation. The characteristics of two groups are reviewed:

- population subgroups at *increased risk* of being victimised (ie, have higher rates of victimisation)
- personal characteristics that increase the *severity of impact* on victims, and/or prolong the recovery process (ie, more adversely affected).

4.2.1 Groups experiencing higher rates of victimisation

NZCASS data clearly shows that the distribution of victimisation is not even across the community. The 2009 report indicated that as few as 6% of the population experienced 54% of crimes committed in a year, while the majority of people (64%) experienced no crime that year (Morrison et al, 2010). These rates are not dissimilar to those found in previous surveys.³¹

Groups most at risk were (the figures in brackets are percentage-point deviation above the New Zealand average):

- younger people (15 to 24 years) (+17)
- Māori (+13) or 'other' ethnic groups (+18)³²
- students (+14) or unemployed or on benefit (+12)
- unmarried (+11)
- more economically vulnerable (+12)

Also at higher risk were victims living in:

- rented accommodation (+11)
- more economically deprived areas (+10)
- sole parent households (+15)
- households comprised of flatmates (+13) or other family combinations (+7)
- metropolitan cities (excluding Auckland) (+4)
- the upper North Island (+1)

³¹ Factors associated with risk of victimisation are limited to those measured by the NZCASS survey. Research in the US has found personal histories of specific substance use and psychiatric disorders and family histories of antisocial conduct are at substantially elevated risk for criminal victimisation in addition to being poor, unmarried persons living in urban areas (Vaughn et al, 2010).

³² The 'other' category included being Middle Eastern, Latin American, African or being from another ethnic group.

Gender was not a significant factor in overall risk of victimisation; however, women have a significantly higher risk of experiencing serious confrontational crime (assaults/threats) by their partner (Morrison et al, 2010).

It is important to note, however, that the risk factors listed above tend to be interrelated. For example, young people are more likely to be single, living in rented accommodation, with flatmates and to be students. Morrison et al (2010) point out this makes it difficult to determine which factors are directly related to victimisation risk and which are secondary.

Following analysis of the 2006 NZCASS results, Reilly and Mayhew (2009) conclude that *inherent disadvantage* rather than the individual factors related to it (such as being Māori or a sole parent) underlies heightened risk of victimisation. These authors suggest crime prevention and victim service initiatives need to target socially and economically deprived areas. This approach will ensure support reaches those most in need without singling out a specific group and inadvertently implying responsibility for victimisation.

4.2.2 Groups experiencing more severe impacts

While all crime victims probably experience some degree of reaction, the intensity and duration of reaction for any individual is less predictable (O'Brien, 2010). Victims are affected by crime to varying extents (Dunn, 2007; Morrison et al, 2010; Mayhew and Reilly, 2008). For example, the 2009 NZCASS study found 48% of all crime victims reported being 'somewhat' or 'highly affected' by the event, while the remaining 52% reported being affected 'not at all' (12%) or 'just a little' (41%).

The 2009 NZCASS found the following individual characteristics were associated with greater levels of self-reported impact (Morrison et al, 2010). Those who were:

- physically injured
- not managing well financially
- experienced offences committed by their partner or someone known to them
- female
- Māori or Pacific.

However, higher levels of impact do not necessarily mean a corresponding felt need for support (Dunn, 2007; Mayhew and Reilly, 2008). Some victims have the benefits of robust personal coping skills, supportive family and social networks, or other resources which cushion them from the experience (Mayhew and Reilly, 2008; Sims et al, 2006).³³ Conversely, individuals without these protective factors are more vulnerable, and appear to suffer more acutely, and for longer. As such they have a particular need for support from external sources (Cook et al, 1999; Green and Pomeroy, 2007). Paradoxically, those most vulnerable to victimisation may also face the greatest barriers when attempting to access such supports from the criminal justice and mental health agencies (Verdun-Jones and Rossiter, 2010).

³³

For a review of effective coping strategies see Green et al (2010).

4.3 Vulnerable groups with specialist support needs

There are a number of subgroups recognised as being more vulnerable to experiencing adverse responses following victimisation; for some of which, membership can overlap. These are:

- individuals who have experienced multiple or repeat victimisation.³⁴ While any single victimisation may be relatively minor, the cumulative effect of several victimisations over time is likely to be much greater (Kilpatrick and Acierno, 2003; Mayhew and Reilly, 2008). The 2009 NZCASS found that repeat victims were more likely to characterise crimes as being 'serious', and to report being more seriously affected by crime incidents (Ministry of Justice, 2010b). The survey also found:
 - younger people (15 to 24 years), Māori and those who were unemployed and/or on benefits were more than twice as likely to be 'chronic' victims of crime (victimised five or more times in a 12 month period)
 - repeat and chronic victimisation was particularly common for victims of confrontational offences including assaults, threats to the person and personal property, and personal property damage (family violence related crimes). Lower rates of repeat victimisation were found for burglary and vehicle crime offences.³⁵ Obviously, preventing any further re-victimisations is essential to assist repeat victims in their healing and recovery.
- younger victims: children and young people who have experienced serious victimisation such as child abuse or the loss of a parent through homicide are shown to be at increased risk of developing PTSD and a range of other adverse mental health outcomes (Cohen et al, 2003; Leeb et al, 2011; Salloum et al, 2001; Tavkar and Hansen, 2011; Verdun-Jones and Rossiter, 2010). These early trauma experiences can go on to adversely shape the life course of these young victims, yet there is little evidence sufficient attention is given to the specialist support needs of young victims (Koloko et al, 2010; Salloum et al, 2001; Victim Support UK, 2006; Verdun-Jones and Rossiter, 2010).³⁶

Some attention has been given to supporting children and young people who are witnesses in criminal proceedings (Hanna et al, 2010; Ontario Victims Services Secretariat, 2007; Rhodes et al, 2011; Plotnikoff and Woolfson, 2004). The UN has produced guidelines ('Justice in Matters involving Child Victims and Witnesses of Crime') for this purpose.³⁷ This recognises the fact that appearing

³⁷ See http://www.unodc.org/documents/justice-and-prison-reform/UNODC_UNICEF _Model_Law_on_Children.pdf

³⁴ Multiple victimisation was defined as experiencing more than one offence within a 12 month period. This is differentiated from *repeat victimisation* which refers to a person who experiences the same type of offence more than once within a 12 month period.

³⁵ Victims of hate (or bias) crime are also recognised as being at risk of repeat victimisation. Research shows that victims of bias or hate crimes tend to experience more serious mental health consequences than other crime victims (see Parsons and Bergin, 2010 for a review).

³⁶ The NZCASS only surveys those 15 years and older, although the UK is now carrying out victimisation surveys with young people.

as a witness can be a traumatic experience for young people. Qualitative research in the UK with 50 young witnesses found many reported experiencing depression, bed wetting and difficulty in attending school. Some children required prescribed medication to enable them to cope (Plotnikoff and Woolfson, 2004).

To better understand the unique needs of this group, the UK is now extending their Witness and Victim Experience Survey to include child witnesses. The New Zealand Government undertook a review of child witnesses and agreed a package of reforms in July 2011. The Ministry of Justice is now developing legislation and systems to implement the agreed policy changes. New Zealand has also recently produced national guidelines for agencies working with child victims (Ministry of Justice, 2011b) and offers a 'Court Education for Young Witnesses' service through court victims services.

- victims with disabilities may be at increased risk of more severe reactions to victimisation due to:
 - pre-existing mental health problems increasing the risk of an adverse reaction to victimisation (Kilpatrick and Acierno, 2003)
 - mobility or communication disabilities can result in individuals not being taken seriously, or being seen as a credible witness by police and/or prosecuting agencies (Hoog, 2004; Lievore, 2005).
- 'hard-to-reach' victims: a proportion of the community lives in socially and economically deprived areas, often displaying an alienation from mainstream society, high levels of family dysfunction, serious alcohol and drug abuse, and multigenerational welfare dependency. There is often particularly high levels of violence and victimisation (Morrison et al, 2010; Reilly and Mayhew, 2009) and high levels of psychological distress and fear as a result (Kelly et al, 2010; Verdun-Jones and Rossitor, 2010). Victims of crime in such situations present particular difficulties in becoming connected to support and assistance.

The special needs of these subgroups suggests the importance of early identification to ensure appropriate support measures can be put in place (Gudjonsson, 2010; Sanders and Jones, 2007). New Zealand Police is currently trialling an automatic alert system to identify repeat victims so they can intervene appropriately. UK authorities have reportedly adopted strategies to improve early identification of vulnerable individuals through specialised assessments by police prior to investigative interviewing victims (Gudjonsson, 2010).

4.4 Cultural considerations

This final section takes a closer look at the specific needs of three ethnic groups: Māori, Pacific Peoples and Asian.³⁸ The characteristics of their victimisation are reviewed, as are cultural considerations in responding to these groups.

³⁸

These three groups were of particular interest to the Ministry of Justice.

4.4.1 Māori victims of crime

In addition to considerations of Māori as tangata whenua and the special relationship established with the Crown through the Treaty of Waitangi, attention to Māori victims of crime is particularly important because Māori are over-represented amongst victims of crime generally, and are more likely to be victims of multiple crimes. Analysis of 2006 NZCASS found Māori had rates of victimisation 1.2 times higher than all other New Zealanders (Cunningham et al, 2009). This equated to nearly half of Māori aged 15 years and over being a victim of crime in 2005. Further, the incident rate (or number of occurrences in a 12 month period) was double that of other New Zealanders. They are also more likely to be victims of the crimes which have the greatest impact (eg, confrontation crimes, offences committed by partners and other people known to them). Finally, Māori women experience sexual violation at twice the rate of other women in New Zealand (Mayhew and Reilly, 2007).

In interpreting these high rates of victimisation, Cunningham et al (2009) note the profile of the Māori population is such that known risk factors for being a victim cluster for Māori (ie, youthful, flatmates and renters, students and singles). As a result some Māori carry a heavy burden of risk. The authors also highlight the apparent cumulative effect for individual Māori that makes their overall risk of victimisation greater than the sum of separate risk factors they are exposed to.

These statistics and conclusions indicate the importance of ensuring availability of appropriate support services tailored for Māori victims, and the need for interventions to minimise repeat victimisation. This need is underlined by findings that Māori are less well-informed about who they might turn to for help if they were victimised, with four out of ten Māori unable to name any community service for victims (Cunningham et al, 2009). Earlier qualitative research by Cram et al (1999) concluded that support services for Māori victims of crime at that time were inaccessible, or were culturally inappropriate to the needs of Māori. For example, few services had Māori staff. Cram's findings mirror those found with Māori victims of sexual violence (see Kingi and Jordan, 2009; Mossman et al, 2009b).

Important characteristics of support services identified by Cram et al (1999) were that they should be easily contactable, use approaches which support whānau, provide ongoing follow-up support, and generally be 'Māori-friendly'. Cram et al (1999) concluded that Māori victims of crime also needed choice in which services they could access, calling for mainstream services to be made more accessible to Māori, and particularly kaupapa Māori services to be established.

These recommendations sit well with the writings of Professor Mason Durie, who described Māori as being on a continuum ranging from those with traditional lifestyles, beliefs and values, to those whose lifestyles, beliefs and values reflect contemporary Western influences. Durie suggests a similar continuum of services must be available from which to choose from, as reflects the diversity of Māori communities (Durie, 1995).

Culturally appropriate support services, including counselling, centre on understanding Māori holistic approaches to health and wellbeing. These have been reviewed by Mossman et al (2009a) in relation to the provision of support services to Māori victims of sexual violence. Guidelines have also been developed for working with Māori victims of family violence (Māori Reference Group for the Taskforce for Action on Violence Within Families, 2009).

Access to justice: While Cunningham et al (2009) found rates of reporting to police were similar for Māori and non-Māori, there was evidence that Māori are less satisfied with police responses, a finding also of Cram et al (1999) and Whati and Roguski (1998). Cram et al (1999) found *resolution* of conflict was particularly important to Māori victims of crime, with a strong preference to restore balance and then get on with life, rather than seek retribution. The authors recommended that Māori processes for achieving such resolution should be better resourced, enabling some degree of Māori control in the administration of justice.

There has been considerable debate on the merits of the current criminal justice system versus traditional Māori approaches to justice. The debate has been provoked particularly by the apparent failure of the current system in relation to Māori offenders. However, the debate extends also to Māori victims, as within traditional Māori society, an offender, the victim, and their whānau, were inextricably linked (Cram et al, 1999; Jackson, 1988, 1989, 1995; Ministry of Justice, 2001).³⁹

In short, understanding and responding to Māori victimisation is a particular priority. While there has been some health-related research focusing on Māori (see Cram, 2012 for a review), research on Māori victims of crime is more limited. Use of booster samples in the 2006 NZCASS enabled dedicated analysis of Māori victims of crime, which has been valuable in identifying patterns in the nature and extent of victimisation. The qualitative research by Cram et al (1999) also provided important insights, but is now in need of updating. Greater understanding is needed both on how to reduce victimisation and ensure Māori have access to appropriate support services and justice.

4.4.2 Pacific peoples

The 2006 NZCASS results indicated that Pacific peoples are also at higher risk of victimisation (Mayhew and Reilly, 2007). In the 2009 NZCASS, Pacific peoples had the third highest rate of victimisation after Māori and 'other' ethnic groups, although the difference was not statistically significant (Morrison et al, 2010). The later survey also indicated that Pacific people:

- were the group significantly more likely to be 'very' or 'quite a lot' affected by crime
- were more likely to be victims of burglary
- had the lowest rates of reporting of all ethnic groups.

Pacific people are recognised as the population group in New Zealand most at-risk in terms of social and economic deprivation (Koloto, 2005; Mayhew and Reilly, 2007). The degree of impact of victimisation and low rates of reporting, along with the

³⁹ For a full understanding of Māori perspectives on justice, see Moana Jackson's work *The Māori and the Criminal Justice System: a new perspective: He Whaaipaanga Hou* (1987, 1988, 1989) and the Ministry of Justice's (2001) *He Hinatore ki to Ao Māori – A Glimpse into the Māori World: Māori perspectives on justice.*

distinctive and separate needs of what is a diverse ethnic group, suggest special attention is required to ensure adequate access to support and justice services when victimised.⁴⁰ Recognition of this in part led police to develop their 'Pacific Peoples Responsiveness Strategy, 2002–2006'.

Qualitative research with 90 New Zealand Pacific victims of violence, family violence and property offences by Koloto (2003, 2005) found Pacific peoples underused formal support services, preferring instead to access informal support systems, primarily family and friends (59%), neighbours (3%) and pastor/church members (3%).

Another qualitative study by Wurtzburg (2003) identified a number of barriers to reporting and accessing justice for Pacific Island women living in Christchurch who were victims of family violence. Key considerations for meeting the needs of this group include:

- recognition of cultural and intergenerational diversity and that there ought to be no 'one-size-fits-all' response (ACC, 2008)
- need for diverse forms of services, but particularly support service provided 'by Pacific for Pacific people' (Koloto, 2003)
- importance of relevant information being provided in Pacific languages (Wurtzburg, 2003)
- changing attitudes that condone violence, or which discourage victims from seeking help outside of the family (Koloto, 2005; Wurtzburg, 2003)
- understanding of Pacific holistic approaches to health and wellbeing, including involvement of extended family/aiga (Tiatia, 2008; Wurtzburg, 2003), and understanding the role of Christianity, spirituality and the pivotal role of the church (ACC, 2008; Epati, 1995; Wurtzburg, 2003)
- acknowledging traditional systems of cultural and social justice based on the notion that communal interest overrides that of the individual (Epati, 1995); recognising that restorative justice principles may be more acceptable than existing Western approaches (Epati, 1995; Koloto, 2003).

4.4.3 Asian New Zealanders

Census figures from 2001 show that people of Asian ethnicity are the fastest growing group in New Zealand (Tse and Hoque, 2006). However, it is important to note that the term 'Asian' extends across people from at least 28 different countries, and thus covers a diverse range of cultural, linguistic, social, religious and political backgrounds. As prominent researcher Samson Tse notes, diversity amongst Asians is more significant than any commonalities (Tse and Hoque, 2006). This poses

⁴⁰ Pacific peoples in New Zealand consist of diverse ethnic groups with distinct similarities and differences. The seven main Pacific groups are Samoan, Cook Islands, Tongan, Niuean, Fijian, Tokelauan and Tuvaluan. Although there are some similarities between these groups, each has its own cultural beliefs, values, traditions, language, social structure and history. Moreover, within each group there are subgroups such as those born or raised in New Zealand, those born and raised overseas, and those who identify with multiple ethnicities (see Mossman et al, 2009a)

significant problems and challenges in understanding and responding to the health and social needs of this wide group.

The New Zealand Police recognised the unique needs of ethnic minorities and commissioned research on ethnic minorities' perceptions of the police. This research revealed significant barriers of this group in reporting to police (Ho et al, 2006).⁴¹ In response police developed 'Working together with Ethnic Communities – Police Ethnic Strategy towards 2010'.

As a group Asians did not feature strongly in victimisation statistics in the 2009 NZCASS survey. The one noteworthy finding was significantly low ratings of confidence in the police, high numbers who reported feeling unsafe walking alone after dark, and high levels of general fear about being victimised (Morrison et al, 2010).

No research was located exploring the experiences or needs of Asian victims of crime in a generic sense. What exists appears limited to research in relation to interventions and needs of Asian victims of family violence (eg, CSRE, 2011; Ministry of Women's Affairs, 2010; Tse, 2007), elder abuse (Park, 2006), research on the wider health status and service needs of Asian people (see Tse and Hoque, 2006 for a review) and effective mental health interventions (Pedersen, 2006). The research report by Ho et al (2006) was not focused on victims of crime, but a substantial number of participants were victims of crime. Some of the key issues in responding to Asian victims of crime identified by this research include:

- recognition of differences in languages, cultural and premigration experiences and thus the limitations of generic approaches to providing support (Ho et al, 2006; Tse and Hoque, 2006)
- country-of-origin experience of policing influences perceptions and willingness to engage with New Zealand Police (Ho et al, 2006)
- difficulties in accessing healthcare and social services due to language barriers, and lack of awareness, comfort or confidence in the medical and social welfare systems of the host country (Tse and Hoque, 2006). Thus the importance of providing culturally and linguistically appropriate services
- findings that gender-based violence is prevalent in some subgroups, often coupled with low rates of seeking help due to language barriers, desire to keep marriage intact, and fears of ostracism and/or isolation from their family and cultural community if victims report their experiences (CSRE, 2011; Ministry of Women's Affairs, 2010; Tse, 2007)
- recognition that traditional Asian cultures typically perceive the individual in their wider group or societal context, in contrast to the individualism common to Western cultures (Pedersen, 2006)
- growing concerns over elder abuse and neglect among Asian-New Zealanders; this is believed to be a serious problem that remains hidden due to specific

41

This research involved interviews with 108 participants from eight ethnic communities including Chinese, Indian, Korean, Japanese, Vietnamese, Cambodian, Somali and Middle Eastern.

cultural characteristics and social situations of ethnic minority groups (Park, 2006).

Innovative practice – website catering for diversity

The UK's Prosecution Service has a user friendly website that includes their ten point 'Prosecutor Pledge' in 12 languages, and with a function for resources to be read aloud. There are also stories for children of young people being a witness. (http://www.cps.gov.uk/victims_witnesses/)

4.5 Stocktake summary

- There is good high-level evidence on who is most at risk of victimisation, selfreported effects from different types of crime, and characteristics of those most affected.
- There is also detailed qualitative information on the experiences of certain crime types (victims of sexual violence and families of victims of homicide).
- The impact of vehicle theft has received little attention despite being associated with more significant effects on victims than other property crimes.
- There has been little attention paid to factors protective against the impact of victimisation (eg, coping mechanisms, availability of social supports).
- There has been less research on the characteristics likely to increase the impact of victimisation and/or delay recovery from victimisation. Reliable information is lacking on the needs of victims who are Māori, Pacific peoples and Asian; and other factors increasing vulnerability (ethnic minorities, migrants, refugees, intimidated witnesses).
- NZCASS findings point to 'inherent disadvantage' as being the underlying factor leading to heightened risk of victimisation. Yet many disadvantaged people are also hard to reach. Understanding how to identify and respond to the needs of this group of victims would appear to be a priority.

5 State responses – victims' rights and standards of care

Key points

- Victims' rights instruments have been developed and implemented in most jurisdictions around the world. They are variously referred to as Victims' Rights Acts, Charters, Codes of Practice, Protocols or Guidelines. These constitute the main state response aimed at protecting victims' rights and achieving adequate standards of care.
- Most victims' rights instruments are based on the 1985 UN Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power.
- Provisions within victims' rights' instruments are generally not legally enforceable. Monitoring compliance is therefore essential to victims' receiving the services to which they are entitled.
- The existence of a centralised and dedicated agency or centre for crime victims' issues is likely to support victims' rights reform.

The preceding chapters have highlighted the nature and extent of the adverse effects of crime on victims, including the risk of secondary victimisation for those seeking justice through the criminal justice system. This chapter examines state responses here in New Zealand, and in other jurisdictions, aimed at protecting victims' rights and personal welfare, and supporting them in their healing and recovery. This includes the development of legislation and other codes, charters, guidelines and protocols, as well as the use of centralised service centres dedicated to victims of crime. Material reviewed is largely descriptive as once again there have been few attempts to research the comparative effectiveness of responses.

Bradford (2011) suggests that contact with the criminal justice system ideally should provide recognition of the harm that the victim has suffered to enable the victim to obtain redress, and promote the healing process. However, as Herman (2003) notes if the rights of a crime victim are not protected "victims who chose to seek justice may (further) risk their health, safety and mental health" (Herman, 2003, p159). Achieving optimal conditions, where victims can access justice without risk of suffering further harms as a consequence, is a key aim of victims' rights instruments. Also central to these efforts is ensuring crime victims have access to high-quality support services to assist them in their healing and recovery.

5.1 Victims' rights

Victims' rights have been specified and promulgated in most jurisdictions around the developed world. These are variously enacted in Victims' Rights Acts, Charters, Codes of Practice, Protocols or Guidelines. Some are expressed in statutory instruments which prescribe minimum standards, while others are looser guides or protocols:

- Victims' Rights Acts or Victims' Bill of Rights⁴² (eg, New Zealand's Victims' Rights Act 2002, and also found in the US, Canada and Australia) – specific victims' rights, such as for compensation, reparation and participation in parole processes, can be included in related legislation⁴³
- Victims' Rights Charters, Codes and Protocols these lay out minimum standards of care that a victim should expect. Some of these are statutory instruments (eg, UK's *Code of Practice for Victims of Crime*) others are looser guidelines (eg, *New Zealand Victim Charter* 2007)
- Professional Codes of Ethics laying out standards of care for professionals who are working with victims. This includes codes of conduct (eg, New Zealand Police Code of Conduct) or practice guidelines (eg, New Zealand's Crown Law, Victims of Crime Guidance for Prosecutors, or UK's Prosecutors and Policing Pledges). In other jurisdictions codes of ethics have been developed specifically for victim service providers, either at a state level (eg, US Attorney General Guidelines for Victim and Witness Assistance) or by community organisations (eg, European Forum for Victim Services Standards 1999, or Rape Crisis Network for Europe standards).

The latter group aim to improve the professional practice of those working with victims of crime, while the first two refer more specifically to victims' rights and minimum standards of care. Separating out the differences between these two categories can be difficult, as standards of victims' service provision are also underpinned by victim rights (Dunn, 2007). The three types are not mutually exclusive, and some countries, like New Zealand, have all three.

The majority of victims' rights instruments around the world have been based on the 1985 *UN Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power.*⁴⁴ Later, in 2005, the UN used these principles and the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child to develop guidelines on matters involving child victims and witnesses.

For this reason it is useful to review the content of the UN Declaration and consider recently proposed revisions. The ten fundamental rights of victims incorporated in the Declaration are summarised by Groenhuijsen (2009, p8):

- to be treated with compassion and for the dignity of the victim to be respected
- to receive information

⁴² In some jurisdictions a 'Bill of Rights' can be enacted to have superior rule over lower order Acts; however, in others it appears to have the same legal standing as an Act. In New Zealand Bills are also used to describe legislation that is proposes, as with the Victims' of Crime Reform Bill 2011.

⁴³ For example in New Zealand provisions for victims' rights are included in the *Prisoners' and Victims' Claims Act 2005, Injury Prevention, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 2001,* and amendments to the *Sentencing Act 2002, Summary Proceedings Act 1957,* the *Bail Act 2000* and the *Parole Act 2002*

⁴⁴ Also influential in Europe have been the 1985 Council of Europe Recommendation on the Position of the Victim in the Framework of Criminal Law and Procedure and the 1983 European Convention on the Compensation of Victims of Violent Crimes.

- to provide information to authorities; for the views of the victim to be considered in the course of criminal proceedings
- to have proper assistance throughout the legal process
- to protect privacy, and physical safety
- to participate in any formal dispute resolution (restorative justice was not included in the 1985 UN Declaration)
- to receive social assistance
- to receive restitution from the offender
- to receive state compensation.

5.1.1 Moral or legal rights?

A legal right is one that, when violated, the state has an obligation to provide a remedy and means to restore that right (O'Connell, 2011). In contrast, the Declaration is a non-binding instrument, and most instruments that have incorporated the rights outlined do not provide for legal redress. As Herman (2010) notes:

We passed hundreds...of victims' rights laws at the state and federal level, and somehow forgot enforcement mechanisms. (Herman, 2010, p5)

New Zealand's *Victims Right Act 2002*, similar to others (eg, South Australia, New South Wales and Queensland) expressly states that no legal action can be taken for breaches of provisions. For this reason instruments tend be described as largely symbolic, outlining moral rather than legal rights (Booth and Carrington, 2007, Walklate, 2007).

There are exceptions: the *South Australian Correctional Services Act 1988* provides penalties for non-compliance. For example, officials who breach confidentiality with respect to certain types of victim information can be fined up to \$10,000.

Also in the US the *Justice for All Act* 2004 requires US Attorney General officers to complete and submit annual compliance reports. Employees can have their employment suspended or terminated for failing to comply with these provisions. Perhaps most notably, in the US the *Victims of Crime Act* 2004 outlines rights that are legally binding for victims of federal crime cases.

In general, however, the lack of enforcement provided for in legal instruments points to the importance of monitoring compliance and ensuring a good complaints system – these are discussed later.

5.1.2 Amendments to the UN Declaration

Victimologists have been frustrated by the lack of progress following the UN Declaration. Despite efforts to promote its effective implementation Groenhuijsen considers many of the provisions in the UN Declaration are not being achieved in developing and developed countries. For example, a comparative study of 22 European countries found that rates of information provision to victims who were entitled to it never exceeded 70%. Further the extent to which victims obtained courtordered reparation from offenders was even poorer, at around just 30% in most countries (Brienen & Hoegen, 2000 cited in Groenhuijsen, 2009 and Van Dijk & Groenhuijsen, 2007). For this reason Groenhuijsen advocates that the Declaration be replaced by a convention, which would increase visibility, as well as pressure governments to treat provisions more seriously. A convention could also provide a framework for analysis to assess progress and evaluate developments.

In addition to translating the Declaration to a convention, Groenhuijsen and colleagues propose the following revisions and/or additions. These proposals reflect the shift in thinking over the last 25 years on how best to protect victims' rights: ⁴⁵

- recognition of the uniqueness of victims by inclusion of non-discrimination clauses (victims cannot be discriminated against on the basis of age, gender, sexual-orientation etc) and clearer statements on delivering special services to victims who are particularly vulnerable
- elevating the importance of preventing repeat victimisation reflecting greater understanding of the prevalence and impact of repeat victimisation
- **introducing rights to appeal a decision not to prosecute** providing some protection against inaction by the prosecution service, without having to take the expensive and often unproductive option of a private prosecution
- greater efforts to ensure **state enforcement of reparation orders**, rather than making it the responsibility of the victim to recover monies owed them⁴⁶
- clarification of information victims are entitled to a) about services, b) the type of support available, c) how to report an offence, d) procedures following an offence, e) how to receive protection, f) how to get legal advice and legal aid, g) requirements for them to be entitled to compensation, h) where and how they can obtain more information. Also information specifically requested such as a) outcome of a complaint, b) the court's sentence, c) informing the victim of the release of the convicted offender.
- specific inclusion of access to victim-orientated restorative justice
- **inclusion of monitoring and implementation provisions,** including establishment of a Committee on Justice and Support for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power with similar roles to other UN Convention committees.

5.1.3 Approaches to victims' rights in different jurisdictions

A distinction can be drawn between jurisdictions which follow a rights-based approach, and those that focus legislative imperatives within the criminal justice

⁴⁵ A draft Convention has been drafted following an expert meeting in December 2005; it was subsequently circulated for review before being finalised. Work is ongoing for the proposed Convention to be accepted.

⁴⁶ Research showed countries with state enforcement recovered as much as 80-90 percent of awards, compared to around 25% in countries that left it to the victim. The Netherlands has gone one step further in adopting a rule that where reparation is not recovered, the government pays the court ordered reparation (Groenhuijsen, 2009).

system itself. New Zealand, United States and Canada fit better in the first category with state and/or federal legislation providing for specific rights for victims. In contrast, in European countries the emphasis has been on the provision of training to improve responses and/or commands to the criminal justice system to take on duties related to the provision of victim services. According to Shapland (2009) the situation in Britain is different again, with government taking a more low-key, persuasive approach towards agencies' efforts to develop responses and services to victims.

Specific details of the status and approach to victims' rights in Australia, Britain, Canada, the US, and South Africa appear in <u>Appendix A</u>.

5.2 Implementing victims' rights reform

The realisation of provisions within victims' rights instruments is dependent on their implementation. Potential barriers to successful implementation of reforms taken by different jurisdictions included:⁴⁷

- Agency awareness: agencies must be fully aware of instruments and/or their provisions if their principles are to be implemented. Poor levels of awareness by agencies were noted as a problem with the UK Code of Practice (Payne, 2009; Mawby 2007). Another report indicated that 25% of police forces in the Netherlands were unaware of pre-trial guidelines relating to victims released five years earlier (Groenhuijsen, 2010).
- **Unrealistic expectations**: provisions that are unrealistic (eg, timeframes for providing information that are unachievable) raise victims' expectations with resulting decreases in satisfaction and confidence in the criminal justice system (eg, Victim Support UK, 2011).
- **Inaccessible to victims**: principles must be easily understood by victims (and service providers) in order for victims to understand their rights and know how to take appropriate action (eg, Ministry of Justice UK, 2012; Department of Justice and Constitutional Development South Africa, 2010). Payne (2009) found none of the victims she interviewed in the UK were aware of their rights.⁴⁸
- **Poor drafting of content**: Mawby (2007) pointed out that a role for voluntary agencies is entirely missing from the UK's Code of Practice, and that as a result their opportunity to participate and deliver services is diminished. Further, if content is largely process orientated, confusion is created when responsibilities of different agencies overlap (eg, provision of information at court).
- Large numbers of independently run agencies involved in criminal justice system: Shapland (2009) notes that change is more difficult to achieve when the criminal justice system is made up of a series of independent parts, each retaining power over its own jurisdiction (eg, England and Wales). It is easier to achieve change in systems where there are fewer parts, or where there are clearly defined authority structures by which to initiate change (eg, Netherlands).

⁴⁷ Examples frequently refer to the UK's Code of Practice, however, this is partly a reflection of availability of published material on the success of its implementation.

⁴⁸ The *Alberta Victims of Crime Protocol* is also very detailed consisting of 92 pages.

Factors associated with successful implementation of legislation included the following (Cook et al, 1999; Groenhuijsen, 2009; Victim Support UK, 2011; Van Dijk and Groenhuijsen, 2007; Waller, 2003):

- Effective steering groups composed of relevant stakeholders (eg, police, prosecution, corrections, probation, health, victim service providers).
- **Supportive attitudes of relevant officials** that are accepting of innovation and change (eg, those running agencies and also frontline personnel).
- Mandatory training programmes to ensure those providing victim services are aware of victim issues. Specialist training can also be effective at changing attitudes and knowledge. An evaluation of 22 European Union countries revealed those with the most comprehensive training programmes for police officers on victim reception and treatment had been most successful in the operational implementation of policies.
- **Provision of adequate resources** to fund senior positions in relevant ministries to have a dedicated responsibility for victims' issues, like in the US and Canada. Also resourcing for dedicated centres for victims of crime.
- Monitoring of compliance (discussed below).

Monitoring compliance

While development of a victims' rights instrument is an important step, as Van Dijk and Groenhuijsen (2007) point out they do not execute themselves. Indeed significant discrepancies were noted between existence of legislation and daily practices across jurisdictions. Evaluation and monitoring of implementation is in fact essential. A useful framework for carrying out evaluation reforms was developed by Brienen and Hoegen (2000) to assist in their assessment of legislative compliance in 22 countries (cited in Van Dijk and Groenhuijsen, 2007). They described their framework as a 'development model' which consists of three levels (1) assessing the content of the legislation, (2) assessing adherence to good practice, and (3) monitoring daily practice.⁴⁹ This latter category has most relevance for individual countries monitoring of compliance, and indicators included:

- · counts of victim impact statements made
- counts of applications for alternative ways of giving evidence
- determining if information had been supplied as prescribed
- amounts of reparation recovered
- rates of offences reported by the public (this latter factor is important as reforms can only have an impact if people are engaging with the system)

⁴⁹ Assessment of best practice being achieved was based on what Brienen and Hoegen (2000) referred to as 'genuine progress indicators'. These included opt-in information systems – to ensure only those that want information receive it; enforcement of compensation/restitution orders on behalf of the victim; judicial review of final decisions not to prosecute; protection of personal victim information; provision of information on the offender's release from custody; the existence of regular flow of victims' research and evaluation studies on legal reform.

- research on consumer satisfaction
- extent to which demand for victim services is being met.

Complaints system

An accessible complaints system enables victims of crime to provide important feedback to agencies on their performance and suggestions for improvements to practice (Payne, 2009; Victoria Auditor General, 2011). In New Zealand at present, those who wish to complain are required to navigate different processes in each of the agencies involved (Ministry of Justice, 2011c). The Victims of Crime Reform Bill, expected to be passed in 2012, will require specific government agencies to report annually to Parliament on victim complaints, and increase the accountability and responsibility of government agencies providing services to victims.

A simplified process, preferably with a single point of contact, has been achieved in some jurisdictions by the establishment of a Victims' Rights Commissioner to oversee complaints (eg, England, Northern Ireland, South Australia, Canada and the US), similar to the Health and Disability Commissioner here in New Zealand. The Commissioner for South Australia monitors compliance with the Declaration of Principles Governing Treatment of Victims in the Criminal Justice System. In 2010–11 the Commissioner received 143 complaints, 583 enquiries about compensation, including grievances, and 201 enquires and/or requests for advocacy (O'Connell, 2011). The most common grievances were:

- failure to keep the victim informed and complaints that the victim has been left out
 of the criminal justice process (for example, not asked to provide information
 about safety fears to a bail authority; not consulted by the prosecutor; not given
 opportunity to make a victim impact statement)
- receiving services that were predominantly designed to facilitate the criminal investigation rather than address the victims' needs.

In Victoria, the Ombudsmen for Victoria developed guidelines for complaint handling. These include principles of fairness, transparency of access, responsiveness, privacy and confidentiality, accountability, business improvement, and ongoing internal review).⁵⁰ These were used in evaluating how complaints against the Victorian Charter were handled (Victoria Auditor General, 2011).

5.3 Dedicated crime victims centres

The existence of a centralised and dedicated centre for crime victims' issues is likely to also support victims' rights reform (Groenhuijsen, 2009; Waller, 2003). In an early review of services across Australia, Cook et al (1999) concluded that those states or territories that had such centres had more effective service delivery, better interagency relationships and enhanced systems of referral. Hence, the establishment of the Victims Centre here in New Zealand can be considered in line

⁵⁰

See http://www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au/www/html/93-foreword.asp

with recognised good practice. These centres can carry out a range of rights-related roles including:

- developing a structured and coordinated strategy for rights reform
- overseeing implementation of victims' rights reforms, and monitoring compliance
- coordinating and sometimes administering services (eg, helplines, victims register). Some centres operate a referral system. Most publish a directory of services and make online resources available
- conducting research and in some cases managing a clearing house for the dissemination of research related to victims of crime rights
- providing a crime victim rights focus to policy development
- allocation of funding
- providing a forum for interagency communication and for working with agencies in the formulation of guidelines
- public awareness campaigns on crime victims' issues, including running 'crime victims week', and national and international conferences
- coordination and development of training and certification for those who work with victims.

Some specific examples of dedicated victims centres appear in <u>Appendix B</u> together with details of their unique characteristics.

5.4 Stocktake summary

- Evidence of effectiveness of different approaches to victims' rights reform is limited to reviews of 22 EU countries and countries that participate in the ICVS. This has resulted in some analysis of factors associated with more successful implementation of victims' rights policies.
- Overall there is a lack of in-country monitoring of the implementation of reforms.
- Information was located on effective complaints systems.

Part three: Good practice service and support responses

Part two of this report has outlined the wide range of potential consequences those victimised by crime can experience, and how these can vary according to the characteristics of the victim and/or type of crime. It also considered government responses to protect victims' rights and address the needs resulting from crime victimisation. This next part of the report reviews available literature on what is currently known or being embraced as good practice in service and support to respond to victims' needs, and has been grouped into responses delivered by:

- victim service providers
- mental health professionals
- criminal justice agencies.

Before presenting the literature on good practice responses there is discussion on how good practice is determined, and a brief sketch of the types of support services available to victims of crime. There is also consideration of two issues critical to the effectiveness of service delivery that spans all areas of service provision: (1) the accessibility of services and (2) the use of screening and assessments to identify needs and appropriately target services. This part of the report ends with research looking at the benefits of an integrated service response.

Good practice responses include both a type of service or programme (eg, a specialised child witness support programme) as well as principles of delivery (eg, being respectful, culturally appropriate etc). This section focuses primarily on the former – types of services and programmes that are promoted as good practice.

In reviewing this section it must be remembered that a literature review by definition covers only written material. It can be assumed that certain selection biases will affect which types of practices are evaluated and/or written about in the professional literature. There may be other responses that are used by practitioners and victims, but are not described or evaluated by knowledge makers. Hence, the support service responses highlighted should by no means be considered a complete or definitive inventory of good practice.

Further, this section focuses only on formalised responses (eg, agencies providing support to victims of crime and criminal justice system responses). It is important to recognise that many, even a majority, of crime victims do not seek formal support services, instead relying on either their personal resources or support from families or friends.⁵¹ Research with victims of sexual violence and families of homicide victims cite this informal support as most important and helpful source of support (Kingi and Jordan, 2009; Kingi, 2011), as well as recognising the importance of a wide range of

⁵¹

The 2006 NZCASS found 81% of crime victims talked to family, relatives, friends and neighbours about what happened, while only 11% of those who told someone, had contact with a support agency (Mayhew & Reilly, 2008).

self-support measures including accessing online resources (Kingi and Jordan, 2009).

6 Introduction to good practice responses

Key points

- The term 'good practice' is widely used but typically without appropriate criteria for identifying approaches or programmes as 'good practice'. What is considered as 'good practice' can vary based on the outcomes against which good practice is evaluated, who has the power and resources to define good practice, and the criteria used to judge good practice.
- In developed countries, a wide array of programmes and services now exist to address crime victims' needs. These programmes and services largely fall into two overlapping domains: (1) those that serve to alleviate victims' suffering, whether psychological, physical or financial, and (2) those that facilitate victims' participation in the criminal justice system.
- Accessibility is a critical issue in providing victim support. Victims must be aware of what services are available, and the services offered must be acceptable to victims (eg, culturally appropriate). Automatic referral systems such as employed by New Zealand Police increase support service uptake.
- Effective screening and assessment ensures the right services get to the right people, and is of particular importance in relation to mental health services and criminal justice support.

6.1 Understanding what constitutes 'good practice'

Investigations in the area of victim services reveal that the term 'good practice' is used fairly loosely, with little clarity as to the criteria used for identifying an approach or programme as good practice. In reviewing service responses to victim/survivors of sexual violence Mossman et al (2009a) proposed several considerations for using the term 'good practice'.

6.1.1 What are the outcomes against which good practice is evaluated?

As discussed above, victims of crime have many and varied needs, and hence the multiple outcomes that could be pursued through service delivery. For some victims the focus may be alleviation of emotional distress, for others it is the successful prosecution of an offender, for others gaining adequate financial compensation. What is considered 'good practice' will also vary according to a victim's cultural background, their age and the type of crime experienced. In recognition of these differences there has been a growing tendency to move away from seeking to identify 'best' practice to acknowledging the range of 'good' practices.

Not only are there differences on what the key outcomes might be from the victims' perspective, but there is also much diversity in the purposes and priorities of the

various agencies involved (eg, support agencies, police, prosecutors and the court, mental health providers). Whilst they may overlap, in some cases they may also be in conflict. An obvious example is a support agency seeking to prioritise the victim's need for validation and emotional support, while at the same time police are searching and questioning to obtain evidence, or perhaps assurance, that an alleged offence has indeed occurred (Jordan, 2001, 2008).

These differences in needs and priorities impact on what 'good practice' is being measured against.

6.1.2 Who assumes the authority to define good practice?

Typically it is professional organisations and government departments that have the resources and power to make the decisions, and write policies, which define good practice; on the other hand victims themselves are most aware of their interests and needs. Input from victims to this process is therefore important, otherwise organisations are in danger of devising systems that may be internally efficient but ineffective in meeting the needs of clients.

Another consideration is the country or culture on which good practice is based. New Zealand has limited resources for research compared to other countries such as the United States, United Kingdom and Australia. Hence, research on good practice tends to occur overseas, and careful consideration is needed concerning the applicability of findings to the New Zealand culture, particularly in relation to Māori victims of crime.

6.1.3 What criteria should be used to judge good practice?

Perhaps the most important consideration is what criteria are used to determine if a service is 'good practice'. As noted above, there is no clear consensus on this issue in the literature. Borrowing from definitions adopted by other disciplines, good practice can potentially be identified as that which conforms to the following criteria:

- evidence of effectiveness, based on sound research: normally this would mean effectiveness demonstrated through experimentally designed research (ie, randomised control trials) producing statistically significant results, and replicated by different researchers and/or different contexts.⁵² Unfortunately, as noted in the introduction to this review, very few victim assistance programmes have been rigorously evaluated using experimental or even quasi-experimental designs. Hence relying on this criterion of good practice alone would have limited value for this review. Others have also criticised this criterion as valuing the views of experts over those of service users (Ferguson, 2003).
- practice reflected in current trends with promising initial reports: some fields have come up with other terms to identify potentially useful practice but

⁵² 'Best practice' tends to be reserved for those studies achieving the highest level of research evidence, however, different terms such as 'promising practice' are used to identify interventions or practices that are supported by lesser levels of research evidence (eg, family violence programmes whose evaluations exhibit one or more design weaknesses (eg, lack of control or comparison group) but still offer convincing results (Cannon and Kilburn, 2003).

where evidence is limited (eg, 'worth watching' in the field of family violence where programmes have not been comprehensively evaluated but where initial reports are encouraging (Cooper, Warthe and Hoffart, 2004), or 'innovative practice' in the field of family planning/reproductive health to reflect new, possibly untested practice, but where the promise of innovation has been based on lessons learned from other practice domains (Advance Africa, 2005)).

• **knowledge-based practice** that recognises the validity of experience of professional practitioners and the 'lived experience' of service users (Glasby and Beresford, 2006). Mossman et al (2009a) noted this was the most common criteria to determine good practice in the sexual violence sector, partly due to the lack of 'evidence-based' research. Using this criteria, good practice could be determined based on consensus of opinion amongst professionals or clinicians, other recognised experts in the field, and the service users (ie, in this case, the victims of crime). Also relevant is where a practice or initiative had reached the policy implementation phase following government review (Amnesty International Australia, 2008).

For the purposes of this review, good practice has been defined as that identified by sound research and/or knowledge-based practice.

6.2 Types and timing of support and services

Across the developed world a wide array of programmes and services now exist to address crime victims' needs (Cook et al, 1999; Sims et al, 2006; Stohr, 2005; United Nations, 1999). These programmes and services largely fall into two overlapping domains: (1) those that serve to alleviate victims' suffering, whether psychological, physical or financial, and (2) those that facilitate victims' participation in the criminal justice system.

Common services and programmes include:

- 24-hour helplines
- crisis intervention immediately following the crime
- support programmes that provide practical assistance, information and referrals
- counselling programmes to address emotional wellbeing (short and long-term)
- shelters for victims of family violence
- support during the reporting and investigation of a crime
- court support initiatives for victims and witnesses, including familiarisation with court facilities and processes and assistance in preparing victim impact statements
- financial compensation programmes
- notification programmes to inform victims of status of offender (eg, bail, parole, escape or release)
- restorative justice programmes
- crime prevention programmes to provide protection against further victimisation.

In New Zealand programmes and services are provided by community-based service providers and/or government agencies.

These support services and programmes span four possible phases (see Olle, 2005; United Nations, 1999; Wallace, 2007):

- **Crisis phase responses:** Addressing personal safety, emotional support, medical, information and practical needs immediately following the crime.
- Short-term phase responses: Assisting with needs arising in the period following the crime. For those involved with the criminal justice system this would typically span the reporting, investigation and support during court preparation, and managing the trial processes and outcomes. For serious crimes this phase may need to extend over months or even years.
- Long-term phase responses: Counselling, support and treatment to manage ongoing mental health concerns (eg, PTSD). Counselling needs for some victims can intensify after the court phase, at which stage they may be more ready to confront emotional issues (Victim Support UK, 2006). Victims who have received serious physical injury may of course also require long-term medical care and support.
- **Delayed responses:** Some victims may avoid dealing with the trauma of their victimisation, attempting to simply get on with their lives, but with emotional symptoms surfacing years later; this has been observed with sexual violence victims when the person enters a sexual relationship and is beset by conflicts associated with trust and intimacy (Burgess and Hazelwood, 1999; Jordan, 2012).

In designing an appropriate framework for service provision, stocktakes are useful in identifying duplication of services, and where gaps in provision exist (Sims et al, 2006). Unlike other countries such as Canada (see Sauvé, 2010) there has been no stocktake in New Zealand of providers of services to all victims of crime (although the Ministry of Justice is currently in the process of planning to undertake one). There have, however, been several stocktakes of New Zealand providers of specialist sexual violence services that have looked at what services are provided by whom and to what groups (see Mossman et al, 2009b; Te Ohaakii a Hine: National Network Ending Sexual Violence together – Tauiwi Caucus, 2009; and also Hamilton-Katene, 2009 for a stocktake of kaupapa and tikanga Māori services).

The Ministry of Justice has recently completed a review of the services provided by government agencies (Ministry of Justice, 2011c).⁵³ The review identified crime victim services were provided by the following ten government agencies:

- New Zealand Police
- Police Prosecution Service (PPS)
- Crown Law Office and Crown Solicitors

⁵³ This was a working paper to assist with reforms outlined in the Victims of Crime Reform Bill. The report will be out of date once the Victims of Crime Reform Bill is passed and commences.

- Ministry of Justice
- Ministry of Social Development (Child, Youth and Family)
- Department of Corrections
- The Parole Board
- Department of Labour
- Ministry of Health
- Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC).

Services varied greatly in their level of engagement to victims, with the extent of their roles dependent on the agency's primary focus of service delivery. Some services such as Court Services for Victims are dedicated to serving victims, while other services are an adjunct to a wider criminal justice agency's role (see <u>Appendix C</u> for a description of services provided by each agency).

This review of government services highlights the extensive range of victim service responses that must be effective and of high quality in order to fully meet the needs of victims of crime.

6.2.1 Accessibility of services

Accessibility is a critical issue to ensuring victims receive the support and services they need. International research had consistently found that only a small proportion of crime victims seek help from formal support networks (McCart et al, 2010; New and Berliner, 2000; Sims et al, 2005). While seeking help in New Zealand has been found to be greater than other countries (Van Dijk et al, 2008), the 2006 NZCASS still found as few as 4% of victims sought help from a victim-oriented service provider (Mayhew and Reilly, 2008). While it is accepted that many victims do not necessarily require assistance (Dunn, 2007; Verdun-Jones and Rossiter, 2010), the 2006 NZCASS found 13% expressed the desire for a greater level of assistance or advice (Mayhew and Reilly, 2008).

To be effective in meeting their needs, victims have to be aware of what is available to them. Awareness of services among crime victims is typically low, particularly among Asian and Pacific peoples. NZCASS 2009 findings suggest over half of these groups, 63% and 58% respectively, could not identify a victim support provider to go to). It is also important that services are victim-friendly. Sections <u>4.2</u>, <u>4.3</u> and <u>4.4</u> noted a number of barriers to accessing support for some subgroups of victims.

Efficient referral methods are also important to increasing access to a service. Automatic systems of referral of victims of crime by New Zealand Police to victim service providers may explain why New Zealand has among the highest take-up rates of support services by victims, in comparison to other countries (Van Dijk et al, 2008).

Innovative practices – increasing awareness

Other jurisdictions try to raise **public awareness** of needs and services for victims of crime through running media campaigns (eg, 'Victims' Rights Weeks' held annually in the US, Canada and South Africa) or organised conferences (eg, Annual Crime Victims conference held by in the US see <u>http://governor.ks.gov/docs/documents</u> /2011/03/16/2011-cvrc-brochure.pdf)

Other initiatives to increase accessibility have included **outreach services to rural areas** in Australia (see Waters, 2011) and the use of **video-conferencing** to provide treatment to rural victims of family and sexual violence (Hassija & Gray, 2011); also, use of **internet-based interventions** in emergency departments to prevent PTSD (Mouthaan et al, 2011).

6.2.2 Screening and assessment – identifying those most in need of intervention

There is increasing recognition of the importance of screening and assessment with crime victims (Amstadter et al, 2007; Carlson and Dutton, 2003; Hanson and Brown, 2010). Effective screening and assessment ensures the right services get to the right people including appropriate practical assistance, mental health services and criminal justice support.

Screening and assessment can be used in the following ways:

- Frontline responses: Frontline responders are often non-clinicians, and screening tools enable identification of trauma symptoms or other mental health consequences that might otherwise go undetected. Routine screening tools for trauma symptoms can be applied by frontline agencies (eg, police, emergency departments, Victim Support NZ, specialised sexual violence support services (SSVS), Women's Refuge) to identify those experiencing crime-related mental health impacts, thereby enabling referral for further assessment and treatment (Hanson and Brown, 2010; McBrearty, 2011)
- **Mental health providers**: routinely probing for a history of previous crime victimisation amongst those who access mental health services for other reasons, may usefully identify those with crime-related trauma (eg, PTSD, dissociation, traumatic grief) (Carlson and Dutton, 2003; Hembree and Foa, 2003; Howard et al, 2010; O'Brien, 2010).
- **Court-based needs assessments**: An approach to ensuring victims and witnesses' needs are addressed while attending court. The UK Witness Care Units carry out such assessments with witnesses. This gives victims the opportunity to request forms of assistance such as escort to and/or from the court, or special support when taking the witness stand (Sanders and Jones, 2007).

Hanson and Brown (2010) review a number of screening and assessment tools designed to screen for crime victimisation history, and assess crime-related mental

health consequences, most notably PTSD. Their particular focus is the utility of these tools in medical or mental health settings. They note that the choice of tool will depend on the purpose of the assessment:

- if it is to assess crime-related symptoms specifically, or to assess symptoms related to multiple traumas
- a measurement tool's psychometric properties and administration time
- whether the tool is used to yield psychiatric diagnoses
- the tool's utility in assessing treatment outcome.

Considering the nature of crime victimisation, the importance of carrying out screening and assessment in a sensitive and empathetic manner is also stressed (Hanson and Brown, 2010; Amstadter et al, 2007).

6.3 Stocktake summary

- The Ministry of Justice has recently completed a stocktake of victim services provided by government agencies. A similar stocktake of New Zealand community-based services is currently being planned. Currently information on who provides what type of victim services, and particularly who provides services to the more hard-to-reach groups is unknown. Other countries have found this type of stocktake useful in identifying duplication of services, and also where gaps in service provision exist.
- There has been some research on screening and assessment tools for mental health issues, but less on instruments that assess a broader range of crime victims' needs (eg, safety, medical needs and ongoing areas of risk for future victimisation).

7 Support from community-based victim service providers

Key points

- Community-based providers usefully offer a range of support services to victims including 24-hour helplines, crisis support, practical assistance, support accessing financial resources, information provision, referral to other services, emotional support, and court support.
- Evaluations have found high levels of victim satisfaction with support services. However, the little research on the effectiveness of these services, has not yet demonstrated their ability to achieve positive impacts on mental health outcomes. More research is needed to understand if programmes are indeed ineffective or whether research is not focusing on the right outcomes.
- Research has found an association between contact with victim service providers and increased participation in, and satisfaction of, the criminal justice system. There also appears to be evidence of increased use of safety behaviours, and access to other community resources.

In New Zealand there are several community-based victim service providers who typically deliver multiple types of services including crisis support, practical assistance, helping to access financial resources, information provision, referral to other services, emotional support, and court support.⁵⁴

- Victim Support NZ works with victims of all types of crime, and so deal with the majority of victims.⁵⁵ They have a 24-hour helpline, offer crisis support, practical assistance, information and referrals, and support during criminal justice system involvement. Victim Support NZ also administers financial grants to reimburse victims for costs arising from certain crimes. It also provides a specialist homicide support programme.
- Specialist Sexual Violence Service providers (SSVS)⁵⁶ focus on victims of sexual violence. Like Victim Support NZ they typically have 24-hour helplines, offer crisis support, practical assistance, information and referrals, and support during criminal justice system involvement. Most SSVS provide counselling services, whereas Victim Support NZ makes referrals for counselling.

⁵⁴ 'Victim service provider' is used as a generic term referring to all types of community-based service providers that work with victims of crime.

⁵⁵ Victim Support also work with individuals who have been victims of serious trauma including sudden deaths and natural disasters.

⁵⁶ SSVS are delivered by a variety of NGOs, including rape crisis centres, HELP Foundation Sexual Abuse Centres, and other independent rape and/or sexual assault centres. Te Ohaakii a Hine – National Network Ending Sexual Violence Together is the national collective of NGOs working in this sector.

- **Women's Refuge**⁵⁷ specialises in providing emergency housing to women and children who are victims of family violence, but also has a 24-hour crisis line and provides practical assistance, information, and referrals.
- Age Concern's **Elder Abuse and Neglect Prevention** (EANP) services provide support and services for victims of elder abuse.
- A range of community health providers also provide generalised support to victims, including Kaupapa Māori community providers.

This section reviews the limited research on the effectiveness of responses delivered by these types of victims' service providers – this excludes research on counselling interventions which is dealt with in the next section.

Innovative practices – Online discussion groups and resources for service providers

- Online learning communities (Discussion Group Forum). Office for Victims of Crime; Office of Justice Programs; U.S. Department of Justice (2011). "Help for victim service providers.". Retrieved 21 December, 2011, from http://ovc.ncjrs.gov/ovcproviderforum/.
- Online resources. Office for Victims of Crime Training and Technical Assistance Centre; Office for Victims of Crimes; Office of Justice Programs; U.S. Department of Justice; United States Government (2011). "OVC TTAC learning communities.". Retrieved 23 December, 2011, from https://www.ovcttac.gov/ views/LearningCommunities/dspLearningCommunities.cfm

7.1 Good practice responses from victim service providers

Internationally, a number of guideline documents have been published outlining appropriate responses, and recommended standards, for victim service providers. These include:

- Handbook on Justice for Victims (United Nations, 1999)
- Standards for Providing Counselling and Support Services for Victims of Crime (Victims of Crime Bureau, NSW, 2008)
- Victims of Crime: Victim Service Worker Handbook (B.C., Canada) (Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General, 2009)
- National Victims Assistance Consortium: Standard for Victims Assistance Programmes and Providers (South Carolina, US) (Dehart, 2003)
- Best Practice Guidelines: Crime Victims (Minnesota Department of Public Safety, 2010).

⁵⁷

National Collective of Independent Women's Refuges is the umbrella organisation for around 50 refuges across New Zealand. There are also refuges, not affiliated with National Collective, funded by government, church and community groups.

These guidelines typically consist of service delivery principles. Commonly included are the need for service providers to be respectful, confidential, empowering, responsive to individual needs, responses to be timely and prompt, the type of services that are most recommended (eg, 24-hour crisis, safety plans, revictimisation prevention) and minimum standards for agencies to operate by (eg, written guidelines, provision of professional supervision, training and development, programme evaluation).

While these guidelines appear to be based on sound principles, few of them cite empirical evidence to support their recommendations, although the UN Handbook provides an extensive list of international experts and professionals who were involved in the development of their guidelines.

7.2 Effectiveness studies – clinical outcomes

Just two peer-reviewed studies were located that purported to assess the effectiveness of victim assistance services (Davis, 1987; Sims et al, 2006). The first study focused on the effectiveness of crisis and early intervention,⁵⁸ while the second looked at a broader range of support services. Both were carried out in the US and both concluded that the effectiveness of victim assistance services was not supported.

These studies also looked at the effectiveness of specific services such as counselling interventions. The first study by Davis (1987) examined the effects of crisis intervention on post-crime adjustment of victims of a range of crimes (burglary, robbery, assault or rape). Remarkably, 249 victims whose offence had been recorded by police were randomly assigned to either a) crisis intervention with supportive counselling, b) crisis intervention with cognitive restructuring, c) material assistance only, d) no services. Participants were interviewed one month after the crime, and for those that could be reached (n=181) three months after. A series of standardised scales were used to assess mood, PTSD symptoms, general psychopathology, fear of crime and social readjustment. Davis found there had been substantial recovery for all victims in the first three months; however, despite positive appraisals by the victims, no benefits for victims in their psychological adjustment were found as a result of services received. Davis concluded that the typical interventions associated with crisis intervention are too brief to exert significant impact. He also suggested that any study of the effectiveness of victim support services should take into account the power of natural recovery that can occur within months of victimisation.

The other study located was carried out by Barbara Sims and colleagues in 2006. These US researchers used a cross-sectional design to compare functioning of 223 victims of crime who had received support services to 437 victims who had not. Those who received services were recruited via support agencies (community-based victim service programme, victim-witness programmes, domestic abuse centres, rape

⁵⁸

The study referred to the intervention as crisis intervention, but appeared rather to be an early intervention, delivered in the weeks after victimisation, rather than immediately after or within hours.

crisis centres). Functioning was assessed using the Outcome-Based Evaluation Tools (OBETS) scale designed by Pennsylvania Coalition Against Rape.⁵⁹ It measured a wide range of behavioural and physical areas of functioning. These included personal relationships, leisure activities, household responsibilities, sleeping habits, physical trauma manifestations, substance abuse, sexual functioning, aggressive behaviour, dissociation, risk-taking behaviour, personal hygiene, physical and psychological trauma manifestations, self-harm, eating habits, work and school performance, and parenting skills.

Sims et al (2006) found that 80% of those who received services were 'very satisfied' or 'satisfied' with the service received. However, they found no significant difference in levels of functioning between the two groups. The research instead identified two factors that were significantly correlated with post-crime functioning:

• the existence of coping skills

59

• age-older victims had more improved functioning.

A key limitation of Sims et al's (2006) study is that level of functioning at the time of the crime was not assessed; this is of course one of the inherent difficulties to all research with crime victims. Sims et al (2006) found that those who experienced a violent crime were more likely to use a victim service. Violent victimisation is associated with increased trauma, and it could be support services enabled them to recover to a greater extent, achieving a level of functioning similar to those who were less traumatised. The quality or intensity of services received was also not assessed in this study.

Stohr (2005) hypothesised that actual effectiveness of these types of interventions may increase if programmes were tailored more accurately to the needs of victims who participate (ie, better targeting). Another consideration applicable to both studies is that improving psychological functioning is just one goal of victim services. Others not assessed include provision of information and referrals, providing accommodation and other forms of practical assistance.

7.3 Evaluations assessing other types of outcomes

Evaluations focusing on outcomes other than psychological function (see Feder et al, 2009, cited in Howard et al, 2010) have found reliable evidence that advocacy-based interventions for victims of family violence can reduce abuse, increase social support and quality of life, and lead to increased use of safety behaviours, and increase engagement with community resources.

A robust study in the UK that reanalysed the British Crime Survey data found that involvement with Victim Support UK significantly increased victims' participation and satisfaction with the criminal justice system (Bradford, 2011). A US study by Hoskins (2011) found increased access to victim resources including support services, was

The authors referred to the primary dependent variable as being 'psychological functioning', but scales on the OBETS appear broader than just psychological functioning.

associated with increased participation in the criminal justice system and receipt of compensation.⁶⁰

A review of research on domestic violence and mental health services by Howard et al (2010) looked for research on the effectiveness of refuges and shelters. No such studies were found. They commented that victim safety imperatives, and the complexity of multifaceted individualised programmes, make this type of research difficult. However, these authors cited some evidence of decreases in violent revictimisation, reductions in depressive symptoms, and increases in self-esteem amongst refuge users.

In their review of SSVS services, Mossman et al (2009a) also found it difficult to locate robust research on whether or how SSVS benefitted their clients. However, some evaluations were located that suggested contact with SSVS assisted victims to access resources, and experience less distress. This finding was reinforced by victim/survivors' own accounts of what they felt assisted them most through the recovery process (Kingi and Jordan, 2009).

7.4 Research on victim satisfaction

Interestingly, both the effectiveness studies reviewed in <u>section 7.2</u> above found high levels of satisfaction with victim assistance services despite demonstrating negligible remedial impact. These empirically based findings that do not support the efficacy of victim support programmes thus appear at odds with the self-reported outcomes found in the consumer evaluation surveys (which tend to indicate high levels of satisfaction).

While levels of satisfaction cannot be used to infer effectiveness, they do provide an indication of whether victims would access these services again and what aspects of the service they perceived as being most helpful.

The 2006 New Zealand Crime and Safety Survey found 75% of victims rated assistance by Victim Support NZ as 'helpful' or 'very helpful', a similar 73% gave these ratings in relation to support agencies for women, but a higher 87% for assistance received by iwi or other Māori organisations (Mayhew and Reilly, 2008). However, these percentages need to be interpreted with caution as they were based on very small sample sizes (n=16 to 64), reflecting the small proportion of victims that actually accessed support services (just 4% of all victims surveyed).

High levels of client satisfaction with victim support services have also been found in evaluations carried out here and overseas. The UK's Victim Support organisation carried out a large satisfaction survey in 2006 with surveys sent to 22,505 victim clients, of which 12% were returned (see Dunn, 2007). Clients had either had crisis or ongoing support. The majority of clients (78%) were satisfied with the service they

⁶⁰ This was a cross-sectional analysis of 67 counties in Pennsylvania using data over a 10 year period.

received (emotional support, practical help and information). Those first contacted by telephone were more satisfied than those who had been sent a letter.⁶¹

Those respondents who had received emotional support (45%) were asked whether and how the emotional support they had received had helped:

- 47% reported a positive sense of 'feeling understood'
- 35% felt 'reassured'
- 32% were 'less anxious'
- 23% experienced an increase in confidence
- 21% felt 'less angry' about the crime.

Results from a consumer satisfaction survey carried out by Victim Support in New Zealand were also positive. A systematic sampling approach identified 648 potential participants, of whom 264 completed a phone survey (40% of those initially identified).⁶² Respondents gave high ratings of satisfaction with 92% reporting they were 'satisfied' or 'very satisfied' with their overall service, and a similar 97% reporting the service had been 'helpful' or 'very helpful'. Self-reported outcomes were similar to those found in the UK survey, where respondents reported feeling listened to (91%), or less stressed (85%). These ratings were higher than those found by NZCASS, likely due to the sampling focusing on those who had three or more contacts, and so excluding those who had limited contact and who refused to participate. This highlights a common limitation of consumer evaluation surveys, that those most satisfied are also those most likely to agree to participate in a survey.

7.5 Selection of appropriate outcome measures

It appears results vary greatly depending on what outcome is measured: consumer satisfaction, mental health outcomes, increased participation in the criminal justice system or improvements in quality of life, reduced violence and access to services and support.

Another approach advocated and used by some is defining and evaluating 'quality aspects' of services, rather than outcomes achieved (Williams and Goodman, 2007; Victoria Auditor General, 2011).

⁶¹ Extra comments indicated victims valued being listened to, that supports were neutral. More face-to-face contact was requested and for Victim Support to be more proactive in offering follow-up support.

⁶² Potential participants were the first five consecutive clients who had received support through each of 62 offices from 1 November 2010, providing they met the following criteria: had been contacted three or more times, were a victim of serious crime or trauma, and were not at risk of re-victimisation. Of the initial 648 clients identified, 145 were not able to be contacted by phone, after three or more attempts. A further 143 of these were found to be either currently going through a trial process or judged to be still in the early stages of grief/shock or trauma, and hence, it was not appropriate to invite them to participate. There were 96 who, on invitation, declined to participate.

Clearly more research is needed, both to understand the extent to which programmes are effective, as well as to identify the most appropriate outcome measures to be assessed.

7.6 Stocktake summary

- Research has tended to focus on victims' satisfaction with services. There has been little empirical evidence on the effectiveness of community-based victim support services (excluding counselling).
- Research findings on the effectiveness of victim service providers appear to vary greatly depending on what outcomes are measured: consumer satisfaction, mental health outcomes, increased participation in the criminal justice system or improvements in quality of life, reduced violence and access to services and support. Attention needs to be given to what are the appropriate outcome measures to evaluate. Another approach advocated and used by some is defining and evaluating 'quality aspects' of services, rather than outcomes achieved (Williams and Goodman, 2007).

8 Mental health professionals

Key points

- Crime victims vary greatly in their need for mental health services and not all require intervention.
- Emotional trauma following criminal victimisation can manifest itself in a number of different mental health conditions (eg, PTSD, depression, anxiety disorders, substance abuse, suicidal ideation and attempts, complicated or traumatic grief). Research has tended to focus on prevention and treatment of PTSD.
- No conclusive evidence was found on the effectiveness of crisis responses delivered immediately after or within hours of the crime.
- Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) has been demonstrated as an effective short-term intervention (within days and weeks of the crime).
- Research on the effectiveness of longer-term interventions has endorsed four treatment techniques: Exposure Therapy, Cognitive Therapy, Anxiety Management Therapy, and psycho-education. Most treatment programmes do not use these techniques in isolation but combine them in an integrated treatment package. Of these, 'Prolonged Exposure', 'Cognitive Processing Therapy' and 'Stress Innoculation Training' have received empirical support. This research has focused heavily on the impact of approaches on reducing PTSD symptoms, with less attention to other mental health outcomes.

This section reviews available literature on approaches to responding specifically to the emotional trauma that can result following a crime. As seen in <u>section 3.2.1</u> emotional trauma can manifest itself in a number of different mental health conditions. While a range of possible mental health effects are known to arise, crime victim research has tended to focus on treatment and prevention of PTSD.⁶³

Crime victims vary in their needs for mental health services. Amstadter et al (2007) usefully categorises victims into three groups according to their mental health needs:

- **Resilient** those who are sufficiently robust that, following a crime victimisation, they maintain relatively stable levels of psychological functioning without intervention.
- **Rapid recovery** these victims display clear psychopathological symptoms after the crime, but these symptoms subside within several weeks or months of the traumatic event. Some recover without treatment, while others benefit from intervention which accelerates their recovery process.
- **Chronic** these individuals develop chronic mental health problems in the aftermath of criminal victimisation, and require longer-term treatment to promote recovery.

⁶³ The treatment of PTSD has been well researched, with sufficient research to warrant a dedicated journal (Journal of Traumatic Stress).

Of those that do require assistance, it is generally accepted that interventions will occur in one of the following three phases:

- Crisis intervention immediately or within hours of the crime victimisation.
- **Short-term interventions** those that occur shortly after the crime (eg, within days and weeks).
- **Longer-term interventions** the longer term treatment of chronic mental health problems in the months or years after the victimisation.

In New Zealand initial crisis responses are generally delivered by frontline emergency agencies or victim service providers reviewed in the previous section. However, research located focused on crisis intervention delivered by mental health professionals and so is reviewed in this section.

For victims who require further counselling after the initial event (short-term or longterm), this is ideally delivered by professional counsellors or psychologists. These are often accessed directly by the victim or via referral from victim service providers.⁶⁴ Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC) funds counselling provided by ACC registered counsellors, to all victims who have mental injury arising from physical injury caused by a criminal act. For families, friends, witnesses and people first on the scene after a death caused by a criminal act, ACC funds up to 30 sessions. There is also funding for counselling for victims of sexual abuse and other serious crimes, providing ACC criteria are met.⁶⁵

This section reviews research on the type of counselling responses that have been found to be effective across these three phases. However, it is important to note New Zealand research with victims suggests, rather than the 'right approach', more important is having choice and being matched with a counsellor who is 'right for the individual' (Kingi and Jordan, 2008; Kingi, 2011).

Only two reviews were identified that focused specifically on trauma-related interventions for crime victims (Amstadter et al, 2007; Hembree and Foa, 2003). Research was also located on the psychological treatment of female crime victims (Rizvi et al, 2008), victims of family violence (Howard et al, 2010; Johnson et al, 2011), victims of sexual violence (Astbury, 2006; Campbell, 2001; Wang and Rowly, 2007). There have also been generic reviews of the effective treatment of PTSD (eg, Agorastos et al, 2011) and a systematic review of empirical evidence by the National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (2005).

⁶⁴ Some SSVS have trained counsellors on staff who can provide ongoing specialist counselling to victims of sexual violence.

⁶⁵ Changes to ACC entitlements in 2009 mean the first 16 hours of early support are funded for all those who lodge a sensitive claim. Longer-term counselling is funded in cases where it can be proved the mental injury was caused by the sexual assault (Ministry of Justice, 2011c). Recent measures introduced by ACC have been highly contentious in requiring the provision of counselling for victims' of sexual assault to be dependent upon diagnosis of mental injury. While pressure from public and NGO sectors resulted in this being modified so that the initial 16 sessions could be provided without requiring such a diagnosis, the provision of any additional counselling requiring evidence of "mental injury" may work against victims recovery. Having to self-define as being psychiatrically ill or imbalanced is a major step and can compound feelings of low esteem and shame following a sexual attack.

The National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (2005) made the following recommendations that also have relevance to crime victims:

- when PTSD sufferers present to primary care, general practitioners should take responsibility for the initial assessment and coordination of care
- assessment should be done by competent professionals and be comprehensive, including physical, psychological and social needs, and risk assessment
- when patient care is split between primary and secondary health professionals, there should be clear agreement about responsibility for monitoring the client
- families and carers have a key role in supporting sufferers, but may also need support themselves. Healthcare professionals should be aware of the impact of PTSD on the whole family
- where the healthcare professionals and the PTSD sufferer are from different ethnic or cultural backgrounds, the professionals should familiarise themselves with the sufferer's cultural background
- language and cultural differences should not be a barrier to the provision of effective trauma-focused interventions. This could be achieved through the use of interpreters and bicultural therapists.

8.1 Immediate or crisis treatment (within hours)

According to Hembree and Foa (2003) crisis intervention involves the "normalising of victim reactions" to trauma, and solving immediate problems that result from the event (eg, transporting a person to hospital, assistance in negotiating a crime scene, providing medical assistance, or contacting other family members). It is also referred to as 'psychological first aid' (eg, Victim Support NZ, National Centre for Victims of Crime in the US). For Howarth et al (2009), crisis intervention aims to deal with only the most urgent and pressing problems, before referring an individual on to the next level of service or treatment.

Roberts (2005) differentiates between 'crisis intervention' which occurs in the days or weeks after the incident and should be carried out by trained clinicians, and 'critical incident responses' which occur immediately following the incident and can be carried out by other trained frontline responders (eg, volunteers, police or medical professionals).

Practitioner handbooks referred to at the beginning of <u>section 7.1</u> provide other guidelines for key elements in crisis support such as:

- ensure safety and security
- assess needs
- provide empathetic support enabling victims to express their feelings and experiences
- facilitate understanding
- identify coping strategies and resources
- assist with a safety plan

• make manageable follow-up plans.

Another principle found to be important when working with victims of sexual violence, is to encourage self-reliance. This means being careful not to make assumptions about what a person needs, instead providing options and letting the victim make the decisions (Daane, 2006; DSAC, 2006).

While extensive guidance is available on how crisis interventions should be undertaken, once again research on the effectiveness of specific approaches was lacking. A few reviews of crisis intervention located were not specific to crime victims. Also, reviews appeared to focus on crisis intervention delivered by mental health professionals, while in New Zealand this type of intervention is more typically delivered by other types of frontline workers.

Agorastos et al (2011) reviewed the research on a number of crisis interventions (within hours) and concluded that the effectiveness of crisis intervention programmes remained unproven.⁶⁶ Two other reviews cited evidence of the effectiveness of Critical Incident Stress Management or Critical Incident Stress Debriefing (Everly and Mitchell, 2000; Flannery and Everly, 2000). This programme has raised controversy over the inclusion of 'debriefing' post-incident, which some research suggested is harmful. The latter two researchers, and others (Hawker et al, 2011) suggest this evidence was flawed, and if carried out by professionals as part of a complete programme, can be effective. However, it appears this type of approach is more applicable to support workers dealing with a crisis situation *per se*, rather than the victims of a crisis.

Clearly more research is needed to determine whether effectiveness is achievable in the various approaches to crisis intervention, particularly in frontline responses to crime victims.

8.2 Short-term interventions (within days, weeks)

Short-term interventions are those that occur shortly after the crime (eg, within four weeks). The key aim of these interventions is to accelerate recovery from a traumatic event and reduce the risk of developing PTSD and other trauma-related difficulties. Brief cognitive–behavioural therapy (CBT) programmes have received the most empirical support for those experiencing any traumatic event (Agorastos et al, 2011), including in response to crime victimisation (Amstadter et al, 2007). In a comprehensive review Amstadter and colleagues concluded while other interventions, including an assessment only and supportive counselling, were eventually able to produce comparable outcomes (eg, at nine months follow-up), CBT appeared to accelerate recovery.

⁶⁶ These researchers reviewed the evidence for the effectiveness of acute distress management, psychological debriefing, and other immediate unspecific interventions delivered within the first hours following a traumatic event and found no demonstrated efficacy in preventing post-traumatic stress symptoms.

8.3 Longer-term interventions

There has been considerable research attention given to outcomes from longer-term treatment of mental health problems such as PTSD in the aftermath of trauma.

Four intervention techniques have been endorsed by expert consensus (Foa et al., 1999 cited in Amstadter, 2007). These are:

- Exposure therapy this involves the direct exposure of individuals to trauma cues (eg, sounds, smells, memories of the traumatic event) in the context of a supportive therapeutic relationship.
- Cognitive therapy which uses cognitive restructuring techniques to modify negative thoughts and dysfunctional beliefs that trigger trauma-related anxiety and distress.
- Anxiety management therapy aims to assist individuals to cope with the physical symptoms of distress, such as through teaching relaxation skills (eg, controlled breathing, progressive muscle relaxation)
- Psychoeducation provides individuals with information on the nature, dynamics and likely evolution of common psychological responses to traumatic events, and effective coping strategies.

Integrated treatment programmes

Amstadter et al (2007) comment that most treatment programmes do not use these techniques in isolation, but combine approaches in an integrated treatment package. The treatment programmes that have received the most empirical support for their efficacy with crime victims include 'Prolonged Exposure', 'Cognitive Processing Therapy' and 'Stress Innoculation Training' (see Amstadter et al, 2007 and Hembree and Foa, 2003 for more details; and also Wang and Rowley, 2007 for use with victims of sexual violence).

It must also be remembered that not all forms of therapy have been evaluated. Wang and Roley (2007) point out that this only means evidence of their effectiveness is not yet available, not that they are ineffective. They give the example of the use of feminist approaches for victims of sexual violence, which have not been rigorously evaluated, yet may be helpful in addressing long-term self-blame.

It is unknown in New Zealand what type of treatment approaches are used by mental health practitioners who work with crime victims. In the US there is concern over lack of uptake of empirically supported approaches (Amstadter et al., 2007; Ganju, 2003; O'Brien, 2010), with only a minority receiving such empirically supported treatments (see Ganju, 2003; O'Brien, 2010). O'Brien (2010) cites evidence that treatment services available to crime victims appear to be driven more by ideology and stakeholder interests rather than by theories and scientific evidence (O'Brien, 2010).

8.4 Stocktake summary

- The most robust empirical evidence available is on which approaches to counselling are most effective. However, this research has focused heavily on the impact of approaches on reducing PTSD symptoms, with less attention to other mental health outcomes. Also, the effectiveness of other approaches is unknown as they are yet to be evaluated, but untested does not mean ineffective.
- It was difficult to locate research that examined effectiveness of different crisis responses, particularly in relation to crime victims. This is surprising considering the importance placed on this initial response.

9 Criminal justice system responses

Key points

Currently a third of victims choose to report their crime to police and, of these cases, around only a third again result in an arrest, prosecution and/or conviction. The integrity of the criminal justice system is reliant on victims reporting crime, providing evidence and acting as witnesses. Promoting victim and witness satisfaction with their experience is important to ensuring that victims and the wider public have confidence to participate in the criminal justice system.

Effective police responses

- Police provide the main entry point into the criminal justice system, and their response tends to be the most significant post-crime experience of victims.
- Victim satisfaction is increased when there is a prompt initial response, and the victim subsequently is kept informed in a timely fashion. Demonstrated interest in their situation, and conveying respect, are also important. Consistent with the model of procedural justice, while outcomes are important, what is most important to victims is fair and decent treatment, and the perception that appropriate action is being taken.
- Police response to victims is improved through victim-orientated training programmes, specialist training in victim needs relating to certain types of crime (eg, victims of sexual violence), dedicated victim units and/or liaison officers, and efficient referral mechanisms to community-based victim services.

Supporting victims through the court process

- Overseas initiatives focus on providing a single point-of-contact for court support
 of victims (eg, Witness Care Units in the UK, Witness Assistance Services in
 Australia, and Victims' Desks in the Netherlands). New Zealand's Court Services
 for Victims takes a similar approach. Support through these initiatives is available
 for those attending court. A support model that extends before, during and after
 court appearances is that of UK's independent advisors (Independent Victim
 Advisors for Sexual Violence and Independent Victim Advisors for Domestic
 Violence).
- Meeting with a prosecutor prior to a trial is likely to ensure that victims feel better prepared and more involved in the criminal justice process. Research indicates that witness preparation programmes can reduce stress and anxiety, and give witnesses more confidence in presenting evidence.
- The experience of attending court is potentially stressful, but this stress can be reduced by altering the physical environment to limit encounters with the accused and their supporters.

Supporting victims in decision making

• The need for an inclusive criminal justice system that enables crime victims to have a voice is recognised in New Zealand victims' rights legislation and international documents. Victims can participate through having their views heard

prior to bail decisions, presenting a victim impact statement (VIS) at sentencing, and submissions to the Parole Board when an offender is being considered for release.⁶⁷ While potentially empowering of victims, if not managed carefully these experiences have potential to create feelings of disempowerment for victims.

- Victims' levels of satisfaction with giving VIS can be enhanced by the following: clearly explaining the purpose of VIS; ensuring the victim receives adequate information and support on how to prepare their VIS; ensuring victims do not feel like their statement has been censored; giving victims the option of presenting their VIS orally; ensuring they are appropriately acknowledged by the judge and the court.
- In making post-sentence submissions to parole hearings, a specialist worker model may be most effective, such as where a probation officer or team is assigned the role of victim liaison, and this work is clearly separated from 'offender work'.

An important decision for crime victims is whether they wish to report their crime and pursue justice through the criminal justice system.⁶⁸ As seen in <u>section 3.3</u> there are potential benefits from engagement with the criminal justice system, but there can also be risks of adverse consequences.

The criminal justice area is a complex arena, where many different rights and interests must be balanced, including those of the victim, the offender and the public (Justice and Electoral Committee, 2007). The interests of the offender in the trial process have always been of critical concern. Notions of 'fair trial', 'presumption of innocence' and 'burden of proof' are all time-honoured principles designed to ensure that the rights of an accused person are protected (Victim Support Agency, 2009). The challenge is how to ensure a fair trial for the accused, provide protection for the public, whilst also addressing the needs of the victim.

The integrity of the criminal justice system is reliant on victims to report crime, and often to provide evidential information and be a witness in court proceedings. Consequently, it is important to ensure that victims, including those who are also witnesses, have a safe and tolerable experience. This in turn promotes greater public confidence in the system.

The importance of public confidence is referred to in a recent review of criminal justice statistics:

There is a growing recognition in contemporary democratic nations that promoting public confidence in the administration of justice is one of the primary goals of good government. Public trust or confidence is critical to the functioning of the criminal justice system. (Statistics New Zealand, 2009, p73)

⁶⁷ The right to provide a submission to the Parole Boards is limited to victims of specified offences in the Victims' Rights Act 2002.

⁶⁸ The criminal justice system is the network of courts and legal processes that deal with the enforcement of criminal laws. The key players are the complainant (victim of crime), the accused (the perpetrator), the police, lawyers, judges and court staff.

Recent reforms have been directed at improving the treatment of victims within the justice system (Justice and Electoral Committee, 2007), thereby 'rebalancing' the system and 'placing victims closer to the heart' of the criminal justice system.

Research in this area has tended to focus on surveying victims of crime experiences and satisfaction with different aspects and stages of the criminal justice process (see <u>section 2.3</u>) as opposed to responses that are effective in assisting in the recovery and healing of crime victims.

In focusing on a victim's satisfaction the concept of **procedural justice** comes to the fore. Fair, decent and respectful treatment, where procedures are followed correctly, are critical to victim satisfaction (Bradford, 2011; Commissioner for Victims and Witnesses in England and Wales, 2011). Indeed, reliable research has shown that such treatment through the process is as important as, and sometimes more important than, the final outcome, in determining victims' satisfaction and confidence (Bradford, 2011; Bradford et al, 2009; Parsons and Bergin, 2010).

The traditional view of justice for victims has centred largely on holding the offender to account through prosecution, trial and sentencing. Victim advocates are now beginning to call for an alternative concept of justice, a kind of 'parallel justice' (Herman, 2010; Payne, 2009; Victim Support NZ, 2007) that gives equal weight to the needs of victims, assisting them to rebuild their lives (Herman, 2010). Herman's (2010) vision of this 'parallel justice' system is as follows:

... there would be one path to justice that is offender-oriented, where we hold offenders accountable, and another path to justice that is designed to help victims get back on track and reintegrate them into productive community life. ...These two paths ... interact with each other: victims ... testify in court, (and) there should be options for victim–offender dialogue. But at the same time, the separate path to justice for victims should have victim-oriented objectives that have to do with providing safety, helping victims recover from the trauma of the crime, and helping them regain control over their lives. (Herman, 2010, p.4).

The remainder of this section reviews available research on good practice criminal justice responses. As discussed above, this is primarily focused on how best to support victims/witnesses, and to mitigate the most stressful aspects of their experience, with less attention given to ways to assist in their healing and recovery.⁶⁹

9.1 Effective police responses

Police provide the entry point to the criminal justice system, being the agency to which victims usually report a crime. Some researchers describe this as a gatekeeping role (Jordan, 2004; Wilson et al, 2001). In responding to victims of crime, New Zealand Police are guided by the principles set out in the Victims' Rights

⁶⁹ Some victims will be required to take the stand as a witness for their case. Some of the support needs for this group will be similar to other victims, but they will also have special support needs related to giving evidence. The term victims/witnesses is used to include both victims and those victims who are also witnesses.

Act 2002, from when an offence is reported, through court appearances, and until the case is closed (Ministry of Justice, 2011c).

Police interactions with victims often occur shortly after a crime has occurred, and typically when the victim is still suffering from the immediate impacts of the crime. As such police actions can be the most significant and influential of victims' post-crime experiences (Curtis and McCoy, 1999; Mawby, 2007; Victim Support UK, 2011). An insensitive or indifferent response may exacerbate the emotional trauma already being experienced. It may also deter the victim from progressing further through the criminal justice system, either on the current, or a future occasion (Victim Support UK, 2011; Bradford, 2010). For those who progress beyond the reporting phase, their interaction with police can extend through the investigation of the offence, on to the arrest and prosecution of the offender. For serious offences the officer in charge is likely to interact frequently with a victim as the case progresses through the court, particularly with victims who act as witnesses in court.

Police generally only intervene in cases that are reported to them. The 2009 NZCASS found one-third of victims reported their crime to police. However, for victims of sexual violence or crimes where the perpetrator is known, such as with family violence, the figure is much lower. Just one in ten victims of sexual violence and a quarter of those who the perpetrator was their partner reported their crime (Morrison et al, 2010). This suggests addressing barriers to reporting for these groups is vital, particularly considering these two groups are also at significant risk of repeat victimisation.

One of the challenges for police is getting the correct balance between (a) investigating and solving a crime, which is usually seen as their primary role; and (b) providing appropriate attention to victims (Mawby, 2007). As noted in <u>section 6.1.1</u> these roles can sometimes be in conflict. However, it is essential that police get the balance right, performing both roles well to ensure victims are willing to report a crime and proceed with the criminal prosecution.

For this reason, levels of satisfaction and confidence in police have been a focus of research here (eg, NZCASS) and overseas (eg, UK's Witness and Victim Experience Survey (WAVES), Franklyn, 2012). Particular concerns regarding police responses to sexual violence in New Zealand led to the Commission of Inquiry into Police Conduct (Bazley, 2007), resulting in 60 recommendations for changes to procedures and standards (many of which have not been implemented as yet).

9.1.1 Victims' perceptions of good police responses

The NZCASS 2009 found 54% of victims who reported their crime to police were 'very satisfied' or 'satisfied' with the police response; and around a quarter (26%) were 'very dissatisfied' or 'dissatisfied'. Factors significantly associated with ratings of satisfaction or dissatisfaction were:

- initial response whether or not a police response was forthcoming, the speed of response
- waiting time lengthy time lapses between occasions of police communicating with victims

- level of interest whether police conveyed interest and concern
- **level of respect** the extent to which police were perceived to afford victims personal respect
- **provision of information** the extent to which police kept victims informed of relevant developments in the case, also whether victims were informed a complaint was to be filed with no further action.

Analysis of the British Crime Survey data by Victim Support UK (2011) has shown lack of information from police can contribute to victims fearing for their personal safety. They note the importance of victims being informed particularly on whether the offender has been apprehended and, if so, is at large (eg, on bail) or in custody. This applies especially in cases where the victim knows the offender, or where the offence occurred in their own home.

Innovative practice – police responses

'TrackMyCrime' an online interactive service to provide information

The provision of up to date accurate information to victims, is perhaps the aspect of good practice response most commonly recognised (Victim Support UK, 2011; Mawyby, 2007; Morrison et al, 2010). However, this can be difficult for police who will have multiple demands on their time and may work shifts, making it difficult to contact victims at an appropriate time of the day. It is also the case that there may be nothing to report.

A solution to this being trialled in Avon and Somerset in the UK is an interactive online service 'TrackMyCrime', enabling victims to logon at their convenience to see what is happening with their case (Victim Support UK, 2011):

- police post updates on the site
- the system also generates automatic messages at key points in the investigation (eg, incident has been recorded, officer has been allocated, incident has been closed or resolved and advising of further support available)
- victims can also update relevant details such as correcting information on items of property which has been stolen or give feedback on service received.

Those factors identified through NZCASS listed above, provide important indicators of a good practice police response according to victims, and mirror those found overseas – Mawby (2007) also highlighted the importance of the final outcome of the case on victim satisfaction (ie, offenders arrested, goods recovered). However, as predicted in the 'procedural justice' model, fair and decent treatment, and proper actions have been found to be consistently valued by victims over outcomes, and are associated with high levels of confidence and acceptance of police actions and decisions (Bradford, 2010; Xie et al, 2006).

NZCASS (2009) found the groups significantly more likely to rank the Police as doing a poor or very poor job were those aged between 15 and 36, Asian or Māori, single or living in a *de facto* relationship, those more vulnerable economically, sole parents or living with flatmates and those in rented accommodation, and residing in the upper

North Island including Auckland (Morrison et al, 2009). Efforts to improve police responses should perhaps be focused on these groups.

9.1.2 Impact of police responses on future engagement

In addition to addressing barriers to reporting crime, of particular concern to police (and to other criminal justice agencies) is ensuring that any given contact with police maintains or increases willingness or likelihood of future contact if necessary. NZCASS 2009 results found mixed results in this respect. Overall, 68% of survey participants ranked police as doing a good or very good job, the highest ranking of all criminal justice agencies (Morrison et al, 2010). However, of particular interest is isolating the responses of those who have had contact with police. Of those victims who reported their crime to police, most were unchanged in their perception of the police (57%), with similar smaller proportions of victims reported feeling more (20%) and less favourable (23%) toward the police. Suggesting perhaps only a quarter of those who reported their crime (23%) may be less likely to make contact in the future (ie, those who had formed a less favourable perception).

In contrast overall ratings of police performance from all survey respondents were significantly lower for those who had recently been a victim of crime, and even more so if they had been a victim of multiple crimes. This latter finding is consistent with overseas research that those with most recent contact give lower ratings, and points to a need for an improved service response to ensure those who make contact with police continue to do so (Allen et al, 2006, Bradford et al, 2009 cited in Bradford, 2010).

Results from the International Crime Victims Survey (the last of which was in 2004) showed a downward trend in victim satisfaction with police in several countries. The main source of dissatisfaction appeared to be around receiving insufficient information. Paradoxically, the deterioration was most pronounced in countries where services for victims are claimed to be most advanced, such as Netherlands, England and Wales, Scotland and Sweden (Van Dijk and Groenhuijsen, 2007). Van Dijk and Groenhuijsen (2007) suggest that availability of services increases expectation levels of victims. Alternatively, improved access to victim services may encourage police to off-load responsibilities to victims on to other agencies.

While these are interesting issues, analysis in New Zealand shows between 2006 and 2009 a slight increase in the proportion of people rating the Police positively (from 60% to 68%; Morrison et al, 2010).

Innovative practice – Joint training initiative to improve responses to victim survivors of homicide

In the UK joint training between Victim Support UK and police Family Liaison Officers appears to assist with mutual awareness of each other's roles, and with communication over families' needs and any new developments. Family Liaison Officers appreciated the practical assistance for victims that Victim Support could provide, which they found difficult to assist with (Victim Support UK, 2006).

9.1.3 Improving police responses

Other than crime victims' satisfaction with police responses, there appears to be little research that explores the effects of police actions with respect to victim recovery, and/or reducing feelings of secondary victimisation (Wilson and Segrave, 2011).

Some early research in the Netherlands (Winkel, 1989, 1991) and the US (Rosenbaum, 1987) investigated the effect of police victim-orientated training programmes and specialist crime prevention programmes in alleviating or minimising victims' psychological distress. More recent analysis of 22 European countries by Van Dijk and Groenhuijsen (2007) supported the value of comprehensive victim-orientated training programmes for police officers. Here in New Zealand specialist training in adult and child sexual assault is available for detectives in two areas.⁷⁰ This is generally regarded as a positive response, although concerns remain over the consistency of training coverage and availability of this specialist response (Jordan, 2004; McDonald and Tinsley, 2011; Mossman et al, 2009a).

More recently Wilson and Segrave (2011) carried out a qualitative review of the strengths and weaknesses of selected models of police-based approaches to victim services. Wilson and Segrave categorised these approaches into three broad models.

- Dedicated victim units, commonly defined by crime type; these include family violence units, sexual assault units, but can also be generic (eg, Victim Advisory Units in Victoria, Australia or Victims Services Unit in London, Ontario). Most examples are found in Canada and the US, providing crisis response and/or case management. In New Zealand there are specialised units for the investigation of child and adult sexual assault and family violence. Specialised units are now widely recognised internationally as good practice (Amnesty International Australia, 2008; Jordan, 2004; Metropolitan Police Service, 2005).⁷¹
- Dedicated liaison officer services, implemented within a 'community model of policing', an individual officer is typically assigned special responsibility for victims of crime. Liaison officers can also be designated with responsibility for 'indigenous', 'at-risk', or 'minority' groups, or be offence specific (eg, in New Zealand Iwi and Ethnic Liaison Officers, and Domestic Violence Liaison Officers in Victoria, Australia). The UK has Family Liaison Officers assigned to homicide cases, trained both to assist in the investigation of cases and to provide victim support. They can also be assigned to other offences such as road accidents causing death. This has also been adopted throughout Australia and elsewhere internationally. In New Zealand Family Liaison Officers are assigned to families of victims of homicide and were successfully deployed in recent incidents where multiple people were affected, such as the Pike River mining disaster and the Carterton ballooning incident.

⁷⁰ These detectives receive specialist training in interviewing victims/complainants of sexual assault.

⁷¹ The Canadian province of British Columbia also has a highly developed program of policebased victim services, with a central coordinating Association, Police-Victim Services of British Columbia, which provides training in the form of Victim-Service Practitioners Certificate and hosts an annual forum.

Referral of services models require that frontline officers make referrals to
external support services or provide contact details and information booklets. In
New Zealand there are formalised referral processes that ensure appropriate
referrals to victim service providers (eg, Victim Support NZ, SSVS and/or
Women's Refuges). Victim Support offices are located in police stations, and
working relationships with Victim Support here appear more effective than in the
UK, where some police were found to be completely unfamiliar with the services
delivered by Victim Support UK (Payne, 2009).

Clearly these models are not mutually exclusive, and New Zealand appears to operate examples of all three. Wilson and Segrave (2011) found strengths and weaknesses with each model, but noted that effectiveness of each was influenced by police 'culture', the extent of commitment to 'victim-centred' policing, and availability of resources. Wilson and Segrave concluded that dedicated units may be optimal in delivering services, but are resource intensive and can create a perception that dealing with victims is not 'real' police work. Dedicated liaison officers also require significant commitment from management to achieve their goals, and effectiveness depends on the level of other duties officers are assigned to. Effectiveness is also dependent on levels of interagency cooperation, the quality of the referral mechanisms, and availability of victim support services.

The most common response to improving service delivery to victims of crime appears to be in development of police guidelines. An overseas example includes the International Association of Chiefs of Police (IACP)'s 'Enhancing Law Enforcement Response to Victims: A 21st Century Strategy' which contains guidelines, standards and transferable models for the provision of victim services within municipal police agencies (IACP, 2007).

Here in New Zealand police responsibilities to victims are laid out in a number of guidelines and/or codes of conduct:

- Police Manual includes three sets of victim-related guidelines:⁷²
 - Victims (Police service to victims)
 - Family violence policy and procedures
 - Adult sexual assault investigation (ASAI) guidelines.
- 2009 Police Prosecution Service: Statement of Policy and Practice (see https://www.police.govt.nz/new-zealand-police-policies)

There are also general principles applicable to police–victim interactions outlined in the Police Code of Conduct and other polices and strategies (eg, Police Ethnic Strategy Working Towards 2010; New Zealand Polices Responsiveness Strategy to Pacific Peoples 2002/2006). While the development of guidelines and policies reflect a positive move, evaluations of the extent to which they have been successfully implemented is required (McDonald and Tinsley, 2011; Mossman et al, 2009a).

More recently Police are trialling a new approach to victims called *Victim Focus* which is a key part of a new operational strategy *Prevention First 2011 to 2015.* The

⁷² The Police Manual is for internal use and not available externally. The guidelines are regularly reviewed and updated if necessary, so it is not appropriate to provide a year for the document.

aim is to improve police responses to victims in order to reduce the likelihood of repeat victimisation. Victim Focus includes the use of a 'graduated response model' (summarised in a notebook card), where the police response becomes more intensive the more frequently a person is identified as victimised. Repeat and high risk victims are identified through automatic alerts. There is also a commitment to deliver victim-focused training.⁷³

9.2 Supporting victims through the court process

Before reviewing accepted good practice support for victims through the court process, it is worth acknowledging the following points:

- victims whose cases makes it to court are only a subset of victims of crime (one in ten of all victims). In New Zealand, only a third of crimes are reported to police (Morrison et al, 2010). Only a third of these reported/recorded offences then go on to be prosecuted (Statistics New Zealand, n.d.)
- victims' needs typically begin before, and extend beyond, the time in the court process (Payne, 2009)
- victims' support needs during this phase can vary considerably depending on crime type and individual characteristics:

... many witnesses require little more than notification of when and where to turn up, while others will need considerably more support in the form of advice, practical arrangements, reassurance, and measures such as pre-trial visits. (Payne, 2009, p15).

• some victims will be required to take the stand as a witness for their case. Some of the support needs for this group will be similar to other victims, but they will also have special support needs related to giving evidence.

Managing expectations

One of the challenges to supporting victims of crime during the court process is managing expectations. This issue has been highlighted by Herman (2005):

For those who sought redress in the criminal justice system, the single greatest shock was the discovery of just how little they mattered. Because the crimes had had such a profound impact on their lives, the victims often naively expected their interests to be of major concern to the authorities. They had trouble understanding that the central focus of the case was on the defendant, not on themselves. (p581)

This misunderstanding is partly a feature of the adversarial system of justice that is common in many jurisdictions, and operates here in New Zealand. It is often not clear to victims that in the adversarial system crime is treated as harm against the state rather than the individual concerned (Justice Sector and Electoral Committee, 2007). The Crown therefore is not representing the victim, but prosecutes offenders in the

⁷³ See <u>https://www.police.govt.nz/sites/default/files/resources/strategic/prevention-first-strategy-</u> 2011-2015.pdf

interests of the wider public. The role of the victim is restricted to an instrumental one, as a witness for the Crown. Because it is not 'their' case they cannot compel a prosecutor to take certain actions, contest decisions, or challenge the sentence imposed. This experience can result in a victim feeling discounted, silenced and disempowered (Booth and Carrington, 2007; Cook et al, 1999).

Managing expectations and minimising misunderstanding requires that victims receive understandable information on how the criminal justice system works, what their role is, and then updates on progress with their case.

Key support needs for victims/witnesses attending court

It is difficult to separate out in the literature the specific needs of victims, compared to those victims who are also witnesses (required to take the stand and give evidence). Many witness support programmes are for all witnesses regardless of whether they are victims. Findings presented below are either relevant to victims and/or witnesses who are victims. The term victim/witness is used unless a finding is relevant only to those who are witnesses or just victims, in which case this is specified as such.

A number of key needs have been identified as the case progresses through the court process (Mawby, 2007; Payne, 2009; Victim Support Agency, 2009):

- information on case progression, and the meaning and significance of certain decisions and events, as they come up
- information on court processes generally, and on what they can reasonably expect to occur (and what they cannot expect)
- emotional support as necessary
- appropriate court facilities
- for victims who are witnesses, specific help to minimise retrauma when giving evidence (eg, special measures for giving evidence, support person present).

Many of these needs, particularly the right to information and support, have been the focus of codes of practice and victims' rights legislation both here and overseas. In New Zealand strategies aimed at minimising witness retraumatisation have received attention through statutory reform (eg, the *Evidence Act 2006* allows for evidence to be given from behind a screen, via closed circuit television, or prerecorded video-tape, and the right to have a support person present). New guidelines have also been developed on how Crown Prosecutors interact with victims/witnesses (Crown Law, 2010). While significant gains have been made, reviews continue on how court processes can be further improved to better meet the needs of victims/witnesses.⁷⁴

⁷⁴ The Law Commission is currently engaging in consultation on proposals on alternative trial processes (Alternative pre-trial and trial processes: Possible reforms', Law Commission, 2012). A package of reforms is also being considered to address concerns around the way child witnesses are treated in the criminal justice system. Improving victims' experiences at court are also a major focus of proposals as a result of the Enhancing Victims' Rights Review [CBC (11) 4/1]

This section now briefly reviews literature on:

- providing court support to victims
- communication with prosecutors
- court facilities.

9.2.1 Providing court support for victims/witnesses

In New Zealand, in addition to informal support provided by friends and families, a range of other groups and players may be involved in providing vital information and support to victims and victims who are witnesses during the court process. These include court victim advisors, community-based victim support agencies, police, and prosecutors.⁷⁵ In 2010 a specialist court support service was introduced by the Ministry of Justice to assist victims of sexual violence and lessen the negative impact of the criminal justice process on victims. This support service is based on the existing court advisors model.

With respect to different models of court support, debates centre on the following issues:

- whether support is best provided by public sector agencies or by community organisations (see Mawby, 2007)
- when multiple agencies are involved, how to bring agencies together efficiently
- whether a single point of contact for victims/witnesses is appropriate, to make access easier (Payne, 2009)
- how support can be provided to victims before and after the court experience (Payne, 2009).

The range of people on hand during a court case, and the type of assistance each provides, can make it difficult for victims to know who to approach for information and support. Some overseas jurisdictions provide a single point of contact for victims and witnesses in the court process, similar to the court advisors in New Zealand. This includes the Witness Care Units in the UK that provide needs assessments and support for victims and witnesses,⁷⁶ Witness Assistance Services in Australia,⁷⁷ and

⁷⁵ These advisors can provide case information, ensure victim/survivors' safety during court proceedings, and liaise with police, prosecutors, the judiciary and community organisations. They also inform the court of the victims' views and ensure victims of crime are informed of their rights under the Victims' Rights Act 2002. A range of publications is also available containing information on the court process (eg, 'Moving through the criminal justice system: For people affected by crime' see <u>www.victimsinfo.govt.nz</u>).

⁷⁶ In the UK since 2005, Witness Care Units are run by police and the Crown Prosecution Service, but work closely with the Witness Support Programme provided by the UK's Victim Support. They aim to provide a single point of contact to identify needs, improve coordination of referrals, and provide updates on progress and outcomes. They should not be confused with Victim Support UK's Witness Assistance Schemes or Victim Care Units run in some areas.

'Victims Desks' in the Netherlands.⁷⁸ All of these initiatives focus on victims and witnesses court attendance.

Another model being trialled in the UK is the use of Independent Advisors whose role extends before, during and after court appearances. **Independent Victim Advisors for Victims of Sexual Violence (ISVA) and Domestic Violence (IDVA)** have been introduced across England and Wales. A key responsibility is to develop multiagency partnerships with relevant agencies, whilst remaining independent. The advisors are trained specialists who work proactively with victims from the point of crisis. Victims receive an integrated response through advisors networking and liaising on behalf of the victim (Robinson, 2009; Howarth et al, 2009).

Both models have been evaluated with positive results (see Robinson, 2009; Howarth et al, 2009). Robinson (2009) noted the location of ISVAs impacted on the types of referrals received. ISVAs located in Sexual Assault Referral Centres tended to receive more police referrals, while those in SSVS had higher numbers of selfreferrals who were less likely to want contact with the criminal justice system.

While these advisors can provide end-to-end support, their role is not intended to replace statutory parties, rather to assist victims and victims who are witnesses in their interactions with other agents as appropriate (ie, interactions with prosecutors and/or police).

Innovative practice – court support

 In the UK there is an online interactive walkthrough for witnesses to familiarise themselves with court processes and facilities (<u>http://ybtj.justice.gov.uk/</u>). Victim Support Agency in Victoria also provides a visual media tour of a court room (<u>http://www.justice.vic.gov.au/victimsofcrime/utility/about+us/</u>)

Child friendly court resources

- Games and activities NSW, Department of Attorney General and Justice "Be courtwise." (http://www.lawlink.nsw.gov.au/lawlink/victimsservices /II_vs.nsf/pages/VS_courtwise3)
- Activity workbooks by the Office for Victims of Crimes "I'm going to federal court with Mark & Julie" (For children ten years and up); Learning all about court with "BJ": An activity book for children going to federal or tribal court (<u>http://www.ovc.gov/publications/</u>)

⁷⁷ The Victorian Office of Public Prosecutions (OPP) has a Witness Assistance Service which is available to all prosecution witnesses and victims of crime who are involved in cases handled by the OPP. This service provides information and support, and is staffed by professionals experienced in the area of witness/victim support.

⁷⁸ The Victim Support Desk is a cooperative initiative between the Public Prosecution Service, the police and Victim Support Netherlands. The Support Desk provides victims with information and legal support so as to enable victims to make better use of their rights. A central coordinator is responsible for ensuring the best possible cooperation between all parties.

9.2.2 Communication with prosecutors

Interaction with prosecutors has been found frequently to create tensions and frustrations for victims and victims who are witnesses (Elliott and O'Brien, 2011; Kingi and Jordan, 2009), often as a result of the prosecutor's unique role in court proceedings. Yet, as noted in the introduction to this section, managing expectations associated with the adversarial system of justice can be important, and a potential role of prosecutors. Responses to improve interactions often involve the development of guidelines. In the US, comprehensive guidelines for prosecutors working with victims/witnesses have recently been developed (US Department of Justice, 2011) and similarly in the UK a 'Ten Point Prosecutors Pledge'. Here in New Zealand, guidelines have also recently been developed for prosecutors who interact with victims (Crown Law, 2010).

One aspect receiving particular attention is the timing and provision of a pre-trial meeting between the prosecutor and the victim(s). Proposals aimed at formalising the current arrangements are included in the *2010 Enhancing Victims' Rights Review* [CBC (11) 4/1]. The aim of such meetings is for victims to have the opportunity to ask questions of the prosecutor. Research with victims suggests that meeting prior to trial makes victims feel better prepared, and more involved in the case (Doak, 2008; Stern, 2010 both cited in McDonald and Tinsley, 2011). The practicalities of meetings depend on the seriousness of the offence and the case load of the prosecutor.⁷⁹ It is expected that such meetings are short and occur only on the first day of a hearing (McDonald and Tinsley, 2011).

McDonald and Tinsley (2011) also canvass the idea that if such meetings occurred earlier victims might be better prepared on issues such as handling cross-examination. They cite research by Ellison and Wheatcroft (2010)⁸⁰ that found witness preparation programmes reduced stress and anxiety, gave witnesses more confidence, and enabled them to be more articulate in their testimony.⁸¹

Jordan (2008) reports on a high-profile multiple victim serial rape case in New Zealand, where measures to support the women victims included not only the opportunity to meet the prosecutorial team in advance of the trial but also to match victims with the prosecutor they related to well. Prominent Crown Solicitor Simon Moore has outlined a model his Auckland-based team adheres to in their interactions with serious victims of crime. This model was strongly endorsed by Lesley Elliot (see Elliott and O'Brien, 2011, p224). Key elements were:

• engaging with the family as early as possible, to gain their confidence

⁷⁹ Crown prosecutors rather than police prosecutors are involved with more serious indictable offences. However, they may still arrive at court to act as the prosecution for anywhere up to 20 cases. It is only the very most serious homicide or sexual violation cases where a Crown Prosecutor may have more time to meet with a victim.

⁸⁰ This was a quasi–experimental design comparing four different approaches to witness preparation (n=65).

⁸¹ Prosecutors must be careful not to 'coach' a victim/witness on evidence in any substantive way (Ministry of Justice, 2009); however, with clear guidelines it appears possible to better prepare victims without being accused of 'coaching'.

- explaining how and why the focus of the trial is on the accused, and the importance of preserving the accused's rights to a fair trial
- gaining a clear insight into the views of the family so these can be managed and where possible accommodated
- adopting a 'no surprises' policy to help manage families' expectations.

9.2.3 Court facilities

82

The physical environment of a court can also impact on the experience of victims and those who are a witness. New Zealand research with victims of sexual violence found that shared public areas meant that encounters with the defendant and their supporters were likely to occur, such encounters usually being very stressful (Kingi and Jordan, 2009). Separate entrances and waiting rooms are valued. Victims' experiences are also made worse if victims must spend long and unpredictably lengthy amounts of time in inadequate facilities (McDonald and Tinsley, 2011). Facilities that would better respond to victims' and witnesses' need to feel safe include (see MacDonald and Tinsley, 2011; Sanders and Jones, 2007):

- separate entrances, waiting rooms, refreshment and toilet facilities
- facility to give testimony in ways that do not require direct confrontation with the defendant (eg, screens, CCTV, video links, video recorder).

On the other hand Burton et al (2006, cited in Sanders and Jones, 2007) found that some victims and witnesses were ambivalent about separate waiting areas, perceiving it as a form of 'segregation' while the accused and their supporters were free to roam to, from and around the court building. Payne (2009) in a review of the UK's facilities also noted that measures taken were often insufficient (eg, rooms without windows, or where there was no access to washrooms or refreshments without passing through the public areas). As an alternative approach, Sanders and Jones (2007) suggest minimising victims' time in the court by summoning them by pager or mobile phone only when they were required. This has been accommodated in the UK's Code of Practice.

9.3 Supporting victims with participation in decision making

The need for a more inclusive criminal justice system that enables crime victims to have a voice is recognised in New Zealand Victims' Rights legislation and international documents (eg, Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power). In New Zealand victims now have a right to have their views considered at three key points in the adult criminal justice system:⁸²

• when a judge is considering a bail application (for cases of specified offences outlined in the legislation)

Victims also have the right to have their views considered in other situations eg, if the immigration service is considering the deportation of an offender.

- at sentencing, through the submission of a victim impact statement (written or oral)
- when the parole board is considering if an offender who has been imprisoned for serious offences should be released, and if so under what circumstances (for cases of specified offences outlined in the legislation).

No research was found that looked at effective victim responses in relation to bail applications. However, below is research related to victims input at sentencing (through victim impact statements) and post-sentencing (via submission to parole hearings). While these measures are intended to serve victims' needs (and thus empower them), they each carry risks that victims who exercise them will instead end up feeling ignored, which can result in feeling *dis*empowered (Mawby, 2007; Sanders and Jones, 2007).

9.3.1 Sentencing

Many crime victims seek acknowledgement of their hurt and suffering as a result of the offender's actions (Herman, 2003). In New Zealand and elsewhere the main way this need has been accommodated is through the right to submit a victim impact statement (VIS). The VIS allows victims to convey to the judge, immediately prior to sentencing, the ways and extent to which a crime has affected them. It is usually a written submission, provided to the judge via the prosecutor. In New Zealand, but unlike many other countries, victims can also request that they or a nominated person read the statement to the court.⁸³

Many jurisdictions provide for victims to make a VIS; however, there are variations (Booth and Carrington, 2007), such as:

- who is defined as a victim and may therefore submit a VIS (primary and/or secondary victims)
- the type of offences which make a VIS applicable (a range of offence types or only the more serious)
- permissible content (opinions on the offender, expectations of sentencing) and maximum length⁸⁴
- method of presentation (written or oral presentation).⁸⁵

The use of VIS has received a fair amount of research attention, most notably in relation to their impact on sentencing decisions. While mixed, the evidence generally appears to indicate negligible effects (see Booth and Carrington, 2007 or Englebrecht, 2011 for a review). Some attention has also been given to the perceived value of a VIS from the victim's perspective (eg, Edwards, 2004; Englebrecht, 2011;

⁸³ The judge can deny this request, if for example, reading the VIS would cause undue delays, or if there are concerns about the number of, or length of, VIS (Enhancing Victims' Rights Review [CBC (11) 4/1]).

⁸⁴ South Australia and some states in the US allow victims to express an opinion on the penalty to be imposed.

⁸⁵ New Zealand, Canada and most states in the US allow oral presentation.

Roberts, 2008; Roberts and Manikis, 2011; Smith, 2011; Victim Support Agency, 2009). Roberts (2008) reviewed survey research carried out in Scotland and Canada that found victims were generally pleased they had submitted a VIS, and that making this form of statement made them 'feel better' (around two-thirds of submitters).

In reviewing the impact of the criminal justice system on wellbeing, Parsons and Bergin (2010) suggested VIS had the potential to improve a victim's experience of the criminal justice system. However, there is also the potential for negative impact, particularly if a victim is under the impression that their statement will directly influence sentencing, when in practice VIS tend to have little or no bearing on sentencing. This experience has a potentially negative impact on a victim's sense of a valid participation in the process (see also Booth and Carrington, 2007; Edwards, 2004, Englebrecht, 2011; Sanders and Jones, 2007).

Support and information concerning VIS are critical in realising their potential value to victims. It is important that information is provided in a timely manner, and not when victims are in a highly distressed state and unlikely to absorb new information (Victim Support Agency, 2009).

A recent comprehensive review of VIS in Victoria also found victims generally had positive views about VIS, although a number of factors influenced levels of satisfaction (Victim Support Agency, 2009). These included:⁸⁶

- that victims were made aware of their right to make a VIS
- that victims understand, and have accurate expectations, of the VIS process (in particular how their VIS will be used)
- that victims receive adequate information and support in preparing their VIS
- whether the experience of presenting the VIS in court went well.

Other factors identified in research are the importance of being able to deliver the VIS orally (Roberts, 2008; Victim Support Agency, 2009), also whether victims perceived that their VIS was actually acknowledged and taken into account by the judge (Sanders and Jones, 2007).

VIS are typically verified and signed by the prosecution or police before being submitted and this can involve editing the content to ensure conformity with applicable legislation. A particular issue of contention arises when the VIS includes material that is considered inadmissible and is therefore significantly altered prior to submission (Victim Support Agency, 2009). The current provisions in New Zealand as to what may be included in a VIS are open to interpretation, which can lead to arguments on what is admissible (Cabinet paper, *Enhancing Victims' Rights Review*, [CBC (11) 4/1]). New Zealand research with families of homicide victims has found this to be a particularly vexing issue. Victims interpreted the excision of material from

⁸⁶ This was a comprehensive research report based on extensive consultations with over 150 key stakeholders involved in the VIS process as well as five focus groups each with 14 victims of crime. Stakeholders included police, prosecutors, defence counsel, the judiciary and magistracy, victims' service agencies, and witness assistance services.

their VIS as being 'silenced' (Elliott and O'Brien, 2011; Kingi, 2011). This underlines the need for guidelines to be made clearer and for victims to be correctly advised through the VIS process including, where necessary, guided with wording on the VIS, ensuring that it will not be subject to later revision.

At least some of these factors are addressed in proposals included in the 2010 Cabinet paper *Enhancing Victims' Rights Review* to enhance the VIS, including:

- providing clearer guidelines on the purpose and content of VIS
- widen the scope so that VIS can include the effects of the crime on dependent family or whānau members
- give victims of serious offences (section 29 of *Victims' Rights Act 2002*) the automatic right to orally present their VIS to the court.

9.3.2 Post-sentence – parole decisions

In New Zealand victims of serious offences (section 29 of *Victims' Rights Act 2002*) have a right to be notified of upcoming parole hearings, to make a submission to the parole board, and to be notified of the outcome of the hearing.

Research cited by Booth and Carrington (2007) suggests that, unlike a VIS, parole submissions can be influential in decisions of the parole board.

Ensuring victims have the opportunity to exercise these rights and are able to participate if they wish in the parole process, requires of course that they are reliably notified. There are two key aspects to an effective response to victims at this stage:

- an efficient system of notification
- victims supplied with sufficient information to assist them to properly participate.

The mechanism for victims to be notified in New Zealand is the Victim Notification Register (VNR). This mechanism ensures victims are informed of a number of important events relating to the offender. A number of agencies are responsible for supplying this information, including New Zealand Police, Department of Corrections, Ministry of Health, the New Zealand Parole Board and the Department of Labour. As a result the VNR process has become increasingly complex and a number of improvements to the system have been proposed (*Enhancing Victims' Rights Review*, [CBC (11) 4/1]). Key issues for the success of this system are ensuring:

- victims who wish to be notified are recorded on the register⁸⁷
- contact details for victims are kept up to date
- all agencies are aware of victim preferences on whether to receive information or not, and maintain up to date information.

Ensuring current contact details has particular relevance in relation to parole hearings. With many serious offences, notifications can occur many years after the

⁸⁷

Generally, good practice is to incorporate 'opt in' systems of notification (Van Dijk and Groenhuijsen, 2007)

victim is first registered. Currently it is the responsibility of the victim to inform the relevant agency of any change of address. Of course, this obligation may not always be kept in mind by victims and there is the risk that contact details become out of date.

Innovative practice

88

A recent review of victim services by parole boards in the United States (APAI, 2012a) identified the following initiatives as good practice.

- In Ohio an online victim notification registration system has been implemented to allow victims to quickly and efficiently register for notifications
- The Florida Parole Commission proactively searches for current contact details of victims via driving licences, social security numbers, online databases, even news articles), thereby keeping its own records up to date.

Support for victims attending parole hearings

In New Zealand it is the New Zealand Parole Board's responsibility to notify victims of upcoming hearings, but it is less clear where the responsibility lies in providing more direct support for a victim to attend a meeting with the Board or make a submission. The New Zealand Parole Board is piloting the use of Victim Support NZ to provide support and assistance with submissions (Ministry of Justice, 2011c). In other jurisdictions, it is the probation service itself that has this support role. In the UK contacting and supporting victims is a statutory responsibility of the probation service (see Mawby, 2007).⁸⁸ In Canada the Parole Board's regional communications officers play a key role, and a recent survey of registered victims suggested high levels of satisfaction with the Board's staff (see APAI, 2012b). In the US, around 90% of authorities have a dedicated victim assistance staff member, with around 70% having a dedicated unit (APAI, 2012b).

A review of post-sentence models of probation contact with victims in the UK (HMIP, 2003 cited in Mawby, 2007) identified three approaches:

- dual role probation officer who is responsible for the offender, takes on additional responsibility of notifying, and as needed, liaising with victim
- specialist worker probation team is assigned the role of victim liaison, with the work remaining in-house but separated from 'offender' work
- third party approach an agency such as a victim service provider is used to make initial contact and provide assistance.

The HMIP (2003) review acknowledged the specialist worker model to be the most effective approach. It enabled victim work to be developed as a specialisation within probation and limited the dilemma of separating offender and victim issues and priorities. However, Mawby (2007) notes that it may restrict the extent to which victim-orientated work becomes fully integrated into probation practice.

UK's Code of Practice makes it a statutory requirement that in serious offences (sentences 12 months or longer for sexual or violent offences) there is face-to-face contact.

Mawby (2007) also identifies a number of challenges and considerations in delivering an effective response to victims at the later stages of the criminal justice process including:

- appropriate ways to make contact by phone, letter, email, in person
- clarifying whether victims still want to be consulted for some the experience of being contacted unexpectedly can reactivate trauma
- ensuring victims can submit their views without fear of retaliation by offenders
- managing the balance between the rights of the offender and the victim in relation to what information is made available to whom.

This latter point is sometimes a source of resentment, as is illustrated in the following from a victim:

Whatever you say gets told to him [the offender]. If I object to something, he finds out, but if he objects to something, I'm not allowed to know. (Rogers, 1999, p.26, cited in Mawby, 2007).

Fears of retaliation, difficulties in accessing information, and expectations that submissions will be ignored, led Mawby (2007) to the observation that participation in parole processes is not always in the best interests of the victim. This process also appears to be one where victims' expectations must be carefully managed.

9.4 Stocktake summary

- There has been a clear focus on victims' satisfaction with their experience with the criminal justice system. Very little attention has been given to criminal justice responses that assist victims with their healing and recovery.
- Victim surveys have usefully identified factors which influence victim satisfaction with their involvement with police.
- Regular surveys of victims' and witnesses' experiences with the criminal justice system are not conducted in New Zealand. In the UK their WAVE research provides more detailed information on victims' and witnesses' experiences; however, it is limited to those whose cases are prosecuted.
- Victim-orientated training for police officers is associated with increased victim satisfaction and recovery, but less information is available on characteristics of effective training programmes.
- Research appears to be inconsistent or lacking in New Zealand that monitors compliance to guidelines for working with victims of crime (for police or prosecutors).
- Research to evaluate the court services for victims of sexual violence is currently underway. It would be desirable to know whether needs assessments, and what types, are currently being carried out with victims and witnesses.
- It would also be useful to review the current court facilities and the extent to which victims' and witnesses' needs can be catered for (eg, separate waiting rooms, use of pagers).

 There is a need for research on how well victims' needs are being responded to by the Parole Board. Research on this topic has been carried out in Britain, but is not necessarily applicable to the New Zealand situation. Victims' satisfaction with VIS and participation at parole hearings needs to be assessed. This is important as there is a risk if not managed properly their use can be disempowering for victims.

10 Integrated responses

Key points

- Victims of crime can find it confusing and frustrating dealing with multiple government agencies to obtain information about the criminal justice system, their rights, and how to access services. The experience of victims can be enhanced by integrating provision of services. There are a number of models with varying points of delivery, content and breadth of focus.
- Promising results have been found for victims of domestic violence when an integrated, multiagency response is provided (eg, New Zealand's Family Violence Interagency Response System (FVIARS) and the UK Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARCs) and IDVAs).
- Specialised integrated support centres are also considered good practice for victims of sexual violence (eg, Sexual Assault Referral Centres/SARC). The end-to-end specialist support provided by ISVA also appears promising.
- One-stop-shop or multiservice centres may have benefits for victims of crime and are currently being trialled in New Zealand, but have yet to be evaluated.

Widely regarded as confusing and frustrating for victims is the necessity of dealing with multiple government agencies when seeking information about the criminal justice system, one's rights as victims, and how to access services (Ministry of Justice, 2009). As outlined earlier, a recent review identified ten government agencies that provide services to victims of crime (see Appendix C). The range of agencies involved, the complexity of victims' needs (eg, physical, mental, financial, social and criminal justice), the fact that the interaction occurs at what is often an emotionally fraught and distressing time, suggest that integrated or multidisciplinary approaches would improve practice response to victims of crime (Fleming et al, 2006; Jennings et al, 2011; Green et al, 2010; Payne, 2009; Shepherd and Lisles, 1998).⁸⁹

Benefits of integration are likely to include better matching of services to victims, better uptake of information, information sharing among agencies, cost efficiencies in the delivery of services, and ultimately improved outcomes for victims.

There are two levels where an integrated response can occur (Australian Domestic and Family Violence Clearinghouse, 2010):

- **integrated provision of services**: a coordinated, possibly interagency, team or centre delivering services
- **integrated systems for service delivery**: a jurisdiction-wide model that encompasses multiple tiers of management, changes to core agency practice,

⁸⁹ Other terms to describe an integrated service response include interagency, joined-up service delivery, collaborative service delivery, multiagency and whole of government responses.

diverse aspects of service delivery, shared protocols and, often, integrated courts and legislative base.

Once again very little research was available on the effectiveness of *integrated systems* (the second bulleted level); all that was located was a small number of articles and reports, mainly case studies where this type of approach to services had been adopted.⁹⁰ It is likely this approach is used widely but not the subject of published reviews. Also worth noting is that the Australian Law Reform Commission (2010) recently completed a detailed national review of the legal response to family violence across Australia, of which one chapter was devoted to the importance of reviewing integrated responses and summarising the essential elements of an integrated response.⁹¹

The remainder of this chapter reviews the limited material on specialist integrated responses (the second level of integration).

10.1 Specialist integrated responses to family violence risk assessment

In New Zealand, victims of family violence are the only group of crime victims where a specialised interagency response is available. This occurs through the Family Violence Interagency Response System (FVIARS). Meetings of participants have been held regularly throughout New Zealand since 2006. Meetings are attended by representatives from New Zealand Police, Child Youth and Family, and the National Collective of Independent Women's Refuges (NCIWR).⁹² At each meeting, participants review new cases of family violence reported to police, and decide on recommended responses. The meetings enable an integrated response to be developed, based on guidelines for each individual agency's responsibilities:

- for initial response
- post-event assessment
- risk-response planning
- coordinated cross-sector support for victim empowerment
- child safety
- offender management and accountability.

A recent evaluation based on four case study sites found that FVIARS improved relationships between agencies, allowed for adaptability to local conditions, promoted efficient use of agency resources, and enabled a more accurate picture of individual

⁹⁰ Examples included: strategies to integrate and coordinate victims of crime services, in Queensland (Wilson et al, 2001); the challenges to delivering effective multiagency work for victims and witnesses of crime in Leicester (UK), (Fleming et al, 2006); and an integrated treatment system for victims of crime developed by Sutton Community Safety Partnership (2007), where a victim's needs are addressed following appropriate screening, assessment, care coordination and treatment review.

⁹¹ See <u>http://www.alrc.gov.au/publications/family-violence-national-legal-response-alrc-report-114</u>

⁹² Where an NCIWR representative is not available, a representative from another community agency such as Victim Support will attend. Other relevant community agency groups may also attend.

cases and assessment of risk of further violence (Carswell et al, 2010). The authors reported that outcomes for adult and child victims were harder to assess, due to lack of data on outcomes, although the authors noted anecdotal evidence of good outcomes.

Similar models have been used successfully overseas including the UK's Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARCs,⁹³ see Steel et al 2011 for a review) and are being introduced in some Australian states (see Australian Domestic and Family Violence Clearinghouse, 2010).

10.2 Independent advisors (IDVAs and ISVAs)

The roles of IDVA and ISVAs were discussed in the previous section under court support. They are independent workers located in community settings, and form multiagency partnerships with relevant agencies to work on behalf of the victim. IDVAs and ISVAs provide:

- emotional support
- advice and practical help
- support through the criminal justice process
- liaison with other agencies on behalf of the victim.

According to studies they succeed in enabling victims to receive an integrated response through networking and liaising on behalf of the victim (Robinson, 2009; Howarth et al, 2009). The same could be true of workers from other agencies in New Zealand supporting victims (eg, Victim Support NZ, SSVS and Women's Refuges); however, the 'independent' aspect of IDVA and ISVA may assist in their ability to effectively network and liaise.

10.3 Specialised integrated responses to sexual violence

Specialised integrated support centres are considered particularly good practice in responding to victims of sexual violence (Kelly, 2005; Mossman et al, 2009a). This approach has become popular in a number of jurisdictions including Australia, the UK, United States, Canada and South Africa (Mossman et al, 2009a). Centres are variously titled Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARC), Sexual Assault Centres, Sexual Assault Treatment Units and in South Africa Thuthuzela Care Centres. They bring together in one location a variety of medical, legal, counselling and support services for victims in the immediate aftermath of sexual assaults. They may be located in hospitals or (as in the UK and Australia) community based.

An evaluation has been carried on SARCs in the UK, which found that they integrated the needs of the criminal justice system with the needs of victims well. Victims tended to value highly the services provided (Lovett, Regan and Kelly, 2004).

A limitation of SARCs is a tendency to focus only on victims who report their assault to police (which is a small minority of cases). Mossman et al (2009a) noted that

⁹³

The IDVA and representatives from Housing and Probation also usually attend MARCs

services provided by SARCs complemented, but should not displace the communityrun SSVS, which have a different focus (eg, those victims who do not wish to report to police, including victims of historical sexual assault).⁹⁴

10.4 One-stop shops

The one-stop shop is another model of integrated service provision that has been developed to respond to both adults and children subjected to sexual and domestic violence or any form of violence against women. They are distinguished from SARCs by this broader focus, with SARCs limited to recent sexual assaults. A press release in May 2007 suggested a 'one-stop shop' bringing together specialists from Child, Youth and Family Services, the Counties Manukau District Health Board and some community agencies was to be set up under one roof in South Auckland (Mangnell, 2008). It was reported to be a multiagency service for victims of child abuse, adult sexual assault and family violence, housing medical staff and facilities, family safety teams with members from the Police, Child, Youth and Family Services and Women's Refuge, as well as police evidential, child abuse and adult sexual assault teams. Unfortunately no further details or evaluation of this initiative were located.

This integrated model of service delivery has been developed as a means to maximise scarce resources, which may account for it being common in third-world countries (Kelly, 2005). Whilst many practitioners support the idea of one-stop shops in principle, recognising the connections between forms of violence, there are also concerns that:

- child victims/survivors could be prioritised for services before adult victims/survivors
- domestic violence victims/survivors could be prioritised for services before sexual violence victims/survivors (Kelly, 2005).

10.5 Multiservice centres

Multiservice centres are a broader form of integrated service delivery, where a number of different agencies and services are combined, not under one roof, but in one location. A number of agencies are housed in one location and so can easily work together to assist common clients accessing a range of support and services.

In New Zealand, the Ministry of Social Development (MSD) has developed 'Community Link' centres based on this approach. Centres house a range of agencies to provide a joined-up way of working effectively with individuals and families who have multiple and complex needs. Currently, they are located in over 50

94

Mossman et al (2009a) noted that some community-based SSVS centres had incorporated aspects of SARCs into their own models of service delivery. For example, the Hutt Rape Counselling Network in Wellington works with police and forensic sexual abuse doctors (DSAC, 2006) and have developed a custom-made room on-site in which forensic medical examinations can be carried out.

sites around New Zealand and have recently been co-located with three Family Courts. They are described on the MSD website as follows: ⁹⁵

At Community Link, people, families and communities can expect support tailored to their own personal needs and priorities. This includes intensive wrap-around support if that is what is needed. At a Community Link, clients only need to tell their story once, not every time.

These principles seem highly applicable to victims of crime, but victim support services do not appear to be included as partner agencies at present. These centres could also be effective in making victim services more accessible to the high-risk 'hard to reach' groups. No evaluations were located on multiservice centres.

10.6 Dedicated victim centres

The establishment of national level dedicated victims centres appears to be another way to achieve a coordinated approach to service delivery (Cook et al., 1999). These centres can play a leading role in the national coordination of victim-related services, ensuring the entire spectrum of victim services are available and work and function together to address the needs of victims of crime. These centres were discussed in <u>section 5.3</u> and examples are provided in <u>Appendix B</u>.

10.7 Stocktake summary

95

• Evidence is beginning to emerge of the value and effectiveness of a number of models of integrated service provision (eg, FVAIRS, MARCS, ISVAs and IDVAs and SARCs). Other models, whilst they intuitively make good sense, have not been evaluated.

Information accessed from MSD website <u>https://www.msd.govt.nz/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/corporate/annual-report/2010-11/communities-supporting-themselves.html</u>

Part four: Key findings

11 Summary and implications

This review has traversed an extensive range of research on crime victimisation, its consequences and what is known about effective responses. This final section summarises some of the key findings and implications that have emerged. It concludes with a summary of overriding principles of good service delivery, and identified gaps in knowledge.

The challenge of capturing the breadth of research in this area was raised in the introduction by Lauritsen and Archakova (2008) and was certainly borne out in completing this review. Whilst an exhaustive review of all aspects was not possible, it is hoped that this review will be a useful resource for those requiring an overview of key issues or looking for a starting point to further explore issues.

In considering the state of research in this area, New Zealand is fortunate in having **robust and comprehensive information from the NZCASS** on the nature and extent of crime victimisation. This is essential information for the planning and targeting of resources and to improve understanding of the support needs of victims.

Findings from this survey have demonstrated that victimisation is not evenly distributed; certain subgroups are at increased risk of experiencing crime (eg, younger persons, Māori and 'other' ethnic groups, sole parents, students, those living in households comprising flatmates, and being unemployed or on a benefit). Other groups are more vulnerable to adverse reactions as a result of victimisation (eg, individuals who have experienced multiple or repeat victimisation, younger victims, victims with disabilities, and those of low socioeconomic status). Many of those at increased risk of victimisation and adverse consequences are in 'hard-to-reach' groups, and efforts to increase accessibility of support services for these should be a priority.

In singling out groups most at risk of victimisation it is however important to note individual risk factors often cluster together, meaning some groups carry a particularly heavy burden of risk. Analysis of NZCASS data suggests that it is **inherent disadvantage** rather than separate factors related to it (such as being Māori or a sole parent) that underlies heightened risk; as such, this should be the focus of crime prevention and victim services initiatives. Targeting socially and economically deprived areas allows support to reach those most in need without singling out particular groups and thereby stigmatising members of those groups.

While NZCASS provides evidence that impacts experienced can differ according to the type of crime, and personal characteristics of the victim, an equally strong finding is that victims of the same type of crime can exhibit very different reactions. Alternatively, victims of different crimes can have similar reactions. This means predicting the intensity and duration of an individual's reaction to a crime, whether they will develop mental health disorders, or experience functional impairment, is difficult and complex. A central tenet of effective response therefore must include

assessing the specific needs of each victim and providing or coordinating an individualised response. Research suggests needs should be reassessed at various stages of the process, from the point of crisis through to pre- and post- court involvement. Currently standardised tools or processes for carrying out needs assessments of crime victims are not available in New Zealand.

The integrity of the criminal justice system is reliant on victim participation, hence the importance of understanding victim satisfaction and barriers to accessing the criminal justice system. Understanding barriers to seeking help is also vitally important. In New Zealand we are building a strong body of in-depth **qualitative evidence** on what victims, particularly those of serious crimes, say they need; similarly, we know a great deal about victims' satisfaction or otherwise with services and responses received. While not representative of all victims, this research has provided valuable insights into the experiences of crime victims, including their experiences of criminal justice responses. This qualitative research now needs to be followed up with quantitative approaches using representative samples to better understand the scale of and extent of issues identified (eg, problems accessing information, issues communicating with police and prosecutors).

In completing this review, the type of research that emerged as **most lacking was well-designed research that measures the effectiveness** of victim support services (other gaps in knowledge are listed in section 11.2 below). While reliable overseas research has documented the range of adverse consequences of victimisation (particularly negative mental health outcomes), we still know very little about what works in supporting victims of crime in their healing and recovery.

There is empirical evidence of the effectiveness of certain treatment approaches to reducing PTSD symptoms in the short and longer term. However, other counselling approaches perhaps more commonly used in community settings have not been researched. Also apparently lacking is an understanding of effective crisis responses.

It is acknowledged that researching outcomes in this field is difficult; however perhaps lessons need to be learned from other fields such as health, in which it has been possible to carry out this type of research (eg, effectiveness of trauma counselling in accident and emergency departments). Also useful may be defining and evaluating 'quality aspects' of services, as well as outcomes achieved. Crosssectional longitudinal research has also proved valuable in isolating factors associated with positive life outcomes and could be explored as a useful way forward.

Whilst demonstrating outcomes of interventions has been difficult, certain aspects of service delivery have consistently emerged as important. A complete list appears in section 11.1 below; mentioned here are the four most prominent elements.

- While outcomes are important, what appears most important to victims is fair and decent treatment, and the perception that appropriate action has been taken. This is consistent with the model of procedural justice. The provision of timely and accurate information is also an essential component of this, and goes a long way to managing the expectations of victims of crime.
- Ensuring accessibility of services is also essential. New Zealand Police's automatic referral system of victims of crime to service providers is a positive

initiative. The relationships between parties and coverage of support services, albeit on limited funding, appear good and receive positive appraisals from victims. This may explain why New Zealand has among the highest take-up rates of support services by victims, relative to other countries. Another Police initiative, 'Victim Focus', aims to identify repeat victims, a positive move that is likely to improve service responses to what can be hard-to-reach groups. However, the 2006 NZCASS found 13% of victims described unmet needs for assistance, so there is still considerable scope for ensuring victims from all sectors of society have access to appropriate services.

- Research also supports victim-orientated training as an important means to improve service responses. Some areas of specialist victim training are delivered to New Zealand Police (eg, family violence and sexual assault). Other sectors of the criminal justice system have produced guidelines (eg, for Crown prosecutors) but formalised victim-focused training generally appears to be lacking.
- An observation noted here in New Zealand and elsewhere is that the range of agencies providing victim services can make it difficult for victims to know who to look to for information and support. Providing a single point of contact that is available end-to-end, to help victims navigate and access systems of care and justice, appears important. A promising support model that delivers this is that of the UK's independent advisors (Independent Sexual Violence Advisors) and Independent Domestic Violence Advisors).

Recognition of the adverse effects of crime on victims, including the risk of secondary victimisation for those seeking justice through the legal system, has resulted in significant efforts to **protect victims' rights** and achieve adequate standards of care. International understanding and agreement on fundamental victims' rights has existed since the 1985 UN Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power.

In many respects New Zealand has led the way in recognising victims' rights. For example, New Zealand was the first country to offer state-funded compensation to crime victims for personal injury, and among the earliest to introduce court-ordered reparation for victims (a right still campaigned for in some jurisdictions). Victims in New Zealand had comparatively early access to restorative justice, whilst various legal reforms have improved the rights and treatment of victims and ensuring their views are heard through the trial process. This includes, with the judge's authorisation, the right for victims of certain offences to orally present a victim impact statement, again another right unavailable to victims in many jurisdictions.

There have been some minor shifts in international thinking on how to protect victims' rights (eg, responding to victims who are particularly vulnerable, recognising the importance of preventing and reducing repeat victimisation, and considering allowing a victim the right to appeal a decision not to prosecute). New Zealand has already accommodated, or is currently proposing to address, many of these.

However, whilst the provisions accommodated in New Zealand's legislation are either already consistent with, or working towards international best practice, there is currently no means of evaluating how well these provisions are being implemented. Certainly NZCASS has shown there are unmet needs amongst some victims and overall levels of satisfaction with criminal justice agencies could be improved. None

of the victims' rights provided for in legislation are legally enforceable, and there is little or no monitoring of government and community agencies' compliance. Unsatisfactorily, victims who wish to complain are currently required to navigate different processes in each of the agencies involved.

This failure to monitor compliance, and inaccessible complaints system, has however been recognised by Government and is one of the key aims of the new Victims Code currently under development. The new complaints process to be introduced through the Victims of Crime Reform Bill will assist in developing a picture of victims' concerns regarding the services and support they receive.

Whilst it is imperative that processes are developed to ensure those providing services to victims are held accountable, it will be important to avoid mistakes encountered in England and Wales where a code of practice was found to be too detailed, and thus inaccessible to victims. The South African approach may have more merit, with a simple and accessible code, backed up by agency-developed comprehensive guidelines and means of demonstrating compliance and accountability.

The role of the Victims Centre will also be important in coordinating the often overlapping roles and responsibilities of agencies and services. A challenge for the centre will be ensuring victims have choice, and can select the services and support most appropriate to their needs. However, it is also important to avoid duplication of services and resources, to prevent victims from 'falling between the gaps', where agencies assume other parties have provided particular services.

The majority of the victims' needs highlighted throughout this review have been well known for many years; efforts must now shift towards understanding how these needs can be addressed.

11.1 Guiding principles for providing effective service and support to victims of crime

A key aim of this report was to provide information on how best to support victims of crime. In reviewing the extensive range of research relevant to crime victimisation, a number of guiding principles emerge as important in delivering effective support and services to victims. These principles are applicable to all agencies, government and non-government, that work with victims of crime.

Respectful and confidential treatment: available research shows while outcomes are important to victims (eg, reparation, convictions), consistent with the concept of procedural justice, the manner in which victims are treated is more important.

Individualised response / flexible services: there is strong evidence that people are affected differently by crime. Services allocated purely by crime type or victim type are likely to miss other victims with significant needs. Assessment must ensure individual needs are identified, and services need to be sufficiently flexible to provide individualised response. A range of service options should be offered so that individual preferences can be catered for.

Services are accessible: Services can only assist victims if they are known to victims, victims are comfortable using them, and are available at the time and location where needed. Participation in the justice system can be important to victims and so must be accessible to them. Therefore:

- services need to be well advertised, and use publicity campaigns to ensure victims are aware of their existence
- certain services need to be available 24-hours (eg, crisis response)
- services and access to justice need also to be available in rural and provincial areas; internet-based resources can enable online learning, social networking and self-help access for those in remote areas
- services and justice responses need be culturally appropriate and accessible to those from different ethnic backgrounds (eg, Māori, Pacific Peoples, Asian)
- services and justice responses need to be sensitive to the needs of vulnerable populations and accessible to those with disabilities, younger victims, those living in socially and economically deprived areas.

Provision of 'right information, at the right time, in the right format': Provision of information has consistently been shown to be one of the most important needs for victims. This can be vital in enabling victims to make informed choices, to help them feel more in control, and importantly to help manage expectations. Important characteristics include:

- providing information at the right time and in the right format for example victims may be too traumatised to absorb information if it is provided too soon after the crime, or may require written information that they can look through at a later point. Personalised information given face-to-face can also be important at certain stages (eg, pre-trial preparation)
- information given in a timely fashion victims need to receive regular updates on the progress of their case. It is also important that priority is given to victims receiving information before the media or other parties – adopting a 'no surprises' policy seems particularly important for victims
- information is accurate being given incorrect information, at times when they are struggling to accept and deal with traumatic events, can significantly set back victims' coping and recovery
- information needs to be user-friendly to all ages, ethnicities and those with disabilities
- who to contact for information, and how the relevant agency or person can be contacted, needs to be clearly identified.

Delivered by experienced, knowledgeable, well-trained, empathetic staff: the following characteristics appear important in ensuring quality service:

- victims' privacy and confidentiality is understood and respected
- workers have received specialist victim training, and have professional supervision (not only those supporting and counselling victims, but also for police and prosecution, especially around decision making).

Consistent high quality services and support: Victims should also receive a consistent standard of service regardless of where they live, and the individual staff assigned to their case (eg, police, prosecutor). The following factors can assist in achieving this:

- recruiting appropriately qualified and/or trained staff
- screening and assessment is used to identify individual needs
- development of guidelines that are monitored for compliance can assist with the provision of the same level and quality of service to all victims of similar crimes. Importance of mandatory training can also improve consistency of service.

Integrated service provision: The number of agencies a victim must deal with to get information about the criminal justice system, their rights and how to access services can be overwhelming. Providing an integrated multiagency service response can be effective in increasing access to services and information for victims, assisting with information sharing among agencies and ultimately improving outcomes for victims.

End-to-end individualised support: Research has suggested victims prefer one point of contact, and to be supported throughout their journey by one person. This limits the number of times they have to 'tell their story'.

Accountable services: Victims' rights instruments and other policies and guidelines do not implement themselves. Service providers must be held accountable for delivering services as prescribed. The following strategies are important in achieving this:

- identification and monitoring of minimum standards of care
- an easily accessible complaints process allows monitoring of standards, and also enables consumer feedback to feed into improved services.

11.2 Gaps in knowledge

A final goal of this review was to identify information gaps, and thereby guide the Ministry of Justice's future work and planning. A stocktake summary appears at the end of each chapter; areas highlighted below are those that may warrant further consideration and attention.

- There is a dearth of empirically based research on the effectiveness of support programmes for victims. Research is needed that focuses on *outputs* delivered, (eg, practical support, assistance in accessing services and financial support, provision of safety and protection, and assistance in preparing VIS or for parole board hearings) as well as research on *outcomes* (including psychological, relational, material, occupational, and health outcomes). While there is information available on victims' satisfaction with services, we currently have little idea of the effectiveness of services in remedying, in the medium and long term, the wellbeing of victims.
- Many jurisdictions have carried out a stocktake of victims' services as an important first step in evaluating gaps and overlaps in service provision. This also

appears useful in developing an online directory of service providers. While New Zealand is a relatively small country and with just a few main providers of victim support services, this review revealed little information is known on:

- what types of services are provided by which providers (eg, help lines, crisis response, counselling, court support)
- what screening and assessment processes are used
- ^o for those who provide counselling, the approaches used
- availability and use of professional supervision
- services available for minority and hard-to-reach groups.
- NZCASS findings point to 'inherent disadvantage' as being the underlying factor leading to heightened risk of victimisation. Yet this group is also typically the hardest group to reach. Understanding how to identify and respond to the needs of this group of victims would appear to be a priority.
- Also important is greater understanding of the support and justice needs of different groups of victims, in particular Māori, Pacific peoples, Asian, young victims, older victims and those with disabilities. A booster sample enabled a dedicated analysis of NZCASS findings for Māori, but sample sizes of other minority groups are typically insufficient to reliably assess differences. Insights can be gained through in-depth qualitative research, but is currently either outdated or lacking for these groups.
- Other groups which we have little or no information on are:
 - those excluded from NZCASS (eg, those under 15 years old, the homeless, those living in boarding houses)
 - organisations and businesses (current definitions of the 'victim' of crime exclude organisations and businesses)
 - the needs of property offence victims (little attention has been given to this group despite the high prevalence of this type of crime and, in the case of vehicle thefts, relatively high levels of self-reported impact).
- Valuable information on crime victims' experiences and needs was extracted from the 2006 NZCASS data. This allowed important assessment of uptake of support services and unmet needs. A similar dedicated analysis is awaited on the 2009 NZCASS data.
- Surveying crime victims' awareness of their rights will be important in monitoring the success of the current crime victims' reform work. If victims are unaware of their rights it is unlikely they will exercise them. Also important will be monitoring accessing rights (eg, the extent to which victims are offered and use alternative means of presenting evidence). It will be important to survey service providers' awareness of victims' rights.
- New Zealand has almost no information on crime victims' experiences of participating in parole hearings. Research with victims registered on the VNR, similar to the Canadian APAI survey, could be useful.

- Detailed analysis of the experience of victims who participate in the criminal justice system this is similar to the UK's WAVES research but preferably would include victims who report crimes to police but whose case is not progressed.
- The review failed to locate detailed information on some areas, and more focused reviews on the following seem important:
 - effective crisis responses
 - screening and needs assessments
 - effective training programmes
 - effective complaints systems.

References

- ACC (2008) Sexual Abuse and Mental Injury: practice guidelines for Aotearoa New Zealand. Wellington: Accident Compensation Corporation.
- ADVANCE AFRICA (2005) Best practices final report. Arlington, VA: Advance Africa.
- AGORASTOS, A., MARMAR, C. R., and OTTE, C (2011) Immediate and early behavioural interventions for the prevention of acute and posttraumatic stress disorder. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 24: 526–532.
- ALLEN, J., EDMONDS, S., PATTERSON, A. and SMITH, D (2006) Policing and the criminal justice system public confidence and perceptions: Findings from the 2004/05 British Crime Survey. *Home Office Online Report 07/06.* London: Home Office.
- AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL AUSTRALIA (2008) Setting the standard: International good practice to inform an Australian national plan of action to eliminate violence against women. Broadway, NSW: Amnesty International Australia.
- AMSTADTER, A., MCCART, M. and RUGGIERO, K (2007) Psychosocial interventions for adults with crime-related PTSD. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 38: 640–651.
- APAI (2012a) Best practices in crime victims services. Association of Paroling Authorities International: Newsletter, 1, 2–4.
- APAI (2012b) *APAI crime victims committee survey*. Association of Paroling Authorities International.
- ARMOUR, M (2006) Exploring "closure" and the ultimate penal sanction for survivors of homicide victims. *Federal Sentencing Reporter*, 19: 105–112.
- ASARO, M. R. and CLEMENTS, P. T (2005) Homicide bereavement: A family affair. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 1: 101–18.
- ASTBURY, J (2006) Services for victim/survivors of sexual assault: Identifying needs, interventions and provision of services in Australia. ACSSA Issues No. 6. Melbourne, Aust.: Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault.
- AUSTRALIAN DOMESTIC AND FAMILY VIOLENCE CLEARINGHOUSE (2010) Understanding domestic violence and integration in the NSW context: A literature review. NSW, Australia: UNSW Global Pty Limited.
- AUSTRALIAN LAW REFORM COMMISSION (2010) *Family Violence–A National Legal Response.* ACT, Australia: Australian Government.
- BAZLEY, D. M (2007) *Report of the commission of inquiry into police conduct*, Volume 1. Wellington: Commission of Inquiry into Police Conduct.
- BONANNO, G. (2004) Loss, trauma, and human resilience: have we underestimated the human capacity to thrive after extremely aversive events? *American Psychologist,* 59: 20–23.
- BONANNO, G. A., RENNICKE, C., and DEKEL, S (2005) Self-enhancement among high-exposure survivors of the September 11th terrorist attack: Resilience or social maladjustment? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 88: 984–998.
- BOOTH, T. and CARRINGTON, K (2007) A comparative analysis of the victim policies across the Anglo-speaking world. In *Handbook of victims and victimology*. WALKLATE, S (ed). Cullomptom, Devon: Willam Publishing.
- BRADFORD, B (2011) Voice, neutrality and respect: Use of Victim Support services, procedural fairness and confidence in the criminal justice system. *Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 11: 345–366.
- BRADFORD, B (2010) The quality of police contact: procedural justice concerns among victims of crime in London (April 27, 2010). Available at SSRN:

http://ssrn.com/abstract=1596754 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1596754. Oxford: University of Oxford - Centre of Criminology.

- BRADFORD, B., JACKSON, J. and STANKO, E. A (2009) Contact and confidence: Revisiting the impact of public encounters with the police. *Policing and Society*, 19: 20–46.
- BRIENEN, M. and HOEGEN, E (2000) victims of crime in 22 European criminal justice system. Nijmegen: Wolf Legal Productions.
- BURGESS, A. W. and HAZELWOOD, R. R (1999) The victim's perspective. In *Practical aspects of rape investigation: A multidisciplinary approach.* BURGESS, R. R. H. A. A. W 2nd ed (ed). Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- BURTON, M., EVANS, R. and SANDERS, A (2006) Are special measures for vulnerable and intimidated witnesses working? *Home Office Online Report 01/06.* London: Home Office.
- CAMPBELL, R (2008) The psychological impact of rape victims' experiences with the legal, medical, and mental health systems. *American Psychologist*, 63: 702–717.
- CAMPBELL, R (2001) *Mental health services for rape survivors: Current issues in therapeutic practice*. Minnesota: Minnesota Center against Violence and Abuse.
- CAMPBELL, R. and RAJA, S (1999) Secondary victimization of rape victims: Insights from mental health professionals who treat survivors of violence. *Violence and Victims*, 14: 261–275.
- CAMPBELL, R., WASCO, S. M., AHRENS, C. E., SEFL, T. and BARNES, H. E (2001) Preventing the "Second Rape". *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 16: 1239–1259.
- CANADIAN RESOURCE CENTRE FOR VICTIMS OF CRIME (2006) History of victims' rights in Canada. Accessed 21/3/2012 from http://www.crcvc.ca/docs/vicrights.pdf.
- CANNON, J. S. and KILBURN, M. R (2003) Meeting decision-makers' needs for evidence-based information on child and family policy. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management,* 22: 665.
- CARLSON, E. B. and DUTTON, M. A (2003) Assessing experiences and responses of crime victims. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 16: 133.
- CARSWELL, S., ATKIN, S., WILDE, V., LENNAN, M. and KALAPU, L (2010) Evaluation of the family violence interagency response system (FVIARS): summary of findings. Wellington: Centre for Social Research and Evaluation, Te Pokapū Rangahau Arotake Hapori.
- COHEN, J., BERLINER, L. and MANNARINO, A (2003) Psychosocial and pharmacological interventions for child crime victims. *Journal of Traumatic Stress,* 16: 175.
- COLMAR BRUNTON (2010) *Understanding our court users: Court user survey 2010.* Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- COMMISSIONER FOR VICITMS AND WITNESSES (UK) (2011) Response to the Green paper. London: Ministry of Justice.
- COOK, B., DAVID, F. and GRANT, A (1999) Victims' needs, victims' rights : Policies and programs for victims of crime in Australia. *Research and public policy series No.19.* Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology.
- COOPER, M., WARTHE, D. G. and HOFFART, I (2004) *Family and sexual violence sector review: Companion document 2: Review of best practice in family and sexual violence programming*. Calgary, Canada: United Way of Calgary; The City of Calgary; Calgary Child and Family Services.
- CRAM, F (2012) Safety of subsequent children. Māori children and whānau: A review of selected literature. Wellington: Families Commission-Kōmihana ā Whānau.

- CRAM, F., PIHAMA, L. and KAREHANA, M (1999) *Meeting the needs of Māori victims of crime*. Wellington: Te Puni Kokiri and Ministry of Justice.
- CRIMINAL JUSTICE JOINT INSPECTION (2012) Joint inspection report on the experience of young victims and witnesses in the criminal justice system. London: H M Crown Prosecution Service Inspectorate and H M Inspectorate of Constabulary.
- CROWN LAW (2010) Victims of crime: Guidance for prosecutors. Wellington: Crown Law.
- CSRE (2011) Family violence in migrant and refugee families and successful models of prevention and intervention: A summary analysis and annotated bibliography. Wellington: Centre for Research and Evaluation, Ministry of Justice.
- CUNNINGHAM, C., TRIGGS, S. and FAISANDIER, S (2009) Analysis of the Māori experience: Findings from the New Zealand crime and safety survey 2006. Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- CURTIS, M., and MCCOY, C (1999) Collaborative approaches to restoring victims of crime in NSW. *Restoration for Victims of Crime Conference convened by the Australian Institute of Criminology in conjunction with Victims Referral and Assistance Service.* Melbourne.
- DAANE, D. M (2006) Rape: Victims and survivors. In *Crisis Intervention in Criminal Justice/Social Service* (4th ed). H. Hendricks and B. D. Byers (eds). Springfield, United States: Charles C Thomas, pp 233–263.
- DAVIS, R. C (1987) Studying the effects of services for victims in crisis. *Crime & Delinquency*, 33: 520–531.
- DEHART, D (2003) National victims assistance consortium: Standards for victims assistance programs and providers. Columbia, South Carolina: Center for Child and Family Studies, University of South Carolina.
- DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND CONSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT (2010) *Report consultative workshop: Victims charter.* South Africa: Department of Justice and Constitutional Development.
- DOAK, J (2008) Victims' rights, human rights and criminal justice: Reconceiving the role of third parties, Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- DOBASH, R. E., DOBASH, R. P., CAVANAGH, K. and LEWIS, R (2000) *Changing violent men,* London: Sage.
- DSAC (2006) *The Medical Management of Sexual Assault.* 6th ed. Auckland: Doctors for Sexual Abuse Care.
- DUNN, P (2008) Evidence-led or cobbled together? Victim policy and victimological research. *Criminal Justice Matters.* 72: 28–30.
- DUNN, P (2007) Matching service delivery to need. In *Handbook of Victims and Victimology*. WALKLATE, S. (ed). Cullomptom, Devon: Willam Publishing.
- DURIE, M (1995) *Ngā Matatini Māori: Diverse Māori realities*. Palmerston North: Massey University.
- EDWARDS, I (2004) An ambiguous participant. *British Journal of Criminology*, 44: 967–982.
- EHLERS, A. and CLARK, D. M (2000) A cognitive model of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy.* 38: 319–345.
- ELLIOTT, L. and O'BRIEN, W (2011) Sophie's legacy: A mother's story of her family loss and their quest for change. Auckland: Longacre.
- ELLISON, L. and WHEATCROFT, J (2010) *Exploring the influence of courtroom questioning and pre-trial preparation on adult witness accuracy*. Leeds: Leeds University.
- ENGLEBRECHT, C. M (2011) The struggle for "ownership of conflict": An exploration of victim participation and voice in the criminal justice system. *Criminal Justice Review.* 36: 129–151.

- EPATI, A. S (1995) Samoan notions of cultural and social justice: conflicts with Western law systems. In *Re-thinking Criminal Justice. Volume I: Justice in the Community.* MCELREA, F. W. M. (ed). Wellington: Legal Research Foundation.
- EVERLY, G. and MITCHELL, J (2000) The debriefing "controversy" and crisis intervention: A review of lexical and substantive issues. *International Journal of Emergency Medicine*. 2(4): 211–255.
- FAMILY VIOLENCE DEATH REVIEW COMMITTEE (2011) Family violence death review committee. Second Report: October 2009 to November 2011. Wellington: Family Violence Death Review Committee.
- FANSLOW, J (2005) Beyond zero tolerance: Key issues and future directions for family violence work in New Zealand. Wellington: Families Commission.
- FEDER, G. S., RAMSAY, J., DUNNE, D., ROSE, M., ARSENSE, C. and NORMAN, R (2009) How far does screening women for domestic (partner) violence in different health-care settings meet criteria for a screening programme? Systematic reviews of nine UK National Screening Committee criteria. *Health Technology Assessment.* 13: 137–347.
- FELDTHUSEN, B., HANKIVSKY, O. and GREAVES, L (2000) Therapeutic consequences of civil actions for damages and compensation claims by victims of sexual abuse. *Canadian Journal of Women & the Law.* 12: 66–116.
- FERGUSON, H (2003) Outline of a critical best practice perspective on social work and social care. *British Journal of Social Work*. 33: 1005–1024.
- FLANNERY, R.B and EVERLY, G (2000) Crisis Intervention: A review. *International Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 2(2): 119–125.
- FLATLEY, J., KERSHAW, C., SMITH, K., CHAPLIN, R. and MOON, D (2010) Crime in England and Wales 2009/10: Findings from the British crime survey and police recorded crime. *Home Office Statistical Bulletin 12/10.* London: Home Office.
- FLEMING, J., GOODMAN, H., KNIGHT, V. and SKINNER, A (2006) Delivering effective multi-agency work for victims and witnesses of crime. *Practice.* 18: 265–278.
- FLETT, R. A., KAZANTZIS, N., LONG, N. R., MACDONALD, C. and MILLAR, M (2002) Traumatic events and physical health in a New Zealand community sample. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 15: 303–312.
- FOA, E., DAVIDSON, F. and FRANCES, A (1999) The expert consensus guidelines series: Treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry.* 60: 4–76.
- FOA, E. B., and KOZAK, M. J (1986) Emotional processing of fear: Exposure to corrective information. *Psychological Bulletin.* 99: 20–35.
- FRANKLYN, R (2012) Satisfaction and willingness to engage with the criminal justice system. Findings from the witness and victim experience survey, 2009–10. *Ministry of Justice Research Series 1/12.* London: Ministry of Justice.
- GANJU, V (2003) Implementation of evidence-based practices in state mental health systems: Implications for research and effectiveness studies. *Schizophrenia Bulletin.* 29: 125–131.
- GAVEY, N (2005) Just sex? The cultural scaffolding of rape. Hove: Routledge.
- GA-YOUNG, C (2011) Organizational impacts on the secondary traumatic stress of social workers assisting family violence or sexual assault survivors. *Administration in Social Work.* 35: 225–242.
- GLASBY, J. and BERESFORD, P (2006) Commentary and issues: Who knows best? Evidence-based practice and the service user contribution. *Critical Social Policy*. 25: 268–284.
- GOODRUM, S (2007) Victims' rights, victims' expectations, and law enforcement workers' constraints in cases of murder. *Law & Social Inquiry*. 32: 725–757.

- GORDON, G (2011) *Victim support consumer evaluation 2010–2011 final report.* Wellington: Victim Support New Zealand.
- GRAVITAS RESEARCH AND STRATEGY LTD (2011) Annual citizens' satisfaction survey: Final report for 2010/11 Fiscal Year (July 2010 to June 2011). Wellington: New Zealand Police.
- GRAY, M. J. and ACIERNO, R (2002) Symptom presentations of older adult crime victims: description of a clinical sample. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*. 16: 299–309.
- GREEN, D., CHOI, J. and KANE, M (2010) Coping strategies for victims of crime: effects of the use of emotion-focused, problem-focused, and avoidanceoriented coping. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment.* 20: 732.
- GREEN, D. and POMEROY, E (2007) Crime victims: What is the role of social support? *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma.* 15: 97–113.
- GROENHUIJSEN, M. S (2009) Current status of the convention on justice for victims of crime and abuse power. In *Raising the global standards for victims: The proposed convention on justice for victims of crime and abuse of power*. DUSSICH, J. P. and MUNDY, K. G. (eds). Tokyo: Seibundo Publishing.
- GUDJONSSON, G. H (2010) Psychological vulnerabilities during police interviews. Why are they important? *Legal & Criminological Psychology.* 15: 161–175.
- HAMILTON-KATENE, S (2009) National stocktake of kaupapa and tikanga Māori services in crisis, intervention, long-term recovery and care for sexual violence. Unpublished. Wellington: Te Puni Kökiri.
- HANNA, K., DAVIES, E., HENDERSON, E., CROTHERS, C. and ROTHERHAM, C (2010) Child witnesses in the New Zealand courts: A review of practice and implications for policy. Wellington: New Zealand Law Foundation with Ministry of Social Development and the New Zealand Police.
- HANSON, R. F., SAWYER, G. K., BEGLE, A. M. and HUBEL, G. S (2010) The impact of crime victimization on quality of life. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 23: 189–197.
- HANSON, R. F. and BROWN, S (2010) Screening and assessment of crime victimization and its effects. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 23: 207–214.
- HASSIJA, C. M. and GRAY, M. J (2011) The effectiveness and feasibility of videoconferencing technology to provide evidence-based treatment to rural domestic violence and sexual assault populations. *Telemedicine Journal and e-Health.* 17: 309–315.
- HAWKER, D. M., DURKIN, J. and HAWKER, D. S (2011) To debrief or not to debrief our heroes: That is the question. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy.* 18: 453–463.
- HEMBREE, E. and FOA, E (2003) Interventions for trauma-related emotional disturbances in adult victims of crime. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 16: 187.
- HERMAN, J. L (2005) Justice from the victim's perspective. *Violence Against Women.* 11: 571–602.
- HERMAN, J. L (2003) The mental health of crime victims: Impact of legal intervention. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 16: 159–166.
- HERMAN, S (2010) Parallel justice: An interview with Susan Herman. *Murder* Victims' Families for Human Rights Newsletter, Newsletter 9: 4–5.
- HMIP (2003) Thematic inspection report: 'Valuing the Victim': An inspection into national victim contact arrangements. London: Home Office.
- HO, E., COOPER, J and RAUSHMAYR, R (2006) *Ethnic community perceptions of the New Zealand Police*. Wellington: New Zealand Police.
- HOOG, C (2004) *Model protocol on safety planning for domestic violence victims with disabilities.* Washington, DC: Washington State Coalition against Domestic Violence.

HORNE, C (2003) Families of homicide victims: service utilisation patterns of extraand intrafamilial homicide survivors. *Journal of Family Violence*. 18: 75–82.

- HOSKINS, H. S (2011) The effects of victim-related contextual factors on the criminal justice system. *Crime and Delinquency.* 57: 298.
- HOWARD, L. M., TREVILLION, K. and AGNEW-DAVIES, R (2010) Domestic violence and mental health. *International Review of Psychiatry*. 22: 525–534.
- HOWARTH, E., STIMPSON, L., BARRAN, D. and ROBINSON, A (2009) Safety in numbers: A multi-site evaluation of independent domestic violence advisor services. London: The Henry Smith Charity.
- INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF CHIEFS OF POLICE (IACP) (2007) Enhancing law enforcement response to victims: a 21st century strategy. IACP. Alexandria, VA: IACP.
- JACKSON, M (1995) A colonial contradiction or a rangatiratanga reality. In *Rethinking Criminal Justice. Volume I: Justice in the Community.* MCELREA, F. W. M. (ed). Wellington: Legal Research Foundation.
- JACKSON, M (1989) Summary produced by Project Waitangi of Moana Jackson's report. The Māori and the criminal justice system: A new perspective. He whauipaanga hou. Wellington: Project Waitangi.
- JACKSON, M (1988) *The Māori and the criminal justice system: A new perspective: He whauipaanga hou part 2.* Study Series 18. Wellington: Department of Justice.
- JACKSON, M (1987) *The Māori and the criminal justice system: A new perspective: He whauipaanga hou.* Study Series 18. Wellington: Department of Justice.
- JENNINGS, W. G., GOVER, A. R. and PIQUERO, A. R (2011) Integrating the American criminal justice and mental health service systems to focus on victimization. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology.* 55: 1272–1290.
- JOHNSON, D. M., ZLOTNICK, C. and PEREZ, S (2011) Cognitive behavioral treatment of PTSD in residents of battered women's shelters: results of a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology.* 79: 542–551.
- JOHNSON, R (2005) The evolution of family violence criminal courts in New Zealand (Paper by Chief District Court Judge). *Police Executive Conference*. Nelson.
- JORDAN, J (2012) Silencing rape, silencing women. In *Handbook on Sexual Violence*. WALKLATE, J. M. B. A. S. L. (ed). London: Routledge.
- JORDAN, J (2008) *Serial survivors: Women's narratives of surviving rape.* Sydney: The Federation Press.
- JORDAN, J (2005) What would McGyver do? The meaning(s) of resistance and survival. *Violence Against Women.* 11: 531–559.
- JORDAN, J (2004) *The word of a woman: Police, rape and belief.* Basingstoke: Palgrave MacMillan.
- JORDAN, J (2002) Will Any Woman Do?: Police, gender, and rape victims. *Policing:* An International Journal of Police Strategies and Management. 25: 319–324.
- JORDAN, J (2001) Worlds apart?; Women, rape and the police reporting process. *British Journal of Criminology.* 41: 679–706.
- JORDAN, J (1998) *Reporting rape: Women's experiences with the police, doctors and support agencies.* Wellington: Institute of Criminology, Victoria University of Wellington.
- JUSTICE AND ELECTORAL COMMITTEE (2007) Inquiry into victims' rights Report of the Justice and Electoral Committee. Wellington: New Zealand House of Representatives.

- KALAGA, H. and KINGSON, P (2007) A review of literature on effective interventions that prevent and respond to harm against adults. Edinburgh: Scottish Government Social Research.
- KELLY, L (2005) *Promising practices addressing sexual violence*. Vienna, Austria: United Nations Division for the Advancement of Women.
- KELLY, V. G., MERRILL, G. S., SHUMWAY, M., ALVIDREZ, J. and BOCCELLARI, A (2010) Outreach, Engagement, and Practical Assistance: Essential aspects of PTSD care for urban victims of violent crime. *Trauma Violence Abuse*. 11: 144–156.
- KILPATRICK, D. G. and ACIERNO, R (2003) Mental health needs of crime victims: Epidemiology and outcomes. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 16: 119–132.
- KILPATRICK, D. G., SAUNDERS, B. E., VERONEN, L. J., BEST, C. L. and VON, J. M (1987) Criminal victimization: Lifetime prevalence, reporting to police, and psychological impact. *Crime & Delinquency.* 33: 479–489.
- KINGI, V (2011) *Exploring the needs of families of homicide victims*. Wellington: Victim Support New Zealand.
- KINGI, V. and JORDAN, J (2009) Responding to sexual violence: pathways to recovery. Wellington: Ministry of Women's Affairs.
- KOLOTO, A (2003) *The needs of Pacific peoples when they are victims of crime.* Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- KOLOTO, A. and SHARMA, S (2005) The needs of Pacific women when they are victims of family violence. *Social Policy of New Zealand.* 26: 84–96.
- KOSS, M. P., BAILEY, J. A., YUAN, N. P., HERRERA, V. M. and LICHTER, E. L. (2003) Depression and PTSD in survivors of male violence: Research and training initiatives to facilitate recovery. *Psychology of Women Quarterly.* 27: 130–142.
- KOSS, M. P (2000) Shame, blame and community: justice responses to violence against women. *American Psychologist*. 55: 1332–43.
- KOSS, M. P., HEISE, L. and RUSSO, N. F (1994) The global health burden of rape. *Psychology of Women Quarterly.* 18: 509–537.
- KRUG, E. G., DAHLBERG, L. L., MERCY, J. A., ZWI, A. B. and LOZANO, R (2002) *World report on violence and health*. Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- LAURITSEN, J. and ARCHAKOVA, E (2008) Advancing the usefulness of research for victims of crime. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*. 24: 92.
- LAW COMMISSION (2012) Alternative pre-trial and trail processes: Possible reforms. Wellington: Law Commission.
- LAW COMMISSION (2008) *Compensating crime victims*. Issues Paper 11. Wellington: Law Commission.
- LEEB, R., LEWIS, T. and ZOLOTOR, A (2011) A review of physical and mental health consequences of child abuse and neglect and implications for practice. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*. 5: 454–468.
- LIEVORE, D (2005) *No longer silent: a study of women's help-seeking decisions and service responses to sexual assault.* Canberra: Australian Government Department of Family and Community Services and Australian Institute of Criminology.
- LIEVORE, D. and MAYHEW, P (2007) *The scale and nature of family violence in New Zealand: A review and evaluation of knowledge*. Wellington: Ministry of Social Development's Centre for Social Research and Evaluation.
- LOVETT, J., REGAN, L. and KELLY, L (2004) Sexual assault referral centres: developing good practice and maximising potentials. London: Home Office Research, Development and Statistics Directorate.
- LURIGIO, A. J (1987) Are all victims alike? The adverse, generalized, and differential impact of crime. *Crime & Delinquency.* 33: 452–467.

- MADIGAN, L. and GAMBLE, N (1991) *The second rape: Society's continued betrayal of the victim.* New York: Lexington Books.
- MANGNELL, K (2008) Victim centre will give support and prevention. *Manukau Courier,* 27 May.
- MĀORI REFERENCE GROUP FOR THE TASKFORCE FOR ACTION ON VIOLENCE WITHIN FAMILIES (2009) *E tu whānau-ora programme of action for addressing family violence 2008 – 2013*. Wellington: Ministry of Social Development.
- MARANDOS, R. and PERRY, A (2002) Assessing the effectiveness of interventions designed to support victims of crime: A systematic review of psychological outcomes. York: Campbell Collaboration Library.
- MARKESTEYN, T (1992) *The psychological impact of nonsexual criminal offenses on victims*. Ottawa: Corrections Branch, Ministry of the Solicitor General of Canada.
- MAWBY, R (2007) Public sector services and the victim of crime. In *Handbook of Victims and Victimology*. WALKLATE, S (ed). Cullomptom, Devon: Willam Publishing.
- MAYHEW, P. and REILLY, J (2008) *Victims' experiences and needs: Findings from the New Zealand Crime and safety survey 2006*. Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- MAYHEW, P. and REILLY, J (2007) *New Zealand crime and safety survey 2006: Key findings*. Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- MCBREARTY, P (2011) The lived experience of victims of crime. *International Emergency Nursing.* 19: 20–26.
- MCCART, M. R., SMITH, D. W. and SAWYER, G. K (2010) Help seeking among victims of crime: A review of the empirical literature. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 23: 198–206.
- MCDEVITT-MURPHY, M. E., NEIMEYER, R. A., BURKE, L. A., WILLIAMS, J. L. and LAWSON, K (2011) The toll of traumatic loss in African Americans bereaved by homicide. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy,* Advance online publication.doi: 10.1037/a0024911.
- MCDONALD, E. and TINSLEY, Y (2011) *From "real rape" to real justice.* Wellington, Victoria University Press.
- MCGIBBON, A (2008) Codes of ethics for victim services: An annotated bibliography. *Victims of Crime Research Digest.* 1: 16–20.
- METROPOLITAN POLICE SERVICE (2005) A review of rape investigations in the MPS: final report. London: Deputy Commissioner's Command, Directorate of Strategic Development and Territorial Policing, Project Sapphire.
- MINISTRY OF JUSTICE (2011a) Victim satisfaction with restorative justice: A summary of findings. Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- MINISTRY OF JUSTICE (2011b) National guidelines for agencies working with child witnesses. Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- MINISTRY OF JUSTICE (2011c) Government services for victims: working paper. Rights and services that victims of offences can expect from government agencies. Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- MINISTRY OF JUSTICE (2010a) The NZCASS in an international context: Comparing the New Zealand crime and safety survey with other international surveys. Wellington: New Zealand.
- MINISTRY OF JUSTICE (2010b) *Multiple victimisation in New Zealand: Findings from the 2009 New Zealand crime and safety survey.* Wellington: New Zealand.
- MINISTRY OF JUSTICE (2009) A focus on victims of crime: A review of victims' rights. Wellington: Ministry of Justice.

- MINISTRY OF JUSTICE (2001) *He hinatore ki to ao Māori: A glimpse into the Māori world: Māori perspectives on justice.* Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- MINISTRY OF JUSTICE (UK) 2012. *Getting it right for victims and witnesses*. London: Ministry of Justice.
- MINISTRY OF PUBLIC SAFETY AND SOLICITOR GENERAL (2009) *Victims of crime: Victim service worker handbook*. British Columbia, Canada: Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General, Victim Services and Crime Prevention Division.
- MINISTRY OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT (2002) *Te Rito: New Zealand family violence prevention strategy*. Wellington: Ministry of Social Development.
- MINISTRY OF WOMEN'S AFFAIRS (2010) Speak up, seek help, safe home: A review of literature on culturally appropriate interventions for intimate partner violence in ethnic communities. Wellington: Ministry of Women's Affairs.
- MINISTRY OF WOMEN'S AFFAIRS (2009) Alternative models within the criminal justice system: How adversarial and inquisitorial justice systems treat sexual violence, and possible measures which the criminal justice system in New Zealand could draw on for victims of sexual violence. Wellington: Taskforce Against Sexual Violence.
- MINNESOTA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY (2010) Best practices guidelines: Crime victim services. Minnesota: Minnesota Department of Public Safety, Office of Justice Programs.
- MORIARTY, L. J (2005) Victim participation at parole hearings: Balancing victim, offender, and public interest. *Criminology & Public Policy.* 4: 385–390.
- MORRISON, B., SMITH, M. and GREGG, L (2010) *The New Zealand crime and safety survey: 2009. Key findings report.* Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- MORRISON, Z., QUADARA, A. and BOYD, C (2007) "Ripple effects" of sexual assault. *Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault Wrap, Issues No.* 7. Melbourne: Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault.
- MOSSMAN, S. E., JORDAN, J., MACGIBBON, L., KINGI, V. and MOORE, L (2009a) Responding to sexual violence: A review of literature of good practice. Wellington: Ministry of Women's Affairs.
- MOSSMAN, S. E., MACGIBBON, L., KINGI, V. and JORDAN, J (2009b) *Responding to sexual violence: Environmental scan of New Zealand agencies*. Wellington: Ministry of Women's Affairs.
- MOUTHAAN, J., SIJBRANDIJ, M., REITSMA, J., LUITSE, J. S. K., GOSLINGS, J. and OLFF, M (2011) Trauma tips: An internet-based intervention to prevent posttraumatic stress disorder in injured trauma patients. *Journal of CyberTherapy and Rehabilitation.* 4: 331–340.
- NATIONAL COLLABORATING CENTRE FOR MENTAL HEALTH (2005) Posttraumatic stress disorder: the management of PTSD in adults and children in primary and secondary care. London: Gaskell and the British Psychological Society.
- NEW, M. and BERLINER, L (2000) Mental health service utilization by victims of crime. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 13: 693–707.
- NEW ZEALAND POLICE (2012) Police statistics on homicide victims in New Zealand for the period 2007 – 2009. Cited at http://www.police.govt.nz/sites/default/files/homicide_victims_report_2011.pdf
- O'BRIEN, K. M (2010) Introduction to special section: Advancing mental health services and research for victims of crime. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 23: 179–181.
- O'CONNELL. M (COMMISSIONER FOR VICTIMS' RIGHTS SOUTH AUSTRALIA) (2011) Victims' rights: Integrating victims in criminal proceedings. Accessed 21/3/12, from

http://www.aija.org.au/Criminal%20Justice%202011/Papers/OConnell.pdf.

- OLLE, L (2005) Mapping health sector and interagency protocols on sexual assault: *Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault, Issues No. 2.* Melbourne: Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault.
- ONTARIO VICTIM SERVICES SECRETARIAT (2007) Best practices in child victim/witness programs. Ontario: Ministry of the Attorney General, Ontario Victim Services Secretariat; Workgroup Designs Inc.
- ORTH, U (2002) Secondary victimization of crime victims by criminal proceedings. Social Justice Research. 15: 313–325.
- PARK, H. J (2006) Scoping the issues of elder abuse among Asian migrants. In *Prevention, protection and promotion. Proceedings of the Second International Asian Health and Wellbeing Conference.* TSE, S., HOQUE, E., RASANATHAN, K., CHATTERJI, M., WEE, R., GARG, S. and RATNASABAPATHY, Y (eds). University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- PARSONS, J. and BERGIN, T (2010) The impact of criminal justice involvement on victims' mental health. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 23: 182–188.
- PAYNE, S (2009) *Redefining justice: Addressing the individual needs of victims and witnesses.* London: Ministry of Justice.
- PEDERSEN, P. B (2006) Inclusive cultural empathy: revising the research to meet the needs of Asian clients. In *Prevention, protection and promotion*. *Proceedings of the Second International Asian Health and Wellbeing Conference*. TSE, S., HOQUE, E., RASANATHAN, K., CHATTERJI, M., WEE, R., GARG, S. and RATNASABAPATHY, Y (eds). University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- PLOTNIKOFF, J. and WOOLFSON, R (2004) Evaluation of young witness support: Examining the impact on witnesses and the criminal justice system. Lexicom Limited.
- REILLY, J. and MAYHEW, P (2009) Understanding victimisation risk: Findings from the New Zealand Crime and safety survey 2006 in an international context. Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- RHODES, K. V., DICHTER, M. E., KOTHARI, C. L., MARCUS, S. C. and CERULLI, C (2011) The impact of children on legal actions taken by women victims of intimate partner violence *Journal of Family Violence*. 26: 355–364
- RIZVI, S., KAYSEN, D., GUTNER, C., GRIFFIN, M. and RESICK, P (2008) Beyond fear: The role of peritraumatic responses in posttraumatic stress and depressive symptoms among female crime victims. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence.* 23: 853–868.
- ROBERTS, A (2005) Crisis intervention handbook: Assessment, treatment, and research. Michigan: Oxford University Press
- ROBERTS, J (2008) Victim impact statements: Lessons learned and future priorities. *Victims of Crime Research Digest.* 1: 3–5.
- ROBERTS, J. and MANIKIS, M (2011) *Victim personal statements: A review of empirical research*. London: Commissioner for Victims and Witnesses in England and Wales, Ministry of Justice.
- ROBINSON, A (2009) *Independent sexual violence advisors: A process evaluation*. Cardiff: University of Cardiff. Accessed 31 March 2012 from www.cardiff.ac.uk/people/robinsona.
- ROGERS, G (1999) Provision of post-sentence advice to victims of serious crime: Perceptions in British probation service. *Crime Prevention and Community Safety: An International Journal*. 1(4): 21–34.
- ROPER, T. and THOMPSON, A (2006) Estimating the costs of crime in New Zealand in 2003/04. *New Zealand Treasury Working Paper 06/04.* Wellington: Treasury.

- ROTHBAUM, B., FOA, E., RIGGS, D., MURDOCK, T. and WALSH, W (1992) A prospective examination of posttraumatic stress disorder in rape victims. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 5: 455–475.
- ROSENBAUM, D. P (1987) Coping with victimization: The effects of police intervention on victims' psychological readjustment. *Crime & Delinquency.* 33: 502–519.
- SALLOUM, A., AVERY, L. and MCCLAIN, R. P (2001) Group psychotherapy for adolescent survivors of homicide victims: A pilot study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry.* 40: 1261–1267.
- SALSTON, M. and FIGLEY, C. R (2003) Secondary traumatic stress effects of working with survivors of criminal victimization. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 16: 167.
- SANDERS, A. and JONES, I (2007) The victim in court. In *Handbook of Victims and Victimology*. WALKLATE, S (ed). Cullomptom, Devon: Willam Publishing.
- SAUVÉ, J (2010) Victim services in Canada: Results from the victim services survey 2007/2008. Victims of Crime Research Digest. 3: 26–30.
- SHAPLAND, J (2009) Fiefs and peasants: Accomplishing change for victims in the criminal justice system. In *Victims and Victimology: A reader*. WILLIAMS, B. and GOODMAN, H (eds). Maidenhead, UK: Open University Press.
- SHEPHERD, J. and LISLES, C (1998) Towards multi-agency violence prevention and victim support: An investigation of police–accident and emergency service liaison. *British Journal of Criminology.* 38: 351–370.
- SIMS, B., YOST, B. and ABBOT, C (2005) Use and nonuse of victim services programs: implications from a statewide survey of crime victims. *Criminology* & *Public Policy.* 4: 361–384.
- SIMS, B., YOST, B. and ABBOT, C (2006) The efficacy of victim services programs: alleviating the psychological suffering of crime victims? *Criminal Justice Policy Review.* 17: 387–406.
- SMITH, A (2011) Victim impact statements: Redefining "victim". *Criminal Law Quarterly.* 57: 346.
- STATE SERVICES COMMISSION (2010) *Kiwis count 2009: New Zealanders' satisfaction with public services*. Wellington: State Services Commission.
- STATISTICS NEW ZEALAND (2009) *Review of crime and criminal justice statistics report 2009*. Wellington: Statistics New Zealand.
- STATISTICS NEW ZEALAND (n.d.) Recorded crime statistics [Data file, apprehension statistics and offence statistics, by resolution]. Accessed March 1, 2011, retrieved from Table Builder
 - http://www.stats.govt.nz/tools_and_services/tools/tablebuilder.aspx.
- STEEL, N., BLAKEBOROUGH, L. and NICHOLAS, S (2011) Supporting high-risk victims of domestic violence: a review of multi-agency risk assessment conferences (MARC). *Research Report 55.* London: Home Office.
- STERN, B. V (2010) *The Stern review: Independent review into how rape complainants are handled by public authorities in England and Wales.* London: Government Equalities Office and Home Office.
- STOHR, M. K (2005) Victim services programming: If it is efficacious, they will come. *Criminology & Public Policy.* 4: 391–398.
- STRANG, H (2003) *Repair or revenge: Victims and restorative justice.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- SULLIVAN, C (2011) Evaluating domestic violence support service programs: Waste of time, necessary evil, or opportunity for growth? *Aggression and Violent Behavior.* 16: 354–360.
- SUTTON COMMUNITY SAFEY PARTNERSHIP (2007) Transforming the delivery of services for offenders and victims of crime through partnership working. Available: http://www.idea.gov.uk/idk/aio/6609254 [Accessed 13/1/2012].

- TAMARIT, J., VILLACAMPA, C. and FILELLA, G (2010) Secondary victimization and victim assistance. *European Journal of Crime, Criminal Law & Criminal Justice*. 18: 281–298.
- TASKFORCE FOR ACTION ON SEXUAL VIOLENCE (2009) *Te Toiora mata tauherenga: Report of the taskforce for action on sexual violence*. Wellington: Ministry of Justice.
- TASKFORCE FOR ACTION ON VIOLENCE WITHIN FAMILIES (2006) *First Report*. Wellington, Ministry of Social Development.
- TAVKAR, P. and HANSEN, D. J (2011) Interventions for families victimized by child sexual abuse: Clinical issues and approaches for child advocacy centerbased services. *Aggression and Violent Behavior.* 16: 188–199.
- TE OHAAKII A HINE: NATIONAL NETWORK ENDING SEXUAL VIOLENCE TOGETHER – TAUIWI CAUCUS (2009). Tauiwi response to sexual violence: Mainstream crisis support and recovery and support services and Pacific services. Unpublished. Wellington: Ministry of Social Development.
- TIATIA, J (2008) *Pacific cultural competencies: A literature review*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- TRIGGS, S., MOSSMAN, S. E., JORDAN, J. and KINGI, V (2009) *Responding to sexual violence: Attrition in the New Zealand criminal justice system.* Wellington: Ministry of Women's Affairs.
- TRULSON, C. R (2005) Victims' rights and services: Eligibility, exclusion and victim worth. *Criminology & Public Policy.* 4: 399–414.
- TSE, S (2007) Family violence in Asian communities: Combining research and community development. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand.* 31: 170–194.
- TSE, S. and HOQUE, M (2006) Healthy immigrant effect: Triumphs, transience and threats. In *Prevention, protection and promotion. Proceedings of the Second International Asian Health and Wellbeing Conference.* TSE, S., HOQUE, E., RASANATHAN, K., CHATTERJI, M., WEE, R., GARG, S. and RATNASABAPATHY, Y (eds). University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- UNITED NATIONS (2005) Guidelines on justice in matters involving child victims and witnesses of crime. New York: (ECOSOC Resolution 2005/20 22 July 2005).
- UNITED NATIONS (1999) Handbook on justice for victims: On the use and application of the United Nations Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power. New York: United Nations Office for Drug Control and Crime Prevention (UNODCCP).
- US DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE (2011) Attorney General guidelines for vicitm and witness assistance. Washington: US Department of Justice with the Attorney General.
- VAN DIJK, J. and GROENHUIJSEN, M. S (2007) Benchmarking victim policies in the framework of European Union Law. In *Handbook of Victims and Victimology*. WALKLATE, S (ed). Cullomptom, Devon: Willam Publishing.
- VAN DIJK, J., VAN KESTEREN, J. and SMIT, P (2008) *Criminal victimisation in international perspective, key findings from the 2004–2005 ICVS and EU ICS.* The Hague: Boom Legal Publishers.
- VAN MIERLO, F., PEMBERTON, A. and VAN TOL, R (2009) Van tevredenheid naar kwaliteit: Een meetinstrument voor de slachtofferzorg (Dutch research on victims satisfaction). Tilburg: Dutch Ministry of Justice.
- VAUGHN, M., FU, Q., DELISI, M., BEAVER, K., PERRON, B. E. and HOWARD, M. O (2010) Criminal victimization and comorbid substance use and psychiatric disorders in the United States: Results from the NESARC. *Annals of Epidemiology.* 20: 281–288.

VERDUN-JONES, S. and ROSSITER, K (2010) The psychological impact of victimisation. In *International Handbook of Victimology*. SHOHAM, S., KNEPPER, P. and KETT, M (eds). Florida: CRC Press, Taylor & Francis.

- VICTIM SUPPORT AGENCY (2009) A victim's voice: Victim impact statements in Victoria. Melbourne: Victim Support Agency, Victorian Department of Justice.
- VICTIM SUPPORT NZ (2007) Commitment to parallel justice. Wellington: New Zealand Council of Victim Support Groups Inc.
- VICTIM SUPPORT UK (2011) Left in the dark: Why victims of crime need to be kept informed. London: Victim Support UK.
- VICTIM SUPPORT UK (2006) In the aftermath: Support needs of people bereaved by homicide: a research report. London: Victim Support UK.
- VICTIMS OF CRIME BUREAU (2008) Standards for providing counselling & support services for victims of crime. Paramatta, NSW: Victims of Crime Bureau, Victims Services, Attorney General's Department of NSW, Sydney.
- VICTIMS OF CRIME COORDINATOR VICTIM SUPPORT ACT (2008) "Thanks for giving us a voice": The experience and views of victims of crime with their rights in the ACT Justice system. Canberra: Victims of Crime Coordinator Victim Support ACT.
- VICTORIA AUDITOR-GENERAL'S REPORT (2011) *Effectiveness of victims of crime programs*. Melbourne: Victoria Auditor-General.
- WALKLATE, S (2007) Introduction to part three victims, policy and service delivery. In Handbook of Victims and Victimology. WALKLATE, S (ed). Boston, US: Pearson.
- WALLACE, H (2007) *Victimology: Legal, psychological and social perspectives.* Boston, US, Pearson.
- WALLER, I (2003) *Crime victims: Doing justice to their support and protection.* Helsinki, Finland: European Institute for Crime Prevention and Control, affiliated with the United Nations (HEUNI).
- WANG, S. K. and ROWLEY. E (2007) *Rape: How women, the community and the health sector respond*. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- WATERS, T (2011) A model for victim support services in rural settings. *Effectius Newsletter.* X: 1–9.
- WHAITI, P. and ROGUSKI, M (1998) *Māori perceptions of police*. Wellington: Te Puni Kokori and New Zealand Police.
- WILLIAMS, B (2009) The development of the discipline. In Victims and victimisation: A reader. WILLIAMS, B. and GOODMAN, H (eds). Maidenhead, UK: Open University Press.
- WILLIAMS, B. and GOODMAN, H (2007) The role of the voluntary sector. In Handbook of Victims and Victimology. WALKLATE, S (ed). Cullomptom, Devon: Willam Publishing.
- WILSON, D. and SEGRAVE, M (2011) Police-based victim services: Australian and international models. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management.* 34: 479–496.
- WILSON, P., LINCOLN, R. and MUSTCHIN, M (2001) Strategies to integrate and coordinate victims of crime services. *ePublications@bond* [Online]. Available: http://epublications.bond.edu.au/hss_pubs/47 [Accessed 12 January 2012].
- WINKEL, F (1991) Police responses aimed at alleviating victims' psychological distress and at raising prevention-awareness: Some grounded intervention programmes. *Annual Conference of Law and Society Association.* Amsterdam.
- WINKEL, F (1989) Responses to criminal victimisation: Evaluating the impact of a police assistance programme and some psychological characteristics. *Police Studies.* 12: 59–72.

- WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION (2011) Violence against women: Intimate partner and sexual violence against women. Fact sheet N°239. Available: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs239/en/ [Accessed 21 May 2012]
- WURTZBURG, S (2003) The Pacific Islands community in New Zealand : Domestic violence and access to justice. *Criminal Justice Policy Review.* 14: 423–446.
- XIE, M., POGARSKY, G., LYNCH, J. and MCDOWALL, D (2006) Prior police contact and subsequent victim reporting: Results from the NCVS. *Justice Quarterly*. 23: 481–501.
- YOUNG, A (2001) The role of the victim in the criminal justice process: A literature review 1989 to 1999. *Victims' of Crime Research Series.* Canada: Research and Statistics Division.

Appendices

Appendix A: Examples of approaches to victims' rights in different jurisdictions

Below are brief outlines of the status and approach to victims' rights across a number of jurisdictions (Sources include: Booth and Carrington, 2007; Canadian Resource Centre for Victims of Crime, 2006; McGibbon, 2008; Ministry of Justice (UK), 2012; O'Connell, 2011; Shapland, 2009; Young, 2001).

Australia

In Australia all six states and two territories have introduced some form of victims' rights instrument. All have a similar content, are based on the UN Declaration, and none are legally binding. The following six jurisdictions have introduced Victims' Rights Acts:

- Victoria: Victims Charter Act 2006
- Western Australia: Victims of Crime Act 1994
- South Australia: Victims of Crime Act 2001
- Queensland: Victims of Crime Assistance Act 2009
- New South Wales: Victims' Rights Act 1996 and the Charter of Victims' Rights 2003
- ACT: Victims of Crime Act 1994.

The remaining two have charters that list how victims should be treated, but these conditions are not prescribed as statutory provisions.

- Northern Territory: Victims of Crime Assistance Bill 2006 and Northern Territory Charter for Victims of Crime 2002
- Tasmania: Charter of Rights for Victims of Crime 2011.

All states and territories have provision for victim impact statements in criminal proceedings and financial assistance or compensation schemes for crime victims. Each jurisdiction also has service networks, some of which are located within the government sector and some within the non-government sector. No single victim group or agency has exclusive government patronage, unlike the US National Organisation for Victims Assistance (NOVA) or Victim Support in the UK or New Zealand. Western Australia and Victoria have adopted a predominantly government-administered victim services model, whereas the other regions use a mixed model. Western Australia's Act includes special recognition of the unique needs of victims in regional and remote areas.

South Australia has been described as having the most developed victim support services in Australia (Booth and Carrington, 2007). Services are largely state funded, thus placing less burden on the voluntary sector. South Australia also has a Victims' Rights Commissioner and a centralised agency to coordinate services, provide policy advice and conduct research (Victim Support Agency). Victoria recently reviewed the implementation of their Charter, but the findings were unable to be located.

Britain

The 1990 Victims Charter set out a code of good practice, listing how victims should be treated by the state and community organisations. This was updated and extended in 1996. The third revision was the current 2005 Code of Practice for Victims of Crime. This was a detailed code outlining 99 minimum standards and introduced a complaints system. The Code focused almost exclusively on the role and responsibilities of 11 public sector agencies, specifying required actions often including the mode of interaction (eg, face-to-face meeting) and the timeframes the action must be completed by (eg, advise victims within five days if it is deemed that an investigation will not proceed). It is process orientated and does not prescribe how agencies should treat victims. The code includes extra provisions for vulnerable and intimidated witnesses. This Code is currently being revised to address shortfalls and align with a new European Union directive to which the government is a signatory. Britain also has a Witness Charter that sets out standards that witnesses should expect from the criminal justice system. A recent development is the establishment of a Victims' Rights Commissioner in 2010, to ensure victims have a voice in government. The Victim Support UK organisation is the only national provider of victims' services and it receives significant annual government funding.

United States

All 50 states have passed legislation supporting the rights of victims of crime and over half have legislation that protects victims' rights. At the federal level the *Victim and Witness Protection Act* was passed in 1982, followed shortly after by the *Victims of Crime Act* that was passed in 1984. This latter legislation provided for the establishment of the influential Federal Office for the Victims' *Rights Act* (part of the *'Justice for All Act'*) was passed which for the first time provided standing for individuals to assert those rights in court (in federal criminal cases). Also influential in the US has been the National Organisation for Victims Assistance (NOVA). This voluntary organisation (similar to Victim Support in the UK and New Zealand) is funded by government to provide a range of services and supports for victims. NOVA is recognised as being successful in lobbying for victims' rights and in successfully influencing relevant national and state policies.

Training and certification of those working with victims appears more prevalent in the US. The US *Attorney General Guidelines for Victims and Witnesses Assistance 2011* outline mandatory training for all new federal employees having contact with victims of crime. The *Justice for All Act 2004* adds an element of enforcement, whereby US Attorney General officers are required to complete and submit annual compliance reports. Employees can be disciplined for failing to comply with these provisions. As noted earlier this Act also gives legal redress for victims in federal criminal cases if their rights are breached. At the state level, the OVC oversees mandatory training and certification of individuals employed by state-administered or state-financed victim assistance programmes.

Canada

Most of the victims' rights provisions have occurred at the provincial or territorial level by one of the 13 governments, with the majority enacting legislation governing victims' rights (ie, Victims' Bill of Rights). In the mid and late 1980s, Manitoba, New Brunswick, Newfoundland, the Northwest Territories, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Quebec and Saskatchewan passed provincial Bills of Rights for victims. In the mid and late 1990s, British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario followed suit.

Most of this legislation reflects the UN Declaration and as in other jurisdictions provisions are not legally enforceable; although, in 2000, Manitoba passed one of the most comprehensive pieces of victims' rights legislation in the country. This created a complaints mechanism for victims to turn to if rights are violated.

Prompted by the 1985 UN Declaration, in 1988 the federal, provincial and territorial governments adopted the *Statement of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime*. This required all Canadian Ministers of Justice to adopt a uniform policy statement of victims' rights that would be used to guide their legislative and administrative initiatives in the criminal justice area. This statement was updated in 2003. Other federal level victims' rights action has been through a series of amendments to the Criminal Code to enable restitution, a victims' surcharge, victim impact statements, and greater responsiveness to victims of violence.

The federal government has been proactive in establishing resource centres, the first being set up in Ottawa in 1982, the most recent one being called the Policy Centre for Victims Issues at the Department of Justice (Victim Service Directory, Victims of Crime Research Digest). A National Office for Victims of Crime was also set up in 2005 to provide information to victims and provide input on policy and legislative initiatives, education about victims' issues for members of the criminal justice system, and networking and support to the Correctional Service of Canada and the Parole Board of Canada.

South Africa

South Africa's Victim Empowerment Programme is regarded by some as an example of good practice in responding to victims' rights (Waller, 2003). The programme was first launched in 1996 as part of a nationwide crime prevention strategy. It is organised through an interministerial committee, chaired by the Social Development Department. The programme articulates victims' rights through the *2004 Service Charter for Victims of Crime in South Africa* that outlines seven core rights, based on the UN Declaration. An associated document, the *Minimum Standards on Services for Victims of Crime*, sets out processes and responsibilities of government agencies, minimum standards on services, and a complaints mechanism. Each government agency is required to implement the Victim Empowerment Programme (which the charter and minimum standard are part of) and develop their own policies and guidelines to ensure effective implementation and devise outcome measures to monitor and report on their progress.

Appendix B: Examples of dedicated victim centres

Office for Victims of Crime (OVC) - US

The OVC is part of the US Department of Justice. It was established in 1994 and is widely regarded as good practice (Booth and Carrington, 2007; Waller, 2003; Wilson et al, 2001). This federal-level centre has a strong focus on the provision of training, as well as the following (see <u>http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/ovc/</u>):

- funding to state victim assistance and compensation programmes (funding comes from fines and penalties paid by federal offenders)
- help for victims online directories of services and a range of resources, including those applicable to international victims
- support for service providers including resources, training and technical assistance. They have developed a number of online resources including training packages and tools for support workers
- public awareness campaigns including the National Crime Victims Rights Week
- a range of victim-related research and resources.

Also in the US, the **National Centre for Victims of Crime** (<u>http://www.ncvc.org/</u>), is a non-profit organisation that has been in existence for over 25 years. It has a very comprehensive selection of resources for victims and service providers. The Centre is particularly active in advocating for victims' rights.

Policy Centre for Victims Issues - Canada

This centre is part of the Department of Justice of Canada and provides a range of services. It has a particular focus on allocating funding including dedicated funding for particular services such as to indigenous victims of crime. It appears to have good research and statistical resources and produces a selection of useful policy focused research through its online publication 'Victims of Crime Research Digest' (see http://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/pi/pcvi-cpcv)

Also in Canada is the **National Office for Victims** located within the Department of Public Safety (<u>http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/prg/cor/nov/nov-bnv-eng.aspx</u>). It specialises in providing information to victims and service providers about federal corrections issues. It responds to information requests, for example if victims have questions or concerns in relation to specific offenders.

There are also a number of centres operating at the provincial or territorial government levels. The British Columbia **Victims and Witnesses of Crime and Violence Centre** within the Ministry of Justice has been cited as a good model (eg, Wilson, et al, 2001). The unit has published a comprehensive handbook for victim support workers. It is responsive to diverse needs, with victims' rights published in a number of languages and resources divided by crime type. (http://www.pssg.gov.bc.ca/victimservices/index.htm)

Victims of Crime Bureau - NSW, Australia

The Victims of Crime Bureau was one of the first centres in Australia established as part of the Department of Attorney General through the *Victims' Rights Act 1996*. It has recently been rebranded as the **Victims Services Centre**. Among a number of victim services, the Centre monitors the Charter of Victims' Rights, administers an approved counsellors' scheme and their accreditation, and provides important links between key stakeholders and victim services. It operates a helpline with a dedicated service for aboriginal victims. A distinguishing feature is their Victims Advisory Board made up of members of the community and relevant government agencies, which provides advice to the Attorney General. They have also recently set up a clearing house to collect and disseminate victims of crime-related research.

Victim Support Agency (VSA) - Victoria, Australia

The VSA operates out of the Victorian Department of Justice. The VSA takes a greater role than most centres in the funding and administration of state wide victim services. It manages a helpline and victims register, and has oversight of the Victims Assistance and Counselling Programme delivered by community agencies across the state. It is also responsible for the implementation of the Victims' Charter, conducting research, developing policy relating to victims of crime, engaging stakeholders and conducting community education.

(http://www.justice.vic.gov.au/home/about+us/our+organisation/business+area+profi les/justice+-+victims+support+agency)

Appendix C: Summary of victims' services provided by government agencies³⁶

- New Zealand Police services include the provision of information and/or direct referrals to victim service providers; provision of information to victims about the progress and outcome of their case; where applicable referrals to Court Services for Victims (CSV); assisting with the making of a victim impact statement (VIS) and registering details on the victim notification register (VNR). Additional specific responses are provided to victims of offending by children or young people, victims of family violence, for families and whānau bereaved by homicide (provision of a Family Liaison Officer), adult victims of sexual assault, and child victims.
- Police Prosecution Service (PPS) an autonomous service within New Zealand Police, PPS is the main prosecuting body within the jurisdiction of District Court and Youth Court. Services from PPS commence only after an arrest is made and charges laid, and include the provision to victims of information on the progress and outcome of their case. Where applicable victims are also advised of their role and rights as a witness, the meaning of any sentence given and notification of any appeals. PPS also apply on behalf of a victim for special measures to give evidence in alternative ways; facilitate victims reading of their VIS if requested; for victims of serious offences obtain their views on bail and, for those registered on the VNR, informing victims if an offender is released and relevant bail conditions; where applicable special measures are taken for victims of sexual assault; victims views are gained where an offender applies for name suppression; explain, promote and facilitate access to restorative justice processes where appropriate.
- Crown Law Office and Crown Solicitors are solicitors in private practice appointed by the Governor General and independent of the Police, who prosecute serious (indictable) offences on behalf of the Crown. Crown Prosecutors are responsible for providing similar services to victims as the PPS, but delivery of services can either be made directly by the Crown Prosecutor, or in many instances indirectly, by ensuring that they are carried out by the police officer in charge.
- Ministry of Justice in addition to the overall administration and management of criminal cases brought to New Zealand courts, victim-related services include the collection of offender levies to supplement funding for financial assistance and services to victims of serious offences; provide Court Services for Victims (CSV); where applicable and requested, Restorative Justice Services; administration and issuing of protection orders for victims of family violence; provision of information to victims related to coronial services; collection of reparation on behalf of victims; financial assistance through the criminal justice assistance reimbursement scheme and facilitation of claims made by victims

96

Ministry of Justice, 2011c. This was a working paper to assist with reforms outlined in the Victims of Crime Reform Bill. The report will be out of date once the Victims of Crime Reform Bill is passed and commences.

against compensation awarded to a prisoner or offender; also enabling participation in decision making related to the deportation of an offender.

- **Ministry of Social Development (Child, Youth and Family):** work with police and the Youth Court to deal with young offenders through family group conferences (FGCs), and provide services facilitating participation in FGCs by victims of offending by young offenders.
- Department of Corrections manages the victim notification register (VNR), which keeps registered victims of a serious offence informed if an offender is released from prison, escapes or dies while in prison or is released to work or has a temporary release; supplies specific information related to parole hearings if requested by registered victims; and other information on events related to a paroled offender, an offender sentenced to home detention, is being considered or is subject to an extended supervision order, or is transferred to a hospital or mental health facility; facilitates victim participation in a restorative justice conference.
- The Parole Board's services include notifying victims registered on the VNR of upcoming parole board hearings; facilitating access to information from the Department of Corrections to assist victims making submissions (written or oral); facilitating victims' oral submissions to the board; and notifying all registered victims of the outcome of the hearing; non-registered victims can also apply to make written submissions, or apply to make an oral submission, to the board (these victims will be notified of the decision).
- **Department of Labour's** services include notification of victims registered on the VNR if an offender is being considered by the Minister of Immigration for deportation and enabling the victim's views on the deportation to be considered together with the notification of the outcome; provision of information on progress of an investigation and the outcome to victims involved with workplace incidents under the *Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992*; if there has been a workplace death, immediate relatives will be advised of referral to the coroner and provided with information and support during the process.
- **Ministry of Health** provides general services to victims of offences as health services clients; and notifies victims registered on the VNR if an offender is detained in a hospital or care facility and any changes to this status.
- Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC) provides entitlements to all individuals who have suffered personal injury including injuries to victims resulting from criminal acts. Entitlements include medical treatment, transport to treatment, pharmaceutical reimbursement, home help; special financial assistance is available to families of homicide victims; victims of sexual assault can receive 24-hour assessment and treatment services provided by a specially trained 'Doctor for Sexual Abuse Care' together with follow-up care, they can also claim for up to 16 hours of early recovery support, and further ACC support services for the treatment of 'mental injury' caused by the sexual assault.